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PART I
Item 1. Business
Description of Business
Methode Electronics, Inc. was incorporated in 1946 as an Illinois corporation and reincorporated in Delaware in 1966. As used herein, “we,” “us,”
“our,” the “Company” or “Methode” means Methode Electronics, Inc. and its subsidiaries.
We are a global developer of custom engineered and application specific products and solutions with manufacturing,
design and testing facilities in Belgium, Canada, China, Egypt, Germany, India, Italy, Lebanon, Malta, Mexico, the
Netherlands, Singapore, Switzerland, the United Kingdom and the United States. Our primary manufacturing facilities are
located in Dongguan and Shanghai, China; Cairo, Egypt; Mriehel, Malta; and Fresnillo and Monterrey, Mexico. We design,
manufacture and market devices employing electrical, radio remote control, electronic, light-emitting diode ("LED") based lighting, wireless and sensing
technologies. Our components are found in the primary end-markets of the aerospace, appliance, automotive, commercial vehicle, construction, consumer and
industrial equipment, communications (including information processing and storage, networking equipment and wireless and terrestrial voice/data systems),
medical, rail and other transportation industries.
Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic
The COVID-19 global pandemic has negatively affected the global economy, disrupted global supply chains, and created extreme volatility and
disruptions to capital and credit markets in the global financial markets. We began to see the impacts of COVID-19 at the beginning of our fourth quarter of fiscal
2020 at our China manufacturing facilities, which were initially closed for a few weeks after the Chinese New Year. Our manufacturing facilities in China resumed
operations later in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2020, but at lower capacity utilization. However, the major impact to our business from the COVID-19 pandemic
began in mid-March 2020, as our operations in North America and Europe were adversely impacted by many of our customers suspending their manufacturing
operations due to the COVID-19 pandemic. As a result, net sales and production levels at our major North American and European manufacturing facilities were
significantly reduced to well below capacity, thus impacting our results of operations during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2020.
In response to the COVID-19 pandemic and business disruption, we implemented certain measures to manage costs, preserve liquidity and enhance
employee safety. These measures included the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Reduction of payroll costs through a combination of temporary salary reductions, four-day work weeks and furloughs;
Elimination of most business travel and restriction of visitors to our facilities;
Enhanced cleaning and disinfection procedures at our facilities, temperature checks for our workers before they enter our manufacturing facilities,
promotion of social distancing at our facilities and requirements for employees to work from home where possible;
Reduction of capital expenditures;
Deferral of discretionary spending; and
The draw-down of $100.0 million available under our revolving credit facility in order to increase our cash position and preserve financial flexibility in
light of the current uncertainty in the global markets resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic.

The extent of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business, financial results and liquidity will depend largely on future developments,
including the duration of the spread of the COVID-19 outbreak within the U.S. and globally, the impact on capital and financial markets and the related impact on
our customers, especially in the automotive and commercial vehicle markets. These future developments are outside of our control, are highly uncertain and cannot
be predicted. If the impact is prolonged, then it can further increase the difficulty of planning for operations and may require us to take further actions as it relates to
costs and liquidity. These and other potential impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic will adversely impact our results for the first quarter of fiscal 2021, as well as the
full fiscal year, and that impact could be material.
4
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Fiscal Year
We maintain our financial records on the basis of a 52 or 53-week fiscal year ending on the Saturday closest to April 30. Fiscal 2020 ended on May 2,
2020 and represented 53 weeks of results. Fiscal 2019 ended on April 27, 2019 and fiscal 2018 ended on April 28, 2018 and both represented 52 weeks of results.
Segments
Our business is managed, and our financial results are reported, based on the following four segments: Automotive, Industrial, Interface and Medical.
See Note 15, "Segment Information and Geographic Area Information," to our consolidated financial statements in this Annual Report for further information.
The Automotive segment supplies electronic and electro-mechanical devices and related products to automobile original equipment manufacturers
("OEMs"), either directly or through their tiered suppliers. Our products include integrated center consoles, hidden switches, ergonomic switches, transmission
lead-frames, LED-based lighting and sensors, which incorporate magneto-elastic sensing and other technologies that monitor the operation or status of a component
or system.
The Industrial segment manufactures external lighting solutions, industrial safety radio remote controls, braided flexible cables, current-carrying
laminated busbars and devices, custom power-product assemblies, such as our PowerRail® solution, high-current low-voltage flexible power cabling systems and
powder-coated busbars that are used in various markets and applications, including aerospace, commercial vehicles, computers, industrial, power conversion,
military, telecommunications and transportation.
The Interface segment provides a variety of copper and fiber-optic interface and interface solutions for the appliance, commercial food service,
construction, consumer, material handling, point-of-sale and telecommunications markets. Solutions include copper transceivers and solid-state field-effect
consumer touch panels.
The Medical segment is made up of our medical device business, Dabir Surfaces, Inc. (“Dabir Surfaces”), our surface support technology aimed at
pressure injury prevention. Dabir Surfaces has developed the technology for use by patients who are immobilized or otherwise at risk for pressure injuries,
including patients undergoing long-duration surgical procedures.
Sales and Marketing
The majority of our sales activities are directed by sales managers who are supported by field application engineers and other technical personnel who
work with customers to design our products into their systems. Our field application engineers also help us identify emerging markets and new products. Our
products are primarily sold through our in-house sales staff. We also utilize independent manufacturers’ representatives with offices throughout the world.
Information about our sales and operations in different geographic regions is summarized in Note 15, "Segment Information and Geographic Area Information," to
our consolidated financial statements in this Annual Report. Sales are made primarily to OEMs, either directly or through their tiered suppliers, as well as to selling
partners and distributors.
The following table reflects the percentage of net sales by segment for the last three fiscal years.
Fiscal Year Ended
April 27,
2019

May 2,
2020

Automotive
Industrial
Interface
Medical

69.5%
24.6%
5.7%
0.2%

5

73.4%
20.7%
5.8%
0.1%

April 28,
2018

80.3%
11.6%
8.1%
—%
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Sources and Availability of Materials
The principal materials that we purchase include application-specific integrated circuits, coil and bar stock, ferrous and copper alloy sheets, glass, LED
displays, plastic molding resins, precious metals, and silicon die castings. All of these items are available from several suppliers and we generally rely on more than
one supplier for each item.
Intellectual Property
We have been granted a number of patents in the U.S., Europe and Asia and have additional domestic and international patent applications pending
related to our products and manufacturing processes. Our existing patents expire on various dates from 2021 to 2040. We seek patents in order to protect our
interest in certain products and technologies, including our TouchSensor field-effect touch technology, magneto-elastic torque sensing, medical devices and highpower distribution products. We do not believe any single patent is material to our business, nor would the expiration or invalidity of any patent have a material
adverse effect on our business or our ability to compete.
Seasonality
A significant portion of our business is dependent upon automotive and commercial vehicle industries. Consequently, our Automotive and Industrial
segments may experience seasonal fluctuations based on the sales and the production schedules of our customers. The automotive and commercial vehicle markets
are cyclical and depend on general economic conditions, interest rates, fuel prices and consumer spending patterns.
Major Customers
During fiscal 2020, shipments to General Motors Corporation (“GM”) and Ford Motor Company (“Ford”), or their tiered suppliers, represented 26.8%
and 10.7%, respectively, of consolidated net sales. In general, these sales were for component parts used in particular vehicle models of the OEMs. Typically, our
GM and Ford supply arrangements for each component part include a blanket purchase order and production releases. In general, a blanket purchase order is issued
for each GM or Ford part as identified by the customer part number. Each such GM or Ford blanket purchase order accounted for less than 10.0% of our fiscal 2020
consolidated net sales. Each blanket purchase order includes standard terms and conditions, including price. In certain circumstances, we supply GM or Ford the
requirements for a particular customer vehicle model for the life of the model, which can vary from three to seven years. Both GM and Ford order parts using
production releases approved under the relevant blanket purchase order. The production releases are submitted by the various GM or Ford plants and include
information regarding part quantities and delivery specifications.
Backlog
We manufacture products based on a combination of specific order requirements and forecasts of our customers’ demand. For many of our OEM
customers, especially in the automotive and commercial vehicle markets, we have long-term supply agreements where there is an expectation that we will supply
products in future periods, however these agreements do not necessarily constitute firm orders and these OEM customers are not required to purchase any
minimum amount of products from us. Firm orders are generally limited to authorized customer purchase orders which are typically based on customer release
schedules. We fulfill these purchase orders as promptly as possible. The dollar amount of such purchase order releases on hand and not processed at any point in
time is not believed to be significant based upon the time frame involved. Accordingly, backlog at any given time might not be a meaningful indicator of future
revenue.
Competition
The markets in which we operate are highly competitive and characterized by rapid changes due to technological improvements and developments. We
compete with a large number of other manufacturers in each of our product areas and many of these competitors have greater resources and sales. Price, service and
product performance are significant elements of competition in the sale of our products.
Research and Development
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We maintain a research and development program involving a number of professional employees who devote a majority of their time to the
enhancement of existing products and to the development of new products and processes. Research and development costs primarily relate to product engineering
and design and development expenses and are classified as a component of costs of products sold on our consolidated statements of income. Expenditures for such
activities amounted to $34.9 million for fiscal 2020, $41.2 million for fiscal 2019 and $37.9 million for fiscal 2018.
Environmental Matters
Compliance with foreign, federal, state and local provisions regulating the discharge of materials into the environment has not materially affected our
capital expenditures, earnings or our competitive position. Currently, we do not have any material environmental-related lawsuits or material administrative
proceedings pending against us. Further information as to environmental matters affecting us is presented in Note 12, "Commitments and Contingencies," to our
consolidated financial statements in this Annual Report.
Employees
At May 2, 2020 and April 27, 2019, we had 6,044 and 6,187 employees, respectively. We also, from time to time, employ part-time employees and hire
independent contractors. Approximately 37% of our workforce are represented by collective bargaining agreements. These employees are primarily located at our
Malta and Mexico facilities. We have never experienced a work stoppage and we believe that our employee relations are good.
Available Information
Through our internet website at www.methode.com, we make available, free of charge, copies of our Annual Report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on
Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, amendments to those reports, and other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), as soon as
reasonably practicable after they are filed or furnished to the SEC. Our filings are also available on the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov. Also posted on our website
are our Corporate Governance Guidelines, Code of Business Conduct, Anti-Corruption Policy, Insider Trading Policy and the charters of the Audit Committee,
Compensation Committee, Medical Products Committee, Nominating and Governance Committee and Technology Committee. Copies of these documents are also
available free of charge by sending a request to Methode Electronics, Inc., 8750 West Bryn Mawr Avenue, Suite 1000, Chicago, Illinois 60631, Attention: Investor
Relations Department.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors
Certain statements in this report are forward-looking statements that are subject to certain risks and uncertainties. We undertake no duty to update any
such forward-looking statements to conform to actual results or changes in our expectations. Our business is dependent upon two large automotive customers and
specific makes and models of automobiles. Our results will be subject to many of the same risks that apply to the automotive, appliance, commercial vehicle,
computer and communications industries, such as general economic conditions, interest rate fluctuations, consumer spending patterns and technological
changes. Other factors which may result in materially different results for future periods include the following risk factors. Additional risks and uncertainties not
presently known or that our management currently believe to be insignificant may also adversely affect our financial condition or results of operations. These risk
factors should be considered in connection with evaluating the forward-looking statements contained in this report because these factors could cause our actual
results and condition to differ materially from those projected in forward-looking statements. The forward-looking statements in this report are subject to the safe
harbor protection provided under the securities laws and are made as of the date of this report.
The effects of a pandemic or widespread outbreak of an illness, such as the COVID-19 pandemic, has had and could continue to have a material adverse
impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition.
The recent outbreak of COVID-19, which has been declared by the World Health Organization to be a pandemic, has spread across the globe and is
impacting worldwide economic activity. A pandemic, including COVID-19, or other public widespread outbreak of an illness, poses the risk that we, our
employees, our suppliers, our customers and others may be restricted or prevented from conducting business activities for indefinite or intermittent periods of time,
including as a result of employee health and safety concerns, shutdowns, shelter in place orders, travel restrictions and other actions and restrictions that may be
requested or mandated by governmental authorities.
While we have implemented measures to mitigate the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, we expect our fiscal 2021 results of operations to be
adversely affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. The extent of the impact on our business will depend on a number of evolving factors, including the duration and
spread of the pandemic, as well as the possibility of the pandemic re-occurring, actions taken by governmental authorities to restrict certain business operations and
social activity and impose travel restrictions, the impact of the pandemic on economic activity and whether recessionary conditions will persist, consumer demand,
the ability of our supply chain to deliver in a timely and cost-effective manner, the ability of our employees and manufacturing facilities to operate efficiently and
effectively, the continued viability and financial stability of our customers and suppliers and future access to capital, all of which remain uncertain. As a result, the
magnitude and duration of the impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition cannot be determined at this time.
We derive a substantial portion of our revenues from customers in the automotive, commercial vehicle, appliance, computer and communications
industries and are susceptible to trends and factors affecting those industries, including the COVID-19 pandemic.
Our components are found in the primary end-markets of the automotive, commercial vehicle, communications (including information processing and
storage, networking equipment, wireless and terrestrial voice/data systems), aerospace, rail and other transportation industries, appliances, consumer and industrial
equipment markets, and medical device markets. Factors negatively affecting these industries also negatively affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations. Any adverse occurrence, including industry slowdown, recession, rising interest rates, political instability, costly or constraining regulations, armed
hostilities, terrorism, excessive inflation, prolonged disruptions in one or more of our customers’ production schedules or labor disturbances, that results in
significant decline in the volume of sales in these industries, or in an overall downturn in the business and operations of our customers in these industries, could
materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Our Automotive segment has been adversely impacted by disruptions caused to the global automotive industry by the COVID-19 pandemic. Global
vehicle production has decreased, and some vehicle manufacturers have completely shut down manufacturing operations in some countries and regions, including
the United States and Europe. As a result, we have
8
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experienced, and are likely to continue to experience, delays in the production and distribution of our products and the loss of sales. If the global economic effects
caused by the COVID-19 pandemic continue or increase, overall customer demand may continue to decrease which could have a further adverse effect on our
business, results of operations and financial condition.
Our business is dependent on sales to GM and Ford. If we were to lose either of these customers or experienced a significant decline in the volume or price
of products purchased by these customers, or if either of the customers declared bankruptcy, our future results could be adversely affected.
During fiscal 2020, sales to GM and Ford, or their tiered suppliers, represented 26.8% and 10.7%, respectively, of our consolidated net sales. The sales
to GM primarily consisted of integrated center consoles for use in light trucks and SUV's, and a shift in consumer preference for smaller or more fuel-efficient
vehicles could adversely affect our results of operations. The sales to Ford consist of ambient lighting, overhead consoles and other integrated modules, including
control panels. The arrangements with these customers generally provide for supplying the customers’ requirements for particular models, rather than for
manufacturing a specific quantity of products. Such supply arrangements cover a period from one year to the life of the model, which is generally three to seven
years. Therefore, the loss of a GM or Ford supply arrangement for a model or a significant decrease in demand for one or more of these models could have a
material adverse impact on our results of operations and financial condition. We also compete to supply products for successor models and are subject to the risk
that GM or Ford will not select us to produce products on any such model, which could have a material adverse impact on our results of operations and financial
condition.
In addition, our sales to GM and Ford, can be impacted by work stoppages, such the United Auto Workers (“UAW”) labor strike at GM in the fall of
2019. This labor strike at GM adversely impacted our results of operations in fiscal 2020.
International trade disputes could result in tariffs and other protectionist measures that could adversely affect our business.
Tariffs could increase the cost of our products and the components and raw materials that go into making them. These increased costs could adversely
impact the gross profit margin that we earn on sales of our products. Tariffs could also make our products more expensive for customers, which could make our
products less competitive and reduce consumer demand. Countries may also adopt other protectionist measures that could limit our ability to offer our products and
services. Political uncertainty surrounding international trade disputes and protectionist measures could also have a negative effect on consumer confidence and
spending, which could adversely affect our business.
Any changes in U.S. trade policy could trigger retaliatory actions by affected countries, resulting in "trade wars."
Any changes in U.S. trade policy could trigger retaliatory actions by affected countries, resulting in "trade wars," which could increase costs for goods
imported into the United States. This increase in costs may reduce customer demand for these products if the parties having to pay those tariffs increase their prices,
or if trading partners limit their trade with the United States. If these consequences are realized, the volume of economic activity in the U.S., including demand for
our products, may be materially reduced. Such a reduction may materially and adversely affect our sales and our business.
Our inability, or our customers' inability, to effectively manage the timing, quality and cost of new program launches could adversely affect our financial
performance.
In connection with the awarding of new business, we obligate ourselves to deliver new products and services that are subject to our customers' timing,
performance and quality demands. Additionally, we must effectively coordinate the activities of numerous suppliers in order for the program launches of certain of
our products to be successful. Given the complexity of new program launches, we may experience difficulties managing product quality, timeliness and associated
costs. In addition, new program launches require a significant ramp up of costs; however, our sales related to these new programs generally are dependent upon the
timing and success of our customers' introduction of new products. Our inability, or our customers' inability, to effectively manage the timing, quality and costs of
these new program launches could adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
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We are subject to continuing pressure to lower our prices.
Over the past several years we have experienced, and we expect to continue to experience, pressure to lower our prices. We, from time to time, provide
price concessions in connection with the awarding of new business. In order to maintain our profitability, we must strive to increase volumes and reduce our costs.
Continuing pressures to reduce our prices could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
Failure to attract and retain qualified personnel could affect our results.
Our success, both generally and in connection with mergers and acquisitions, depends on our ability to attract, retain, and motivate a highly-skilled and
diverse management team and workforce. Failure to ensure that we have the depth and breadth of personnel with the necessary skill set and experience could
impede our ability to deliver growth objectives and execute our strategy. Competition for qualified employees among companies that rely heavily upon engineering
and technology is at times intense, and the loss of qualified employees could hinder our ability to conduct research activities successfully and develop marketable
products.
Our Dabir Surfaces medical device products are emerging technologies. Our ability to successfully market and sell these products will depend on
acceptance by the medical community.
We continue to develop our Dabir Surfaces medical device products, which are included in several ongoing clinical research and product evaluation
studies. We will not be successful in marketing and selling these products to the medical community if we are unable to demonstrate the clinical efficacy, cost
effectiveness and distinctive benefits of the products or if our customers prefer competitive products.
A significant fluctuation between the U.S. dollar and other currencies could adversely impact our results of operations and financial condition.
We have currency exposures related to transactions denominated in currencies other than the local currencies of the countries in which we
operate. Gains and losses resulting from the remeasurement of assets and liabilities in a currency other than the functional currency of our foreign subsidiaries are
reported in current period income. In the future, unfavorable changes in exchange rate relationships between the functional currencies of our subsidiaries and their
non-functional currency denominated assets and liabilities could have an adverse impact on our results of operations and financial condition. While we seek to
manage our foreign exchange risk through operational means by matching revenue with same-currency costs, this may not always be effective. We currently do not
use third-party derivative financial instruments to mitigate the risk of transactional currency fluctuations. As a result, significant fluctuations in relative currency
values, in particular against the value of the U.S. dollar, could have an adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.
We are also subject to currency translation risk as we are required to translate the financial statements of our foreign subsidiaries to U.S. dollars. We
report the effect of translation for our foreign subsidiaries with a functional currency other than the U.S. dollar as a separate component of stockholders' equity.
Unfavorable changes in the exchange rate relationship between the U.S. dollar and the functional currencies of our foreign subsidiaries could have an adverse
impact on our results of operations and financial condition.
A significant portion of our business activities are conducted in foreign countries, exposing us to additional risks that may not exist in the United States.
International operations represent a significant portion of our business. Sales outside the U.S. represent a material amount of our consolidated net sales,
and we expect net sales outside the U.S. to continue to represent a significant portion of our consolidated net sales. Outside of the U.S., we operate manufacturing
facilities in Belgium, Canada, China, Egypt, Malta, Mexico, the Netherlands and the United Kingdom.
Our international operations subject us to extensive domestic and foreign regulations and expose us to a variety of domestic and foreign political,
economic and other risks, including:
10

Table of Contents
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

changes in international trade and investment policies, including restrictions or taxes on the repatriation of dividends or other funds, new or higher
tariffs, duties or customs (for example, on products imported from Mexico or China), new barriers to entry or domestic preference procurement
requirements and changes to, or withdrawals from, free trade agreements;
changes in foreign or domestic government leadership;
changes in foreign or domestic laws or regulations impacting our overall business model or restricting our ability to manufacture, purchase or sell
our products;
changes in domestic or foreign tax laws;
changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates;
economic downturns in foreign countries or geographic regions where we have significant operations, such as China, Egypt, Malta and Mexico;
significant changes in conditions in the countries in which we operate with the effect of competition from new market entrants;
uncertainty related to the United Kingdom’s withdrawal from the European Union;
impact of compliance with U.S. and other foreign countries’ export controls and economic sanctions;
liabilities resulting from U.S. and foreign laws and regulations, including those related to the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and certain other anticorruption laws;
differing labor regulations and union relationships;
logistical and communications challenges; and
differing protections for our intellectual property.

Any of these factors may have an adverse effect on our international operations which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, results of operations or cash flows.
Our business is subject to costs associated with environmental, health and safety regulations.
Our operations are subject to various federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations governing, among other things, emissions to air, discharge to
waters and the generation, handling, storage, transportation, treatment and disposal of waste and other materials. We believe that our current and former operations
and facilities have been, and are being, operated in compliance, in all material respects, with such laws and regulations, many of which provide for substantial fines
and criminal sanctions for violations. The operation of our manufacturing facilities entails risks in these areas, however, and there can be no assurance that we will
not incur material costs or liabilities. In addition, potentially significant expenditures could be required in order to comply with evolving environmental, health and
safety laws, regulations or other pertinent requirements that may be adopted or imposed in the future by governmental authorities.
Should a catastrophic event or other significant business interruption occur at any of our facilities, we could face significant reconstruction or remediation
costs, penalties, third party liability and loss of production capacity, which could adversely affect our business.
Weather conditions, natural disasters or other catastrophic events could cause significant disruptions in operations, including, specifically, disruptions at
our manufacturing facilities or those of our major suppliers or customers. In turn, the quality, cost and volumes of the products we produce and sell could be
unexpectedly, negatively affected, which would impact our results of operations and financial condition.
War, terrorism, geopolitical uncertainties, public health issues (such as the COVID-19 pandemic), and other business interruptions have caused and
could cause damage or disruption to international commerce and the global economy, and thus could have a strong negative effect on us, our suppliers, logistics
providers, manufacturing partners and customers. Our business operations could be subject to interruption by power shortages, terrorist attacks and other hostile
acts, labor disputes, and other events beyond our control. Such events could decrease demand for our products or make it difficult or impossible for us to produce
and deliver products to our customers, or to receive components from our suppliers, thereby creating delays and inefficiencies in our supply chain. Should major
public health issues, including pandemics, arise, we could be negatively affected by shutdowns, shelter in place orders, more stringent travel restrictions, additional
limitations in freight services,
11
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governmental actions limiting the movement of products between regions, and disruptions in the operations of our manufacturing partners and component
suppliers. The majority of our research and development activities, our corporate headquarters, information technology systems, and other critical business
operations, including certain component suppliers and manufacturing partners, are in locations that could be affected by natural disasters. In the event of a natural
disaster, losses could be incurred and significant recovery time could be required to resume operations and our financial condition and operating results could be
materially adversely affected. While we may purchase insurance policies to cover the direct economic impact experienced following a natural disaster occurring at
one of our own facilities, there can be no assurance that such insurance policies will cover the full extent of our financial loss nor will they cover losses which are
not economic in nature such as, for example, our reputation as a reliable supplier.
Impairment charges relating to our goodwill and long-lived assets could adversely affect our financial statements.
A significant portion of our long-term assets consists of goodwill and long-lived assets recorded as a result of past acquisitions. We do not amortize
goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets, but rather review them for impairment on an annual basis or more frequently whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that their carrying value may not be recoverable. If such circumstances or conditions exist, further steps are required in order to determine
whether the carrying value of each of the individual assets exceeds its fair market value. If our analysis indicates that an individual asset’s carrying value does
exceed its fair market value, the next step is to record a loss equal to the excess of the individual asset’s carrying value over its fair value.
In evaluating the potential for impairment of goodwill, we make assumptions regarding future operating performance, business trends, and market and
economic conditions. Such analyses further require us to make certain assumptions about sales, operating margins, growth rates, and discount rates. Uncertainties
are inherent in evaluating and applying these factors to the assessment of goodwill. We could be required to evaluate the recoverability of goodwill prior to the
annual assessment if we experience business disruptions, unexpected significant declines in operating results, a divestiture of a significant component of our
business, or declines in market capitalization.
We also continually evaluate whether events or circumstances have occurred that indicate our long-lived assets may be impaired. We use an estimate of
the related undiscounted cash flow over the remaining life of the asset in measuring whether the asset is recoverable.
In the event that we determine that our goodwill or long-lived assets are impaired, we may be required to record a significant charge to earnings that
could adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic may adversely impact our future projections, which
may increase the requirement to record an impairment.
Our inability to capitalize on prior or future acquisitions or any decision to strategically divest one or more current businesses may adversely affect our
business.
We have completed acquisitions and divestitures in the past and we may continue to seek acquisitions to grow our businesses or divest operations to
focus on our core businesses. We may fail to derive significant benefits from such transactions. Also, if we fail to achieve sufficient financial performance from an
acquisition, certain long-lived assets, such as property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, could become impaired and result in the recognition of an
impairment loss.
The success of our acquisitions depends on our ability to:
•
•
•
•
•

successfully execute the integration or consolidation of the acquired operations into our existing businesses;
develop or modify the financial reporting and information systems of the acquired entity to ensure overall financial integrity and adequacy of internal
control procedures;
finance the acquisition;
identify and take advantage of cost reduction opportunities; and
further penetrate new and existing markets with the product capabilities we may acquire.
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Integration of acquisitions may take longer than we expect and may never be achieved to the extent originally anticipated. Acquisitions may also increase our
debt levels. This could result in lower than expected business growth or higher than anticipated costs. In addition, acquisitions or strategic divestitures may:
•
•
•
•

cause a disruption in our ongoing business;
cause dilution of our common stock;
distract our management; or
unduly burden other resources in our company.

Our ability to market our automotive and commercial vehicle products is subject to a lengthy sales cycle, which requires significant investment prior to
significant sales revenues, and there is no assurance that our products will be implemented in any particular vehicle.
The sales cycles for our automotive and commercial vehicle products are lengthy because the manufacturers must develop high degrees of assurance
that the products they buy will meet customer needs, interface as easily as possible with the other parts of a vehicle and with the manufacturer’s production and
assembly process, and have minimal warranty, safety and service problems. As a result, from the time that a manufacturer develops a strong interest in our
products, it normally will take several years before our products are available to consumers in that manufacturer’s vehicles.
In the automotive components industry, products typically proceed through five stages of research and development. Initial research on the product
concept comes first, to assess its technical feasibility and economic costs and benefits. This stage often includes development of an internal prototype for the
component supplier’s own evaluation. If the product appears feasible, the component supplier manufactures a functioning prototype to demonstrate and test the
product’s features. These prototypes are then marketed and sold to automotive companies for testing and evaluation. If an automobile manufacturer shows interest
in the product, it typically works with the component supplier to refine the product, then purchases second and subsequent generation engineering prototypes for
further evaluation. Finally, the automobile manufacturer either decides to purchase the component for a production vehicle or terminates the program.
The time required to progress through these five stages to commercialization varies widely. Generally, the more a component must be integrated with
other vehicle systems, the longer the process takes. Further, products that are installed by the factory usually require extra time for evaluation because other vehicle
systems are affected, and a decision to introduce the product into the vehicle is not easily reversed. Because our automotive products affect other vehicle systems
and are a factory-installed item, the process usually takes several years from conception to commercialization.
While we currently have active development programs with various OEMs for a variety of our products, no assurance can be given that our products
will be implemented in any particular vehicles. During this development process, we derive minimal funding from prototype sales but generally obtain no
significant revenue until mass production begins, which could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity. If our products are not selected after a lengthy
development process, our results of operations and financial condition could be adversely affected.
Other automotive and commercial vehicle products that we develop are also likely to have a lengthy sales cycle. Because such technology is new and
evolving, and because customers will likely require that any new product we develop pass certain feasibility and economic viability tests before committing to
purchase, it is expected that any new products we develop will take some years before they are sold to customers, if at all.
We are dependent on the availability and price of materials.
We require substantial amounts of materials, including application-specific integrated circuits, coil and bar stock, ferrous and copper alloy sheets, glass,
LED displays, plastic molding materials, precious metals, and silicon die castings. The availability and prices of materials may be subject to curtailment or change
due to, among other things, new laws or regulations, suppliers’ allocations to other purchasers, interruptions in production by suppliers, changes in exchange rates
and worldwide
13
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price levels. Any change in the availability of, or price for, these materials could materially adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.
Disruption of our supply chain could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Our ability, and that of our suppliers, business partners and contract manufacturers, to make, move and sell products is critical to our success. Damage
or disruption to our or their manufacturing or distribution capabilities due to weather, including any potential effects of climate change, natural disaster, fire or
explosion, terrorism, pandemics, strikes, repairs or enhancements at our facilities, or other reasons, could impair our ability to manufacture or sell our products.
Failure to take adequate steps to mitigate the likelihood or potential impact of such events, or to effectively manage such events if they occur, could adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations, as well as require additional resources to restore our supply chain.
Our judgments regarding the accounting for tax positions and the resolution of tax disputes may impact our results of operations and financial condition.
Significant judgment is required to determine our effective tax rate and evaluate our tax positions. We provide for uncertain tax positions when such tax
positions do not meet the recognition thresholds or measurement criteria prescribed by applicable accounting standards. Fluctuations in federal, state and foreign
taxes or a change to uncertain tax positions, including related interest and penalties, may impact our effective tax rate and results of operations. Additionally, we are
subject to audits in the various taxing jurisdictions in which we conduct business. Based on the status of these audits and the protocol of finalizing audits by the
relevant tax authorities, it is not possible to estimate the impact of changes, if any, to previously recorded uncertain tax positions. Any negative or unexpected
outcomes of these examinations and audits could have a material adverse impact on our results of operations and financial condition.
Changes in our effective tax rate may adversely impact our results of operations.
A number of factors may increase our effective tax rate, which could reduce our net income, including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

the jurisdictions in which profits are determined to be earned and taxed;
changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets and liabilities, and in deferred tax valuation allowances;
adjustments to income taxes upon finalization of tax returns;
increases in expenses not deductible for tax purposes, including write-offs of acquired in-process research and development and impairments of
goodwill and long-lived assets;
changes in available tax credits;
changes in tax laws or interpretation, including changes in the U.S. to the taxation of non-U.S. income and expenses; and
changes in U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP").

We may be unable to keep pace with rapid technological changes, which could adversely affect our business.
The technologies relating to some of our products have undergone, and are continuing to undergo, rapid and significant changes. Specifically, endmarkets for electronic components and assemblies are characterized by technological change, frequent new product introductions and enhancements, changes in
customer requirements and emerging industry standards. These changes could render our existing products unmarketable before we can recover any or all of our
research, development and other expenses. Furthermore, the life cycles of our products vary, may change and are difficult to estimate. If we are unable, for
technological or other reasons, to develop and market new products or product enhancements in a timely and cost-effective manner, our business, financial
condition and operating results could be materially adversely affected.
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Our operations could be negatively impacted by service interruptions, data corruption or misuse, cyber-based attacks, or network security breaches.
We face certain security threats relating to the confidentiality and integrity of our information technology (“IT”) systems. Despite implementation of
security measures, our IT systems may be vulnerable to damage from computer viruses, cyber-attacks and other unauthorized access, and these security breaches
could result in a disruption to our operations. A material network breach of our IT systems could involve the theft of our and our customers' intellectual property or
trade secrets which may be used by competitors to develop competing products. To the extent that any security breach results in a loss or damage to data, or
inappropriate disclosure of confidential or proprietary information, it could cause significant damage to our reputation, affect our customer relations, lead to claims
against us, increase our costs to protect against future damage and could result in a material adverse effect on our business and financial position.
Any such disruption or security breach, as well as any action by us or our employees or contractors that might be inconsistent with the rapidly evolving
data privacy and security laws and regulations applicable within the U.S. and elsewhere where we conduct business, could result in enforcement actions by U.S.
states, the U.S. Federal government or foreign governments, liability or sanctions under data privacy laws that protect personally identifiable information,
regulatory penalties, other legal proceedings such as but not limited to private litigation, the incurrence of significant remediation costs, disruptions to our
development programs, business operations and collaborations, diversion of management efforts and damage to our reputation, which could harm our business and
operations. Because of the rapidly changing nature of technology and the increasing sophistication of cybersecurity threats, our measures to prevent, respond to and
minimize such risks may be unsuccessful. While we have secured cyber insurance to potentially cover certain risks associated with cyber incidents, there can be no
assurance the insurance will be sufficient to cover any such liability.
The General Data Privacy Regulation (“GDPR”) of the European Union creates a range of compliance obligations applicable to the collection, use,
retention, security, processing and transfer of personal data in the European Union. The GDPR, which is wide-ranging in scope, imposes several requirements
relating to the consent of the individuals to whom the personal data relates, the information provided to the individuals, the security and confidentiality of the
personal data, data breach notification and the use of third-party processors in connection with the processing of the personal data. The GDPR also imposes strict
rules on the transfer of personal data out of the European Union to the U.S., enhances enforcement authority and imposes large penalties for noncompliance.
Products we manufacture may contain design or manufacturing defects that could result in reduced demand for our products or services and liability
claims against us.
Despite our quality control and quality assurance efforts, defects may occur in the products we manufacture due to a variety of factors, including design
or manufacturing errors, component failure or counterfeit parts. Product defects may result in delayed shipments and reduced demand for our products. We may be
subject to increased costs due to warranty claims on defective products. Product defects may result in product liability claims against us where defects cause, or are
alleged to cause, property damage, bodily injury or death. We may be required to participate in a recall involving products that are, or are alleged to be, defective.
We carry insurance for certain legal matters involving product liability, however, we do not have coverage for all costs related to product defects or recalls and the
costs of such claims, including costs of defense and settlement, may exceed our available coverage.
Reorganization activities may lead to additional costs and material adverse effects.
In the past, we have taken actions to restructure and optimize our production and manufacturing capabilities and efficiencies through relocations,
consolidations, plant closings or asset sales. In the future, we may take additional restructuring actions including the consolidating, closing or selling of additional
facilities. These actions could result in impairment charges and various charges for such items as idle capacity, disposition costs and severance costs, in addition to
normal or attendant risks and uncertainties. We may be unsuccessful in any of our current or future efforts to restructure or consolidate our
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business. Plans to minimize or eliminate any loss of revenues during restructuring or consolidation may not be achieved. These activities may have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Our technology-based businesses and the markets in which we operate are highly competitive. If we are unable to compete effectively, our sales could
decline.
The markets in which we operate are highly competitive and characterized by rapid changes due to technological improvements and developments. We
compete with a large number of other manufacturers in each of our product areas and many of these competitors have greater resources and sales. Price, service and
product performance are significant elements of competition in the sale of our products. Competition may intensify further if more companies enter the markets in
which we operate. Our failure to compete effectively could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
If we are unable to protect our intellectual property or we infringe, or are alleged to infringe, on another person’s intellectual property, our business,
financial condition and operating results could be materially adversely affected.
We have numerous U.S. and foreign patents and license agreements covering certain of our products and manufacturing processes. Our ability to
compete effectively with other companies depends, in part, on our ability to maintain the proprietary nature of our technology. Although we have been awarded,
have filed applications for, or have been licensed under numerous patents in the U.S. and other countries, there can be no assurance concerning the degree of
protection afforded by these patents or the likelihood that pending patents will be issued. The loss of certain patents and trade secrets could adversely affect our
sales, margins or profitability.
We have and may become involved in litigation in the future to protect our intellectual property or because others may allege that we infringe on their
intellectual property. These claims and any resulting lawsuit could subject us to liability for damages and invalidate our intellectual property rights. If an
infringement claim is successfully asserted by a holder of intellectual property rights, we may be required to cease marketing or selling certain products, pay a
penalty for past infringement and spend significant time and money to develop a non-infringing product or process or to obtain licenses for the technology, process
or information from the holder. We may not be successful in the development of a non-infringing alternative, or licenses may not be available on commercially
acceptable terms, if at all, in which case we may lose sales and profits. In addition, any litigation could be lengthy and costly and could materially adversely affect
us even if we are successful in the litigation.
We cannot guarantee that the recently acquired Grakon businesses will be successful or that we can implement and profit from any new applications of
the acquired technology.
We acquired Grakon Parent, Inc. (“Grakon”) on September 12, 2018. As a result, we now manufacture LED-based lighting in North America and Asia,
which are expected to aid in our expansion in the automotive and commercial vehicle sectors. The markets for the products these companies produce are
competitive and rapidly changing. If we do not keep pace with technological innovations in the industry, our products may not be competitive, and our revenue and
operating results may suffer. Furthermore, while we intend to expand these businesses by integrating the acquired technologies into additional automotive and other
applications, we can make no guarantee that such ventures will be successful or profitable.
Performance-based stock awards under our long-term incentive plan have required significant adjustments to compensation expense in our consolidated
statements of income. Any future performance-based stock awards issued under our long-term incentive plan could require similar adjustments. The
adjustments could be material our financial statements.
In general, performance-based stock-based compensation expense under our long-term incentive plans is recognized over the vesting period based on
the projected probability of achievement of the threshold, target or maximum performance level. In each period, the stock-based compensation expense may be
adjusted, as necessary, in response to changes in
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our forecast with respect to the performance level. If required, we will record additional compensation expense, or a reversal of compensation expense, relating to
prior periods. The stock-based compensation expense adjustments could be material to the financial statements.
We have incurred a significant amount of indebtedness, and our level of indebtedness and restrictions under our indebtedness could adversely affect our
operations and liquidity. The COVID-19 pandemic could also adversely impact our liquidity.
Our primary sources of liquidity are cash generated from operations and availability under our revolving credit facility. Our senior unsecured credit
agreement consists of a $200.0 million revolving credit facility and a $250.0 million term loan. On March 23, 2020, we drew down $100.0 million under the
revolving credit facility as a precautionary measure in order to increase our cash position and preserve financial flexibility in light of the current uncertainty
resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic. As of May 2, 2020, $339.7 million in principal was outstanding under these financing arrangements and we had $91.4
million of availability remaining under the revolving credit facility. The term loan matures in September 2023 and requires quarterly principal payments of $3.1
million over the five-year term, with the remaining balance due upon maturity. The senior unsecured credit agreement provides for variable rates of interest based
on the type of borrowing and our debt to EBITDA financial ratio and contains customary representations and warranties, financial covenants, restrictive covenants
and events of default.
Further, the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic have caused significant uncertainty and volatility in the credit markets. Our senior unsecured credit
agreement provides an option to increase the size of our revolving credit facility and term loan by an additional $200.0 million, subject to customary conditions and
approval of the lenders providing the new commitments. There can be no assurance that lenders will approve additional commitments under current circumstances.
As a result of the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, we may be required to raise additional capital and our access to and cost of financing will depend on, among
other things, global economic conditions, conditions in the global financing markets, the availability of sufficient amounts of financing, and our prospects.
Our senior unsecured credit agreement imposes various restrictions and covenants regarding the operation of our business, including covenants that
require us to obtain the lenders’ consent before we can, among other things and subject to certain exceptions: (i) incur additional indebtedness or additional liens on
our property; (ii) consummate certain acquisitions, dispositions, mergers or consolidations; (iii) make any material change in the nature of our business; (iv) enter
into certain transactions with our affiliates; or (v) repurchase or redeem any outstanding shares of our common stock or pay cash dividends to our stockholders
when a default exists or certain financial covenants are not maintained.
The amount of our outstanding indebtedness could have an adverse effect on our operations and liquidity, including by, among other things: (i) making
it more difficult for us to pay or refinance our debts as they become due during adverse economic and industry conditions, because we may not have sufficient cash
flows to make our scheduled debt payments; (ii) causing us to use a larger portion of our cash flows to fund interest and principal payments, thereby reducing the
availability of cash to fund working capital, product development, capital expenditures and other business activities; (iii) making it more difficult for us to take
advantage of significant business opportunities, such as acquisition opportunities or other strategic transactions, and to react to changes in market or industry
conditions; and (iv) limiting our ability to borrow additional monies in the future to fund the activities and expenditures described above and for other general
corporate purposes as and when needed, which could force us to suspend, delay or curtail business prospects, strategies or operations.
The replacement or modification of LIBOR as a reference rate could increase our interest expense in the future.
The London Inter-Bank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) is expected to be phased out by the end of 2021. LIBOR is currently used as the reference rate on our
senior unsecured credit agreement, which matures in September 2023. Currently, no replacement rate has been identified. The transition from LIBOR could result
in higher interest expense than has historically been recognized.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None
Item 2. Properties
Our corporate headquarters is located in Chicago, Illinois. As of May 2, 2020, we leased or owned 42 operating facilities. We believe our space is in
good condition and adequate to meet our current and reasonably anticipated future needs. The following table provides details regarding our significant properties
as of May 2, 2020:
Location

Segment(s)

Lontzen, Belgium
Dongguan, China
Shanghai, China
Cairo, Egypt
Mriehel, Malta
Fresnillo, Mexico
Monterrey, Mexico

Automotive
Automotive and Industrial
Automotive and Industrial
Automotive and Industrial
Automotive and Industrial
Automotive
Automotive, Industrial and
Interface
Automotive
Automotive and Interface
Industrial
Automotive and Industrial

Santa Catarina Nuevo Léon, Mexico
McAllen, Texas
Rolling Meadows, Illinois
Seattle, Washington

Use

Owned/
Leased

Approximate
Square Footage

Manufacturing and Warehousing
Manufacturing
Manufacturing
Manufacturing
Manufacturing
Manufacturing
Manufacturing

Owned
Leased
Leased
Leased
Leased
Leased
Leased

153,000
197,000
194,333
176,780
299,290
86,150
291,974

Manufacturing
Warehousing
Manufacturing
Warehousing

Leased
Leased
Owned
Leased

128,038
93,647
89,000
61,767

Item 3. Legal Proceedings
From time to time, we have and may become involved in various litigation matters, including administrative proceedings, regulatory proceedings,
environmental matters, and commercial disputes. The impact and outcome of litigation is subject to inherent uncertainties, and an adverse result in these or other
matters may arise from time to time that could harm our business. We are not currently aware of any legal proceedings or claims to which we are a party or to
which our property is subject that we believe will have, individually or in the aggregate, a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of
operations.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not Applicable
Supplementary Item: Information about our Executive Officers
Name

Age

Donald W. Duda
Ronald L.G. Tsoumas

64
59

Andrea J. Barry

57

Michael S. Brotherton

43

Timothy R. Glandon
Joseph E. Khoury

56
56

Anil V. Shetty

54

Offices and Positions Held and Length of Service as Officer

Chief Executive Officer since 2004 and President and Director since 2001.
Chief Financial Officer of the Company since 2018; prior thereto, served as Controller of the Company from
2007 to 2018.
Chief Human Resources Officer of the Company since 2017; prior thereto, served as CHRO for Wirtz Beverage
Group from 2013 to 2016.
President, Grakon from 2018 to June 2020; prior thereto, served as Vice President and General Manager, North
American Automotive, from 2010 to 2018. On June 11, 2020, Mr. Brotherton ceased to be employed by the
Company.
Vice President since 2006; General Manager, North American Automotive, from 2006 to 2015.
Chief Operating Officer of the Company since 2018; prior thereto, served as Senior Vice President since 2015,
and as Vice President and General Manager of European Operations from 2004 to 2015.
President, Dabir Surfaces since 2018; prior thereto, Vice President and General Manager, Asia, from 2015, and
Executive Managing Director, Asia from 2011 to 2015.
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All executive officers are elected by the Board of Directors and serve a term of one year or until their successors are duly elected and qualified.
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PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Market Information
Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "MEI." As of June 16, 2020, we had 382 holders of record of our
common stock.
Dividends
While we currently expect that quarterly cash dividends will continue to be paid in the future, such payments are at the discretion of our Board of
Directors and will depend upon many factors, including our results of operations and liquidity position.
Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans
See Item 12, “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters,” of this Annual Report for certain
information relating to our equity compensation plans.
Stock Performance
The following graph shows the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock over the period spanning May 2, 2015 to May 2, 2020, as
compared with that of the NYSE Composite Index (“NYSE Index”) and a selected peer group of comparable, publicly traded companies that we have selected for
purposes of this comparison. We have assumed that dividends have been reinvested and that $100 was invested on May 2, 2015. The stock price performance
included in this graph is historical and not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance.
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May 2,
2015

Company/Index
Methode Electronics, Inc.
NYSE Index
Peer Group *

$

100.00 $
100.00
100.00

April 30,
2016

April 29,
2017

69.07 $
98.56
87.54

104.48 $
113.24
124.92

April 28,
2018
96.03 $
126.27
125.00

April 27,
2019
70.48 $
137.77
137.09

May 2,
2020
69.54
122.55
108.06

* The peer group consists of Belden Inc., CTS Corporation, Dorman Products, Inc., Franklin Electric Company, Inc., Gentherm Incorporated, Benchmark
Electronics, Kemet Corporation, LCI Industries, Littelfuse, Inc., MTS Systems Corporation, OSI Systems, Inc., Rogers Corporation, Standard Motor Products, Inc.,
Stoneridge, Inc. and TTM Technologies, Inc.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data
The following selected financial data were derived from our audited consolidated financial statements and should be read in conjunction with Item 7,
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the consolidated financial statements and related notes included in
this Annual Report. Fiscal 2020 represented 53 weeks, while fiscal 2019, fiscal 2018, fiscal 2017 and fiscal 2016 represented 52 weeks.

(In Millions, Except Per Share Amounts)
Statement of Income Data:
Net Sales
Income before Income Taxes
Income Tax Expense
Net Income
Per Common Share Data:
Basic Net Income
Diluted Net Income
Dividends
Book Value
Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Total Assets
Total Debt
Total Equity
Cash Flow Data:
Cash Provided by Operating Activities
Cash Used in Investing Activities
Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities

May 2,
2020 (1)

$

1,023.9
148.7
25.3
123.4

April 27,
2019 (2)

$

1,000.3
103.6
12.0
91.6

Fiscal Year Ended
April 28,
2018 (3)

$

908.3
123.8
66.6
57.2

April 29,
2017 (4)

$

816.5
115.9
23.0
92.9

April 30,
2016 (5)

$

809.1
110.9
26.3
84.6

3.28
3.26
0.44
20.84

2.45
2.43
0.44
18.43

1.54
1.52
0.40
16.82

2.49
2.48
0.36
14.53

2.21
2.20
0.36
12.61

217.3
1,370.6
352.1
783.4

83.2
1,231.7
292.6
689.7

246.1
915.9
57.8
630.0

294.0
704.0
27.0
541.1

227.8
655.9
57.0
470.1

117.8
(179.0)
(12.7)

145.2
(21.7)
(47.0)

110.7
(21.6)
(28.7)

140.6
(44.5)
41.7

102.0
(470.8)
217.4

(1)

Fiscal 2020 includes $5.4 million of pre-tax legal expense relating to the Hetronic litigation. Fiscal 2020 also includes income of $9.9 million for an
international government grant for maintaining certain employment levels during the period and a $5.2 million stock-based compensation expense reversal
related to RSA compensation expense.

(2)

Fiscal 2019 includes $3.5 million of pre-tax legal expense relating to the Hetronic litigation. During fiscal 2019, we engaged in initiatives to reduce overall
costs and improve operational profitability, which increased costs during the period by $6.9 million. Fiscal 2019 also includes pre-tax acquisition expenses of
$15.4 million related to the acquisition of Grakon, income of $5.8 million for an international government grant for maintaining certain employment levels
during the period and $7.4 million of stock-based compensation expense related to the re-estimation of RSA compensation expense based upon target levels
of performance.

(3)

Fiscal 2018 includes $8.1 million of pre-tax legal expense relating to the Hetronic litigation. Fiscal 2018 also includes pre-tax acquisition expenses of $6.8
million related to the acquisitions of Procoplast and Pacific Insight, income of $7.3 million for an international government grant for maintaining certain
employment levels during the period and a $6.0 million stock-based compensation benefit related to the re-estimation of RSA compensation expense based
upon threshold levels of performance. The results for fiscal 2018 also includes a provisional estimated tax charge of $53.7 million as a result of U.S. Tax
Reform and a tax benefit of $9.8 million for foreign investment tax credits.

(4)

Fiscal 2017 includes $11.0 million of pre-tax legal expense relating to the Hetronic litigation. Fiscal 2017 also includes pre-tax exit costs for two reporting
units of $2.3 million, pre-tax acquisition expenses of $1.5 million, primarily related to a potential acquisition we elected not to undertake, and income of $4.5
million for an international government grant for maintaining certain employment levels during the period. The results for fiscal 2017 include a tax benefit of
$4.0 million for foreign investment tax credits, partially offset by a tax expense of $1.7 million on a dividend between foreign entities.

(5)

Fiscal 2016 includes $9.9 million of pre-tax legal expense relating to the Hetronic litigation.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations is based upon our consolidated financial statements, which
have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. You should read the following discussion and analysis in conjunction with Item 6, “Selected Financial Data”
and our consolidated financial statements and related notes included in this Annual Report. This discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of
operations also contains forward-looking statements that involve risks, uncertainties, and assumptions. Our actual results may differ materially from those
anticipated in these forward-looking statements because of a variety of factors, including those set forth under Item 1A. “Risk Factors” of this Annual Report. We
undertake no duty to update any such forward-looking statements to conform to actual results or changes in our expectations.
Overview
We are a global developer of custom engineered and application specific products and solutions with manufacturing, design and testing facilities in
Belgium, Canada, China, Egypt, Germany, India, Italy, Lebanon, Malta, Mexico, the Netherlands, Singapore, Switzerland, the United Kingdom and the United
States. Our primary manufacturing facilities are located in Dongguan and Shanghai, China; Cairo, Egypt; Mriehel, Malta; and Fresnillo and Monterrey, Mexico.
We design, manufacture and market devices employing electrical, radio remote control, electronic, LED lighting, wireless and sensing technologies.
Our business is managed, and our financial results are reported, based on the following four segments: Automotive, Industrial, Interface and Medical.
For more information regarding the business and products of these segments, see “Item 1. Business” of this Annual Report.
Our components are found in the primary end-markets of the aerospace, appliance, automotive, commercial vehicle, construction, consumer and
industrial equipment, communications (including information processing and storage, networking equipment and wireless and terrestrial voice/data systems),
medical, rail and other transportation industries.
Impact of COVID-19
The COVID-19 global pandemic has negatively affected the global economy, disrupted global supply chains, and created extreme volatility and
disruptions to capital and credit markets in the global financial markets. We began to see the impacts of COVID-19 at the beginning of our fourth quarter of fiscal
2020 at our China manufacturing facilities, which were initially closed for a few weeks after the Chinese New Year. Our manufacturing facilities in China resumed
operations later in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2020, but at lower capacity utilization. However, the major impact to our business from the COVID-19 pandemic
began in mid-March 2020, as our operations in North America and Europe were adversely impacted by many of our customers suspending their manufacturing
operations due to the COVID-19 pandemic. As a result, net sales and production levels at our major North American and European manufacturing facilities were
significantly reduced to well below capacity, thus impacting our results of operations during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2020.
In response to the COVID-19 pandemic and business disruption, we implemented certain measures to manage costs, preserve liquidity and enhance
employee safety. These measures included the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Reduction of payroll costs through a combination of temporary salary reductions, four-day work weeks and furloughs;
Elimination of most business travel and restriction of visitors to our facilities;
Enhanced cleaning and disinfection procedures at our facilities, temperature checks for our workers before they enter our manufacturing facilities,
promotion of social distancing at our facilities and requirements for employees to work from home where possible;
Reduction of capital expenditures;
Deferral of discretionary spending; and
The draw-down of $100.0 million available under our revolving credit facility as a precautionary measure in order to increase our cash position and
preserve financial flexibility in light of the current uncertainty in the global markets resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic.
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The extent of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business, financial results and liquidity will depend largely on future developments,
including the duration of the spread of the COVID-19 outbreak within the U.S. and globally, the impact on capital and financial markets and the related impact on
our customers, especially in the automotive and commercial vehicle markets. These future developments are outside of our control, are highly uncertain and cannot
be predicted. If the impact is prolonged, then it can further increase the difficulty of planning for operations and may require us to take further actions as it relates to
costs and liquidity. These and other potential impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic will adversely impact our results for the first quarter of fiscal 2021, as well as the
full fiscal year, and that impact could be material.
Grakon Transaction
On September 12, 2018, we acquired 100% of the stock of Grakon for $422.1 million in cash, net of cash acquired. The business, headquartered in
Seattle, Washington, is a manufacturer of custom designed exterior lighting solutions and highly styled engineered components, with locations in Canada, China,
the Netherlands and the United Kingdom. Grakon’s manufacturing capabilities and products help diversify our product offerings and expand the Industrial
segment, which is a key component of our strategic direction. Grakon’s results have been included in the Automotive and Industrial segments from the effective
date of the acquisition. Grakon’s results are included for the entire period in fiscal 2020 and only for seven and a half-months in fiscal 2019.
Results of Operations
We maintain our financial records on the basis of a 52- or 53-week fiscal year ending on the Saturday closest to April 30. For fiscal 2020, our
accounting period included 53 weeks and ended on May 2, 2020. For fiscal 2019 and fiscal 2018, our accounting period included 52 weeks and ended on April 27,
2019 and April 28, 2018, respectively. The following discussions of comparative results among periods should be reviewed in this context.
A detailed comparison of our results of operations between fiscal 2019 and fiscal 2018 can be found in Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in our fiscal 2019 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on June 20, 2019.
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Results of Operations for the Fiscal Year Ended May 2, 2020 compared to the Fiscal Year Ended April 27, 2019.
Consolidated Results
Below is a table summarizing results for the fiscal years ended:
May 2,
2020
(53 Weeks)

(Dollars in Millions)

Net Sales
Cost of Products Sold
Gross Profit
Selling and Administrative Expenses
Amortization of Intangibles
Interest Expense, Net
Other Income, Net
Income Tax Expense
Net Income

$

$

1,023.9
741.0
282.9
116.8
19.0
10.1
(11.7)
25.3
123.4
May 2,
2020
(53 Weeks)

Percent of sales:

Net Sales
Cost of Products Sold
Gross Profit
Selling and Administrative Expenses
Amortization of Intangibles
Interest Expense, Net
Other Income, Net
Income Tax Expense
Net Income

100.0%
72.4%
27.6%
11.4%
1.9%
1.0%
(1.1)%
2.5%
12.1%

April 27,
2019
(52 Weeks)

$

$

1,000.3
734.5
265.8
142.9
16.1
8.3
(5.1)
12.0
91.6

Net Change
($)

$

$

23.6
6.5
17.1
(26.1)
2.9
1.8
(6.6)
13.3
31.8

Net Change
(%)

2.4%
0.9%
6.4%
(18.3)%
18.0%
21.7%
129.4%
110.8%
34.7%

April 27,
2019
(52 Weeks)

100.0%
73.4%
26.6%
14.3%
1.6%
0.8%
(0.5)%
1.2%
9.2%

Net Sales. Consolidated net sales increased by $23.6 million, or 2.4%, to $1,023.9 million in fiscal 2020, compared to $1,000.3 million in fiscal 2019.
The acquisition of Grakon increased net sales by $76.2 million, while the impact of foreign currency translation decreased net sales by $13.9 million. The weaker
euro and Chinese renminbi impacted foreign currency translation. Excluding the acquisition of Grakon and foreign currency translation, net sales decreased by
$38.7 million, primarily due to the adverse impacts from the UAW labor strike at GM and the negative impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on net sales during our
fourth fiscal quarter.
Cost of Products Sold. Consolidated cost of products sold increased by $6.5 million, or 0.9%, to $741.0 million (72.4% of sales) in fiscal 2020,
compared to $734.5 million (73.4% of sales) in fiscal 2019. The acquisition of Grakon increased cost of products sold by $46.4 million, while the impact of foreign
currency translation decreased cost of products sold by $8.7 million. Excluding the acquisition of Grakon and foreign currency translation, cost of products sold
decreased by $31.2 million, primarily due to lower sales volumes. Consolidated cost of products sold in fiscal 2019 included $5.6 million of purchase accounting
adjustments related to Grakon inventory and $2.8 million of costs related to initiatives to reduce overall costs and improve operational profitability.
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Gross Profit. Gross profit increased by $17.1 million, or 6.4%, to $282.9 million (27.6% of sales) in fiscal 2020, compared to $265.8 million (26.6% of
sales) in fiscal 2019. The acquisition of Grakon increased gross profit by $29.8 million, while the impact of foreign currency translation decreased gross profit by
$5.2 million. Excluding the acquisition of Grakon and foreign currency translation, gross profit decreased by $7.5 million, primarily due to lower sales in the
Automotive segment as a result of the UAW labor strike at GM and lower sales of radio remote control products in the Industrial segment, partially offset by the
benefits of initiatives to reduce overall costs and improve operational profitability taken in fiscal 2019. Gross profit was also negatively impacted in our fourth
fiscal quarter by the negative impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on net sales.
Selling and Administrative Expenses. Selling and administrative expenses decreased by $26.1 million, or 18.3%, to $116.8 million (11.4% of sales) in
fiscal 2020, compared to $142.9 million (14.3% of sales) in fiscal 2019. The impact of foreign currency translation decreased selling and administrative expenses
by $1.3 million, which was partially offset by the acquisition of Grakon which increased selling and administrative expenses by $1.1 million. Excluding foreign
currency translation and the acquisition of Grakon, selling and administrative expenses decreased by $25.9 million. The decrease was primarily due to lower stockbased compensation expense, professional fees and salaries. Stock-based compensation expense decreased by $13.7 million, as fiscal 2020 included a $5.2 million
reversal of stock-based compensation expense related to prior years, while fiscal 2019 included a $7.4 million accrual adjustment expense related to prior years. For
further information, see Note 13, "Shareholders Equity,” to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report. Professional fees were higher in
fiscal 2019 primarily due to transaction costs associated with the acquisition of Grakon. Salaries were lower in fiscal 2020 due to lower incentive compensation
expense and actions taken with respect to salaries as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. In addition, in fiscal 2020, we realized benefits from initiatives taken in
fiscal 2019 to reduce overall costs and improve operational profitability. In fiscal 2019, we incurred $4.0 million of expenses related to initiatives to reduce overall
costs and improve operational profitability versus $1.2 million of expenses incurred in fiscal 2020.
Amortization of Intangibles. Amortization of intangibles increased by $2.9 million, or 18.0%, to $19.0 million in fiscal 2020, compared to $16.1 million
in fiscal 2019. The increase was due to amortization expense related to the Grakon acquisition, partially offset by lower amortization expense in the Interface
segment.
Interest Expense, Net. Interest expense, net was $10.1 million in fiscal 2020, compared to $8.3 million in fiscal 2019. The increase was due to higher
average borrowings in fiscal 2020 compared to fiscal 2019, partially offset by lower average interest rates.
Other Income, Net. Other income, net increased by $6.6 million to $11.7 million in fiscal 2020, compared to $5.1 million in fiscal 2019. The increase
was primarily due to higher income from international government grants of $11.6 million in fiscal 2020 compared to $5.8 million in fiscal 2019. Approximately
$1.7 million of the international government grants relates to assistance provided with respect to the COVID-19 pandemic. The remaining $9.9 million of
international government grants in fiscal 2020 relate to maintaining certain employment levels. In fiscal 2020, we sold assets related to a previously closed business
and recognized a gain on sale of $0.5 million. In addition, net foreign exchange losses were $3.1 million in fiscal 2020, compared to $1.4 million in fiscal 2019.
Income Tax Expense. Income tax expense increased by $13.3 million, or 110.8%, to $25.3 million in fiscal 2020, compared to $12.0 million in fiscal
2019. Our effective tax rate increased to 17.0% in fiscal 2020, compared to 11.6% in fiscal 2019. The increase was primarily related to the higher pre-tax income
from the Grakon acquisition in fiscal 2020 and an increase in tax reserves. The effective tax rate in fiscal 2019 was lower primarily due to a tax benefit related to
the finalization of the transition tax from U.S. Tax Reform and investment tax credits generated from a non-U.S. location.
Net Income. Net income increased by $31.8 million, or 34.7%, to $123.4 million in fiscal 2020, compared to $91.6 million in fiscal 2019. Net income
increased as a result of the reasons described above.
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Operating Segments
Automotive Segment Results
Below is a table summarizing results for the fiscal years ended:
May 2,
2020
(53 Weeks)

(Dollars in Millions)

Net Sales
Gross Profit
Income from Operations

$
$
$

712.1
178.2
124.4
May 2,
2020
(53 Weeks)

Percent of sales:

Net Sales
Gross Profit
Income from Operations

100.0%
25.0%
17.5%

April 27,
2019
(52 Weeks)

$
$
$

734.7
188.3
126.3

Net Change
($)

$
$
$

(22.6)
(10.1)
(1.9)

Net Change
(%)

(3.1)%
(5.4)%
(1.5)%

April 27,
2019
(52 Weeks)

100.0%
25.6%
17.2%

Net Sales. Automotive segment net sales decreased by $22.6 million, or 3.1%, to $712.1 million in fiscal 2020, from $734.7 million in fiscal 2019. Net
sales were negatively impacted in our fourth fiscal quarter as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. Net sales decreased in North America by $25.2 million, or 5.5%,
to $435.6 million in fiscal 2020, compared to $460.8 million in fiscal 2019. The decrease was primarily due to the adverse impact from the COVID-19 pandemic
and the adverse impact from the UAW labor strike at GM, partially offset by higher sales from the Grakon acquisition. Net sales in Europe increased by $6.4
million, or 3.3%, to $202.1 million in fiscal 2020, compared to $195.7 million in fiscal 2019. The weaker euro decreased net sales in Europe by $7.6 million.
Excluding the impact of foreign currency translation, net sales in Europe increased by $14.0 million primarily due to higher sales volumes of sensor and switch
products, partially offset by the adverse impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. Net sales in Asia decreased by $3.8 million, or 4.9%, to $74.4 million in fiscal 2020,
compared to $78.2 million in fiscal 2019. The weaker Chinese renminbi decreased net sales in Asia by $2.6 million. Excluding foreign currency translation, net
sales in Asia decreased by $1.2 million, primarily due to lower sales of our sensor and transmission lead-frame assembly products and the adverse impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic, partially offset by the launch of touchscreen product sales to an Asian automobile OEM.
Gross Profit. Automotive segment gross profit decreased by $10.1 million, or 5.4%, to $178.2 million in fiscal 2020, compared to $188.3 million in
fiscal 2019. Gross profit margin decreased slightly to 25.0% in fiscal 2020, from 25.6% in fiscal 2019. The decrease in gross profit margin was primarily due to the
adverse impact from the UAW labor strike at GM, the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic in our fourth fiscal quarter and product mix. Gross profit was also
negatively impacted by $3.8 million from the weaker euro and Chinese renminbi. This was partially offset by higher gross profit from the Grakon acquisition and
the benefits realized from initiatives taken in fiscal 2019 to reduce overall costs and improve operational profitability. In fiscal 2019, we incurred $2.7 million of
expenses related to initiatives to reduce overall costs and improve operational profitability versus $0.6 million of expenses incurred in fiscal 2020.
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Income from Operations. Automotive segment income from operations decreased by $1.9 million, or 1.5%, to $124.4 million in fiscal 2020, compared
to $126.3 million in fiscal 2019. The decrease was primarily due to lower gross profit, partially offset by lower selling and administrative costs and the benefits of
initiatives to reduce overall costs and improve operational profitability taken in fiscal 2019.
Industrial Segment Results
Below is a table summarizing results for the fiscal years ended:
May 2,
2020
(53 Weeks)

(Dollars in Millions)

Net Sales
Gross Profit
Income from Operations

$
$
$

251.4
95.0
59.4
May 2,
2020
(53 Weeks)

Percent of sales:

Net Sales
Gross Profit
Income from Operations

100.0%
37.8%
23.6%

April 27,
2019
(52 Weeks)

$
$
$

206.8
68.6
37.4

Net Change
($)

$
$
$

44.6
26.4
22.0

Net Change
(%)

21.6%
38.5%
58.8%

April 27,
2019
(52 Weeks)

100.0%
33.2%
18.1%

Net Sales. Industrial segment net sales increased by $44.6 million, or 21.6%, to $251.4 million in fiscal 2020, compared to $206.8 million in fiscal 2019.
The acquisition of Grakon increased net sales by $44.3 million, while the impact of foreign currency translation decreased net sales by $3.7 million. Excluding the
acquisition of Grakon and foreign currency translation, net sales increased by $4.0 million despite the adverse impact from the COVID-19 pandemic in our fourth
fiscal quarter. The increase was primarily due to higher sales volumes of busbar products, partially offset by lower sales volumes of radio remote control products.
Gross Profit. Industrial segment gross profit increased by $26.4 million, or 38.5%, to $95.0 million in fiscal 2020, compared to $68.6 million in fiscal
2019. Gross profit margin increased to 37.8% in fiscal 2020, from 33.2% in fiscal 2019. The increase in gross profit margin was primarily due to a favorable
product mix relating to our Grakon and busbar businesses, partially offset by reduced radio remote control sales volumes. Gross profit in fiscal 2019 also included
$5.6 million of purchase accounting adjustments related to the acquisition of Grakon.
Income from Operations. Industrial segment income from operations increased by $22.0 million, or 58.8%, to $59.4 million in fiscal 2020, compared to
$37.4 million in fiscal 2019. The acquisition of Grakon accounted for $21.0 million of the increase.
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Interface Segment Results
Below is a table summarizing results for the fiscal years ended:
May 2,
2020
(53 Weeks)

(Dollars in Millions)

Net Sales
Gross Profit
Income (Loss) from Operations

$
$
$

April 27,
2019
(52 Weeks)

58.8
10.0
5.6

$
$
$

57.7
7.8
(0.3)

May 2,
2020
(53 Weeks)

Percent of sales:

Net Sales
Gross Profit
Income (Loss) from Operations

Net Change
($)

$
$
$

Net Change
(%)

1.1
2.2
5.9

1.9%
28.2%
N/M*

April 27,
2019
(52 Weeks)

100.0%
17.0%
9.5%

100.0%
13.5%
(0.5)%

*N/M equals non-meaningful
Net Sales. Interface segment net sales increased by $1.1 million, or 1.9%, to $58.8 million in fiscal 2020, compared to $57.7 million in fiscal 2019. Net
sales increased primarily due to modestly higher sales volumes of appliance products and our legacy data solutions products.
Gross Profit. Interface segment gross profit increased by $2.2 million, or 28.2%, to $10.0 million in fiscal 2020, compared to $7.8 million in fiscal
2019. Gross profit margin increased to 17.0% in fiscal 2020, from 13.5% in fiscal 2019. The increase relates to higher sales volumes of appliance products and our
legacy data solutions products.
Income (Loss) From Operations. Interface segment income from operations increased by $5.9 million to income of $5.6 million in fiscal 2020,
compared to a loss of $0.3 million in fiscal 2019. The increase was due to higher gross profit, lower amortization of intangibles and lower selling and
administrative expenses as a result of the benefits of initiatives to reduce overall costs and improve operational profitability taken in fiscal 2019.
Medical Segment Results
Below is a table summarizing results for the fiscal years ended:
May 2,
2020
(53 Weeks)

(Dollars in Millions)

Net Sales
Gross Profit
Loss from Operations

$
$
$

1.6
(1.5)
(6.0)

April 27,
2019
(52 Weeks)

$
$
$

1.1
(2.8)
(8.6)

Net Change
($)

$
$
$

Net Change
(%)

0.5
1.3
2.6

45.5%
46.4%
30.2%

Net Sales. The Medical segment had $1.6 million of net sales in fiscal 2020, compared to $1.1 million of net sales in fiscal 2019. Higher net sales were
due to increased sales volumes.
Gross Profit. Medical segment gross profit was a loss of $1.5 million in fiscal 2020, compared to a loss of $2.8 million in fiscal 2019. The improvement
primarily relates to lower engineering costs and wages incurred during the period and higher sales volumes.
Loss from Operations. Medical segment loss from operations decreased by $2.6 million to $6.0 million in fiscal 2020, compared to $8.6 million in fiscal
2019. The decrease was due to lower selling and administrative expenses and an improvement in gross profit. Selling and administrative expenses were lower due
to the benefits of initiatives to reduce overall costs and improve operational profitability taken in fiscal 2019. In fiscal 2019, we incurred $0.9 million of expenses
related to initiatives to reduce overall costs and improve operational profitability versus $0.1 million of expenses incurred in fiscal 2020.
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Financial Condition, Liquidity and Capital Resources
Our primary sources of liquidity are cash flows from operations, existing cash balances and borrowings under our senior unsecured credit agreement.
The COVID-19 pandemic has negatively affected the global economy, disrupted global supply chains, and created extreme volatility and disruptions to capital and
credit markets in the global financial markets. We believe our liquidity position will be sufficient to fund our existing operations and current commitments for at
least the next twelve months. However, in the event that economic conditions remain impacted for longer than we expect due to the COVID-19 pandemic, our
liquidity position could be severely impacted.
Our senior unsecured credit agreement provides for a $200.0 million revolving credit facility and a $250.0 million term loan. On March 23, 2020, we
drew down $100.0 million under our revolving credit facility as a precautionary measure in order to increase our cash position and preserve financial flexibility in
light of the uncertainty in the global markets resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic. As of May 2, 2020, $108.5 million in principal was outstanding under the
revolving credit facility and we have $91.4 million of availability under the revolving credit facility. As of May 2, 2020, $231.2 million in principal was
outstanding under the term loan. The term loan matures in September 2023 and requires quarterly principal payments of $3.1 million over the five-year term, with
the remaining balance due upon maturity. We were in compliance with all covenants under the senior unsecured credit agreement as of May 2, 2020. For further
information, see Note 10, "Debt," to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report.
Our senior unsecured credit agreement provides an option to increase the size of our revolving credit facility and term loan by an additional $200.0
million, subject to customary conditions and approval of the lenders providing the new commitments. There can be no assurance that lenders will approve
additional commitments under current circumstances. As a result of the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, we may be required to raise additional capital and our
access to and cost of financing will depend on, among other things, global economic conditions, conditions in the global financing markets, the availability of
sufficient amounts of financing, and our future prospects.
At May 2, 2020, we had $217.3 million of cash and cash equivalents, of which $47.0 million was held in subsidiaries outside the U.S. Cash held by
these subsidiaries is used to fund operational activities and can be repatriated, primarily through the repayment of intercompany loans and the payment of
dividends, without creating material additional income tax expense.
Cash Flows
Cash flow is summarized below:
Fiscal Year Ended
May 2,
2020
(53 Weeks)

(Dollars in Millions)

Operating activities:
Net Income
Non-cash Items
Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities
Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and Cash Equivalents
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of the Year
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of the Year

$

$

April 27,
2019
(52 Weeks)

123.4
56.7
(39.5)
140.6
(44.5)
41.7
(3.7)
134.1
83.2
217.3

$

$

91.6
52.6
(42.2)
102.0
(470.8)
217.4
(11.5)
(162.9)
246.1
83.2

Operating Activities
Net cash provided by operating activities increased by $38.6 million to $140.6 million in fiscal 2020, compared to $102.0 million in fiscal 2019. The
increase was primarily due to a positive net change in net income after non-cash adjustments of $35.9 million and a net positive change in operating assets and
liabilities of $2.7 million. The changes in operating assets and
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liabilities was primarily due to lower accounts receivable and prepaid expenses and other assets, offset by higher inventories and lower accounts payable and other
liabilities.
Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities of $44.5 million in fiscal 2020 primarily represents capital expenditures of $45.1 million. Net cash used in investing
activities of $470.8 million in fiscal 2019 primarily relates to the acquisition of Grakon of $422.1 million and capital expenditures of $49.8 million.
Financing Activities
The decrease in net cash provided by financing activities in fiscal 2020, compared to fiscal 2019, was primarily due to lower net borrowings under our
senior unsecured credit agreement. Higher borrowings in fiscal 2019 primarily related to the funding for the Grakon acquisition.
Contractual Obligations
The following table summarizes contractual obligations and commitments, as of May 2, 2020:
Payments Due By Period
(Dollars in Millions)

Finance Leases
Operating Leases
Debt (1)
Estimated Interest on Debt (2)
Deferred Compensation
Total

Less than
1 year

Total

$

1.4
29.7
354.3
19.6
6.7
411.7

$

$

$

0.5
6.6
15.3
6.0
1.2
29.6

1-3 years

$

$

0.8
11.1
28.3
11.3
2.3
53.8

More than
5 years

3-5 years

$

$

0.1
6.3
307.9
2.1
1.2
317.6

(1)

Assumes the outstanding borrowings under the revolving credit facility will be repaid upon maturity of the credit agreement in September 2023.

(2)

Amounts represent estimated contractual interest payments on outstanding debt. Interest rates in effect as of May 2, 2020 are used for floating-rate debt.

$

$

—
5.7
2.8
0.2
2.0
10.7

We enter into agreements with suppliers to assist us in meeting our customers' production needs. These agreements vary as to duration and quantity
commitments. Historically, most have been short-term agreements, which do not provide for minimum purchases, or are requirements-based contracts.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.
Legal Matters
For several years, Hetronic Germany-GmbH and Hydronic-Steuersysteme-GmbH (the “Fuchs companies”) served as our distributors for Germany,
Austria and other central and eastern European countries pursuant to their respective intellectual property licenses and distribution and assembly agreements. We
became aware that the Fuchs companies and their managing director, Albert Fuchs, had materially violated those agreements. As a result, we terminated all of our
agreements with the Fuchs companies. On June 20, 2014, we filed a lawsuit against the Fuchs companies in the Federal District Court for the Western District of
Oklahoma alleging material breaches of the distribution and assembly agreements and seeking damages, as well as various forms of injunctive relief. The
defendants filed counterclaims alleging breach of contract, interference with business relations and business slander. On April 2, 2015, we amended our complaint
against the Fuchs companies to add additional unfair competition and Lanham Act claims and to add additional affiliated parties.
A trial with respect to the matter began in February 2020. During the trial, the defendants dismissed their one
remaining counterclaim with prejudice. On March 2, 2020, the jury returned a verdict in our favor. The verdict
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included approximately $102 million in compensatory damages and $11 million in punitive damages. On April 22, 2020, the Court entered a permanent injunction
barring defendants from selling infringing products and ordering them to return Hetronic’s confidential information. Defendants appealed entry of the permanent
injunction. On May 29, 2020, the Court held defendants in contempt for violating the permanent injunction and entered the final judgment. The final judgment is
subject to post-trial motions and possible appeal. Once the automatic stay has expired and assuming that defendants are not granted a further stay pending appeal,
we will work with counsel to collect on the judgment. As with any judgment, particularly any judgment involving defendants outside of the United States, there is
no guarantee that we will be able to collect the judgment.
We incurred legal fees of $5.4 million, $3.5 million and $8.1 million in fiscal 2020, fiscal 2019 and fiscal 2018, respectively, related to the lawsuits.
These amounts are included in the selling and administrative expenses and as part of the Industrial segment.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note 1, “Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” to
the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires that we make
estimates and assumptions that can affect amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and notes. In preparing our consolidated financial statements,
we have made our best estimates and judgments of certain amounts included in the consolidated financial statements. We base our estimates on historical
experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable. The full impact of the COVID-19 pandemic is unknown and cannot be reasonably
estimated for these key estimates and assumptions. However, we made appropriate accounting estimates based on the facts and circumstances available as of the
reporting date. To the extent that there are differences between these estimates and actual results, our consolidated financial statements may be materially affected.
Revenue Recognition. Most of our revenue is recognized at a point in time. We have determined that the most definitive demonstration that control has
transferred to a customer is physical shipment or delivery, depending on the contractual shipping terms, except for consignment transactions. Consignment
transactions are arrangements where we transfer products to a customer location but retain ownership and control of such product until it is used by the customer.
Revenue for consignment arrangements is recognized upon the customer’s usage.
Revenues associated with products which we believe have no alternative use, and where we have an enforceable right to payment, are recognized on an
over time basis. We believe the most faithful depiction of the transfer of goods to the customer is based on progress to date, which is typically smooth throughout
the production process. As such, we recognize revenue evenly over the production process through transfer of control to the customer.
In addition, customers typically negotiate annual price downs. Management has evaluated these price downs and determined that in some instances,
these price downs give rise to a material right. In instances that a material right exists, a portion of the transaction price is allocated to the material right and
recognized over the life of the contract.
Allowance for Excess and Obsolete Inventory. Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value and have been reduced by allowances
for excess and obsolete inventories. The estimated allowances are based on our review of inventories on hand compared to estimated future usage and sales, using
assumptions about future product life cycles, product demand and market conditions. If actual product life cycles, product demand and market conditions are less
favorable than those projected by us, inventory write-downs may be required.
Business Combinations. Accounting for business combinations requires us to recognize separately from goodwill the assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed at their acquisition date fair values. Goodwill as of the acquisition date is measured as the excess of consideration transferred over the net of the
acquisition date fair values of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. While we use our best estimates and assumptions to accurately value assets acquired
and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date, our estimates are inherently uncertain and, as a result, actual results may differ from estimates.
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Accounting for business combinations requires us to make significant estimates and assumptions, especially at the acquisition date including our
estimates for intangible assets, contractual obligations assumed and pre-acquisition contingencies. Although we believe the assumptions and estimates we have
made in the past have been reasonable and appropriate, they are based in part on historical experience and information obtained from the management of the
acquired companies and are inherently uncertain.
Impairment of Goodwill. Goodwill is not amortized but is tested for impairment on at least an annual basis. Goodwill is evaluated at the reporting unit
level by comparing the fair value of the reporting unit to its carrying amount including goodwill. An impairment of goodwill exists if the carrying amount of the
reporting unit exceeds its fair value. The impairment loss is the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value, limited to the total
amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. In performing the goodwill impairment test, we have the option to first assess qualitative factors to determine
whether the existence of events or circumstances leads to a determination that it is more likely than not that the estimated fair value of a reporting unit is less than
its carrying amount.
Qualitative factors include, but are not limited to, the results of prior year fair value calculations, the movement of our share price and market
capitalization, the reporting unit and overall financial performance, and macroeconomic and industry conditions. We consider the qualitative factors and weight of
the evidence obtained to determine if it is more likely than not that a reporting unit's fair value is less than the carrying amount. If, after assessing the qualitative
factors, we were to determine that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value, then a quantitative assessment is
performed. We may also elect to proceed directly to the quantitative assessment without considering such qualitative factors.
For the quantitative assessment, fair values are primarily established using a discounted cash flow methodology (specifically, the income approach and
market approach). The determination of discounted cash flows is based on our long-range forecasts and requires assumptions related to revenue and operating
income growth, asset-related expenditures, working capital levels, and other market participant assumptions. The revenue growth rates included in the forecasts are
our best estimates based on current and anticipated market conditions, and the profitability assumptions are projected based on current and anticipated cost
structures. Long-range forecasting involves uncertainty which increases with each successive period. Key assumptions, such as revenue growth rates and
profitability, especially in the outer years, involve a greater degree of uncertainty.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets. We continually evaluate whether events and circumstances have occurred which indicate that the remaining estimated
useful lives of our intangible assets, excluding goodwill, and other long-lived assets, may warrant revision or that the remaining balance of such assets may not be
recoverable. If impairment indicators exist, we perform an impairment analysis by comparing the undiscounted cash flows resulting from the use of the asset group
to the carrying amount. If the carrying amount exceeds the undiscounted cash flows, an impairment loss is recognized based on the excess of the asset’s carrying
amount over its fair value.
Income Taxes. As part of the process of preparing our consolidated financial statements, we are required to calculate income taxes in each of the
jurisdictions in which we operate. The process involves determining actual current tax expense, along with assessing temporary differences resulting from the
differing treatment of items for book and tax purposes. These temporary differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities, which are included in our
consolidated balance sheets.
We provide for taxes that may be payable if undistributed earnings of overseas subsidiaries were to be remitted to the U.S., except for those earnings
that we consider to be permanently reinvested. However, we continue to monitor the impacts of U.S. Tax Reform, including yet to be issued regulations and
interpretations, on the tax consequences of future repatriations. Future sales of foreign subsidiaries are not exempt from capital gains tax in the U.S. under U.S. Tax
Reform. We have no plans to dispose of any of our foreign subsidiaries and are not recording deferred taxes on outside basis differences in foreign subsidiaries for
the sale of a foreign subsidiary.
We record a valuation allowance to reduce our deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized. We evaluate our ability to
realize the tax benefits associated with deferred tax assets by assessing the adequacy of future expected taxable income, including the reversal of existing temporary
differences, historical and projected operating results, and the availability of prudent and feasible tax planning strategies. The realization of tax benefits is evaluated
by
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jurisdiction and the realizability of these assets can vary based on the character of the tax attribute and the carryforward periods specific to each jurisdiction. In the
event we were to determine that we would be able to realize our deferred tax assets in the future in excess of its net recorded amount, an adjustment to the deferred
tax asset would decrease income tax expense in the period a determination was made. Likewise, should we determine that we would not be able to realize all or part
of our net deferred tax asset in the future, an adjustment to the deferred tax asset would be recorded to income tax expense in the period such determination was
made.
The amount of income taxes we pay is subject to ongoing audits by federal, state and foreign tax authorities. Our estimate of the potential outcome of
any uncertain tax issue is subject to management’s assessment of relevant risks, facts, and circumstances existing at that time. We use a more-likely-than-not
threshold for financial statement recognition and measurement of tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. We record a liability for the difference
between the benefit recognized and measured and tax position taken or expected to be taken on our tax return. To the extent that our assessment of such tax
positions changes, the change in estimate is recorded in the period in which the determination is made. We report tax-related interest and penalties as a component
of income tax expense.
Contingencies. We are subject to various investigations, claims and legal and administrative proceedings covering a wide range of matters that arise in
the ordinary course of business activities. A significant amount of judgment and use of estimates is required to quantify our ultimate exposure in these matters. For
those matters that we can estimate a range of loss, we have established reserves at levels within that range to provide for the most likely scenario based upon
available information. The valuation of reserves for contingencies is reviewed on a quarterly basis to ensure that we are properly reserved. Reserve balances are
adjusted to account for changes in circumstances for ongoing issues and the establishment of additional reserves for emerging issues. While we believe that the
current level of reserves is adequate, changes in the future could impact these determinations.
New Accounting Pronouncements
For more information regarding new applicable accounting pronouncements, see Note 1, "Description of Business and Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies," to the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
We are exposed to market risks from foreign currency exchange, interest rates, and commodity prices, which could affect our operating results, financial
position and cash flows. We manage a portion of these risks through use of derivative financial instruments in accordance with our policies. We do not enter into
derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.
Foreign Currency Risk
We are exposed to foreign currency risk on sales, costs and assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. We seek to
manage our foreign exchange risk largely through operational means, including matching revenue with same-currency costs and assets with same-currency
liabilities. We currently transact business in eight primary currencies worldwide, of which the most significant were the U.S. dollar, the euro, the Mexican peso,
and the Chinese renminbi. A hypothetical 10% adverse change in foreign currency exchange rates could have impacted our income before income taxes by $9.0
million and $8.5 million at May 2, 2020 and April 27, 2019, respectively. These estimates assume no changes other than the exchange rate itself. However, this
quantitative measure has inherent limitations. The sensitivity analysis disregards the possibility that rates can move in opposite directions and that gains from one
currency may or may not be offset by losses from another currency.
The translation of the assets and liabilities of our international subsidiaries is made using the foreign currency exchange rates as of the end of the fiscal
year. Translation adjustments are not included in determining net income but are included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) within shareholders’
equity on the consolidated balance sheets until a sale or substantially complete liquidation of the net investment in the international subsidiary takes place. As of
May 2, 2020, the cumulative net currency translation adjustments reduced shareholders’ equity by $26.9 million and as of April 27, 2019, the cumulative net
currency translation adjustments reduced shareholders’ equity by $13.6 million. In addition, in April 2020, we
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entered into a Euro denominated cross-currency swap as a net investment hedge to reduce exposure to translational exchange rate risk. As of May 2, 2020, we
recorded a deferred loss, net of tax, of $1.0 million related to the cross-currency swap.
Interest Rate Risk
We are exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates. The interest rate risk for our senior unsecured credit agreement, under which we had
$339.7 million of net borrowings at May 2, 2020, is variable and is based on LIBOR. We estimate that a 1% increase in interest rates under our senior unsecured
credit agreement would result in increased annual interest expense of $3.4 million.
Commodity Price Risk
We are exposed to commodity price risk primarily on our raw material purchases. These raw materials are not rare or unique to our industry. The cost of
copper, resins, and other commodities, such as fuel and energy, has fluctuated in recent years due to changes in global supply and demand. Our gross margins could
be affected if these types of costs continue to fluctuate. We actively manage these raw material costs through global sourcing initiatives and price increases on our
products. However, in the short-term, rapid increases in raw material costs can be very difficult to offset with price increases because of contractual agreements
with our customers.
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
The consolidated financial statements and supplementary data are filed within this Annual Report under Item 15, “Exhibits, Financial Statement
Schedules.”
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management, under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, performed an
evaluation of the effectives of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of May 2, 2020. As defined in Rules 13a-15(e) under the
Exchange Act, disclosure controls and procedures are controls and procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance that the information required to be
disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in
the SEC’s applicable rules and forms. Based upon this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective as of May 2, 2020.
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Under the supervision of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, management conducted an evaluation of the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of May 2, 2020 based on the guidelines established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework
(2013 Framework) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission ("COSO"). Our internal control over financial reporting
includes policies and procedures that provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external reporting purposes in accordance with U.S. GAAP.
Based upon this evaluation, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of May 2, 2020. Management
reviewed the results of its assessment with the Audit Committee. Our independent registered public accounting firm, Ernst & Young LLP, has issued an attestation
report on our internal control over financial reporting. This report is included on page F-4 of this Annual Report.
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by paragraph (d) of
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15 or 15d-15 that was conducted during the last fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect,
our internal control over financial reporting.
Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls
Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, do not expect that our disclosure controls or our internal control
over financial reporting will prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not
absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints,
and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can
provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company have been detected. These inherent limitations include the
realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of a simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be
circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people or by a management override of the controls. The design of any system of
controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving
its stated goals under all potential future conditions; over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with
policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not
be detected.
Item 9B. Other Information
Change of Control Agreement with Joseph Khoury.
Effective as of June 26, 2020, the Company and Joseph E. Khoury entered into a Change of Control Agreement (the “Change of Control Agreement”).
Pursuant to the Change of Control Agreement, if within two years of a Change of Control (as defined in the Change of Control Agreement), or during a period
pending a Change of Control, the Company terminates Mr. Khoury’s employment without Good Cause (as defined in the Change of Control Agreement) or the
executive voluntarily terminates his employment for Good Reason (as defined in the Change of Control Agreement), Mr. Khoury is entitled to the following: (i) a
lump sum payment in an amount equal to two times his base salary; (ii) a lump sum payment equal to two times the lesser of: (a) his target bonus amount for the
fiscal year in which the termination occurs, or (b) the bonus he earned in the prior fiscal year; and (iii) continued participation in the Company’s welfare benefit
plans for up to two years. A copy of the Change of Control Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit 10.22, and this description is qualified by reference to the full
text of the Change of Control Agreement.
Executive Officer Transition Award Agreements.
Effective as of June 26, 2020, the Company entered into Transition Award Agreements with Messrs. Duda, Tsoumas and Khoury (the “Transition
Agreements”). The Transition Agreements provide for a cash opportunity equal to a multiple of the executive’s base salary as follows: Mr. Duda, 2.0 times; Mr.
Tsoumas, 1.5 times; and Mr. Khoury, 1.75 times. If the executive remains employed by the Company and maintains satisfactory job performance, forty percent 
(40%) of the transition award will be paid on April 30, 2022 and sixty percent (60%) will be paid on April 29, 2023. If the executive is terminated for cause, resigns
or retires prior to April 29, 2023, the executive must repay any transition award amounts paid prior to the termination date. If the executive is terminated without
cause, dies or becomes disabled prior to such date, the executive is entitled to any unpaid portion of the transition award. A copy of the Form Transition Award
Agreement is attached hereto as Exhibit 10.23 and this description is qualified by reference to the full text of the Form Transition Award Agreement.
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PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
The information required by this item regarding our directors and corporate governance matters is incorporated by reference herein to the definitive
proxy statement for our 2020 annual meeting under the captions “Proposal One Election of Directors” and “Corporate Governance”. The information required by
this item regarding our executive officers appears as a supplementary item following Item 4 under Part I of this Annual Report. The information required by this
item regarding compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act and information regarding our Audit Committee is incorporated by reference herein to the
definitive proxy statement for our 2020 annual meeting under the captions “Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports” and “Audit Committee Matters,” respectively.
We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct (the “Code”) that applies to our directors, our principal executive officer, principal financial officer,
principal accounting officer or controller and persons performing similar functions, as well as other employees. The Code is publicly available on our website at
www.methode.com. If we make any substantive amendments to the Code or grant any waiver, including any implicit waiver, from a provision of the Code to our
principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller or persons performing similar functions, we will disclose the nature
of such amendment or waiver on our website or in a report on Form 8-K in accordance with applicable rules and regulations. The information contained on our
website is not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report.
Item 11. Executive Compensation
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference herein to the definitive proxy statement for our 2020 annual meeting under the
captions “Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” “Compensation Committee Report,” “Executive Compensation Tables” and “Director Compensation”.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
Except as set forth herein, the information required by this item is incorporated by reference herein to the definitive proxy statement for our 2020 annual
meeting under the caption “Security Ownership”.
Equity Compensation Plan Information
The following table provides information about our equity compensation plans as of May 2, 2020. All outstanding awards relate to our common stock.
Shares issued under all of the following plans may be from our treasury, newly issued or both.
Number of
securities to be
issued upon
exercise of
outstanding
options, warrants
and rights

Plan category

Equity Compensation Plans Approved by Security Holders
Equity Compensation Plans Not Approved by Security Holders
Total
(1)

109,768
—
109,768

Weightedaverage
exercise price
of outstanding
options, warrants
and rights

$

35.76(1)
—
35.76

Number of
securities remaining
available for future
issuance under
equity compensation
plans (excluding
securities reflected
in the first column)

1,897,442
—
1,897,442

The weighted-average exercise price set forth in this column is calculated excluding outstanding restricted stock awards and restricted stock units, since
recipients are not required to pay an exercise price to receive the shares subject to these awards.
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Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference herein to the definitive proxy statement for our 2020 annual meeting under the
captions “Corporate Governance” and “Other Information”.
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services
The information required by this item is incorporated by reference herein to the definitive proxy statement for our 2020 annual meeting under the
caption “Audit Committee Matters”.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
(a)

(1) Consolidated Financial Statements.
Reference is made to the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements on Page F-1.
(2) Consolidated Financial Statement Schedule.
Reference is made to the Index to Financial Statement Schedule on Page F-1.
(3) Exhibits.
EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
Number

3.1
3.2
4.1
4.2
10.1*
10.2*
10.3*
10.4*

10.5*

10.6*

10.7*

10.8*

Description

Certificate of Incorporation of Registrant, as amended and currently in effect (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on January 9, 2004).
Bylaws of Registrant, as amended and currently in effect (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form
8-K filed on June 19, 2020).
Article Fourth of Certificate of Incorporation of Registrant, as amended and currently in effect (included in Exhibit 3.1)
Description of Capital Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on June 20, 2019).
Methode Electronics, Inc. 2004 Stock Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
December 7, 2004).
Change in Control Agreement dated September 1, 2006 between Methode Electronics, Inc. and Donald W. Duda (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 6, 2006).
Change in Control Agreement dated September 14, 2006 between Methode Electronics, Inc. and Timothy R. Glandon (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 18, 2006).
Amended and Restated Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Executive Award/Performance Based) effective as of June 18, 2004 between
Methode Electronics, Inc. and Donald W. Duda (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
filed on March 2, 2007).
Amended and Restated Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Executive Award/Cliff Vesting) effective as of June 18, 2004 between
Methode Electronics, Inc. and Donald W. Duda (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
filed on March 2, 2007).
Amended and Restated Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Executive Award/Performance Based) effective as of June 15, 2005 between
Methode Electronics, Inc. and Donald W. Duda (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on April 6, 2007).
Amended and Restated Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Executive Award/Performance Based) effective as of August 7, 2006
between Methode Electronics, Inc. and Donald W. Duda (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form
8-K filed on April 6, 2007).
Methode Electronics, Inc. 2007 Stock Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
September 19, 2007).

10.9*

10.10*
10.11*
10.12*
10.13*
10.14*

Change in Control Agreement dated July 15, 2008 between Methode Electronics, Inc. and Ronald L. G. Tsoumas (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.30 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on July 17, 2008).
Form of Amendment to Change in Control Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8K filed on July 20, 2009).
Methode Electronics, Inc. 2010 Stock Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
October 20, 2010).
Under the 2010 Stock Plan, Form of Methode Electronics, Inc. Non-Qualified Stock Option Form Award Agreement (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 20, 2010).
Form of Methode Electronics, Inc. Form of Amendment to Change in Control Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 12, 2010).
Methode Electronics, Inc. 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form
8-K filed on September 22, 2014).
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10.15*

10.16*
10.17*

2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan Performance Based Restricted Stock Form Award Agreement - Executive Officer (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 9, 2015).
2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan - Restricted Stock Unit Form Award Agreement - Executive Officer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2
to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 9, 2015).
Form of Amendment to Change in Control Agreement dated November 8, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on December 10, 2015).

10.18
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of September 12, 2018 among the Company, Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative
Agent, Swing Line Lender and L/C Issuer, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as L/C Issuer, the Other Lenders Party Hereto and Bank
of America Merrill Lynch, as Sole Lead Arranger and Sole Bookrunner (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on September 13, 2018).
10.19*
Form of First Amendment to Performance Based Restricted Stock Award Agreement dated as of July 19, 2017 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 24, 2017).
10.20*
Change in Control Agreement dated June 14, 2017 between Methode Electronics, Inc. and Andrea Barry (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.22 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on June 21, 2018).
10.21*

10.22*
10.23*
21
23
31.1
31.2
32
101.INS**
101.SCH***
101.CAL***
101.LAB***
101.PRE***
101.DEF***
104**
*

Change in Control Agreement dated as of December 7, 2018 between the Company and Anil Shetty (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2
to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on March 7, 2019).
Change in Control Agreement dated as of June 26, 2020 between the Company and Joseph Khoury.
Form of Transition Award Agreement.
Subsidiaries of Methode Electronics, Inc.
Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.
Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Principal Executive Officer.
Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Principal Financial Officer.
Certification of Periodic Financial Report Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.
Inline XBRL Instance Document – the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because XBRL tags are embedded
within the Inline XBRL Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL Document)

Management Compensatory Plan

** As provided in Rule 406 of Regulation S-T, this information is deemed not filed as part of a registration statement or prospectus for purposes of sections 11 or
12 of the Securities Act of 1933, and is deemed not filed for purposes of section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and is otherwise not subject to liability
under those sections.
*** Submitted electronically with the Report
Item 16. Form 10-K Summary
None.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this annual report on Form
10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
METHODE ELECTRONICS, INC.
(Registrant)
By: /s/ RONALD L.G. TSOUMAS
Ronald L.G. Tsoumas
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
Dated: June 30, 2020
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report annual report on Form 10-K has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signature

Title

Date

/s/ WALTER J. ASPATORE
Walter J. Aspatore

Chairman of the Board

June 25, 2020

/s/ LAWRENCE B. SKATOFF
Lawrence B. Skatoff

Vice Chairman of the Board

June 25, 2020

/s/ DONALD W. DUDA
Donald W. Duda

Chief Executive Officer, President & Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

June 30, 2020

/s/ RONALD L.G. TSOUMAS
Ronald L.G. Tsoumas

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

June 30, 2020

/s/ AMIT N. PATEL
Amit N. Patel

Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)

June 30, 2020

/s/ DAVID P. BLOM
David P. Blom

Director

June 25, 2020

/s/ THERESE M. BOBEK
Therese M. Bobek

Director

June 25, 2020

/s/ BRIAN J. CADWALLADER
Brian J. Cadwallader

Director

June 25, 2020

/s/ BRUCE K. CROWTHER
Bruce K. Crowther

Director

June 25, 2020

/s/ DARREN M. DAWSON
Darren M. Dawson

Director

June 25, 2020

/s/ ISABELLE C. GOOSSEN
Isabelle C. Goossen

Director

June 25, 2020

/s/ MARY A. LINDSEY
Mary A. Lindsey

Director

June 25, 2020

/s/ ANGELO V. PANTALEO
Angelo V. Pantaleo

Director

June 25, 2020

/s/ MARK D. SCHWABERO
Mark D. Schwabero

Director

June 25, 2020
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Methode Electronics, Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Methode Electronics, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of May 2, 2020 and April 27, 2019,
the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, shareholders' equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended May 2,
2020, and the related notes and financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a)(2) (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”).
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at May 2, 2020 and April 27,
2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended May 2, 2020, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal
control over financial reporting as of May 2, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) and our report dated June 30, 2020 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements
based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance
with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to
assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such
procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Critical Audit Matters
The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that was communicated or
required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2)
involved our especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments. The communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the
consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical
audit matter or on the account or disclosure to which it relates.
Valuation of Grakon Industrial Reporting Unit Goodwill
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Description of the
Matter

At May 2, 2020, the balance of the Company’s goodwill related to the Grakon Industrial reporting unit was $123.8 million. As
discussed in Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements, goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually or when impairment
indicators are present at the reporting unit.
Auditing management’s assessment of the estimated fair value of the Industrial reporting unit was complex and required the
involvement of valuation specialists due to the judgmental nature of the
assumptions utilized in the valuation process. The fair value estimate was sensitive to significant assumptions such as revenue growth
rates, EBITDA, and the discount rate. The estimate also included assumptions related to the terminal growth rate, capital expenditures,
working capital levels, and other market participant assumptions.

How We Addressed the
Matter in Our Audit

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of controls over the Company’s goodwill
fair value assessment process. This included testing controls over management’s review of the projected financial information and
other key assumptions used in the valuation model as well as controls over the carrying value of the Industrial reporting unit.
To test the fair value of the Industrial reporting unit, our audit procedures included, among others, evaluating the Company's use of the
income approach, testing the significant assumptions described above used to develop the prospective financial information, and testing
the completeness and accuracy of the underlying data. For example, we compared certain significant assumptions to current industry,
market and economic trends, historical performance, and other guideline companies within the same industry. We performed a
sensitivity analysis of the significant assumptions to evaluate the change in the fair value of the reporting unit resulting from changes in
the assumptions. We also assessed the historical accuracy of management’s forecasting process, and we also involved our valuation
specialists to assist in testing certain significant assumptions in the fair value estimate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1966.
Chicago, Illinois
June 30, 2020
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Methode Electronics, Inc.
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
We have audited Methode Electronic Inc. and subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of May 2, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal
Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In our
opinion, Methode Electronics, Inc. and subsidiaries’ (the Company) maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as
of May 2, 2020, based on the COSO criteria.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the 2020 consolidated
financial statements of the Company and our report dated June 30, 2020 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
Basis for Opinion
The Company's management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.
Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating
the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the
circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions
and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Chicago, Illinois
June 30, 2020
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METHODE ELECTRONICS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in millions, except share and per share data)
May 2,
2020

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Accounts Receivable, Less Allowance (2020 - $0.7 and 2019 - $0.9)
Inventories
Income Taxes Receivable
Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
LONG-TERM ASSETS
Property, Plant and Equipment, Net
Goodwill
Other Intangible Assets, Net
Operating Lease Assets, Net
Deferred Tax Assets
Pre-production Costs
Other Long-term Assets
TOTAL LONG-TERM ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS

$

$

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable
Accrued Employee Liabilities
Other Accrued Expenses
Short-term Operating Lease Liability
Short-term Debt
Income Tax Payable
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Long-term Debt
Long-term Operating Lease Liability
Long-term Income Taxes Payable
Other Long-term Liabilities
Deferred Tax Liabilities
TOTAL LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
TOTAL LIABILITIES
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Common Stock, $0.50 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized, 38,438,111 shares and 38,333,576 shares
issued as of May 2, 2020 and April 27, 2019, respectively
Additional Paid-in Capital
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss
Treasury Stock, 1,346,624 shares as of May 2, 2020 and April 27, 2019
Retained Earnings
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$

$

April 27,
2019

217.3
188.5
131.0
12.9
15.9
565.6
201.9
231.6
244.8
23.5
31.4
37.1
34.7
805.0
1,370.6

73.8
19.1
18.5
5.5
15.3
11.6
143.8

$

$

$

83.2
219.3
116.7
14.3
20.0
453.5
191.9
233.3
264.9
—
34.3
32.8
21.0
778.2
1,231.7

91.9
20.1
33.9
—
15.7
19.3
180.9

336.8
20.4
29.3
15.3
41.6
443.4
587.2

276.9
—
33.0
14.8
36.4
361.1
542.0

19.2
150.7
(26.9)
(11.5)
651.9
783.4
1,370.6

19.2
150.4
(13.6)
(11.5)
545.2
689.7
1,231.7

$
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METHODE ELECTRONICS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(in millions, except per share data)
Fiscal Year Ended
April 27,
2019
(52 Weeks)

May 2,
2020
(53 Weeks)

Net Sales

$

1,023.9

$

1,000.3

April 28,
2018
(52 Weeks)

$

908.3

Cost of Products Sold

741.0

734.5

668.7

Gross Profit

282.9

265.8

239.6

Selling and Administrative Expenses
Amortization of Intangibles

116.8
19.0

142.9
16.1

115.7
5.6

Income from Operations

147.1

106.8

118.3

Interest Expense, Net
Other Income, Net

10.1
(11.7)

Income before Income Taxes

148.7

103.6

123.8

25.3

12.0

66.6

Income Tax Expense

8.3
(5.1)

0.9
(6.4)

Net Income

$

123.4

$

91.6

$

57.2

Basic and Diluted Income per Share:
Basic
Diluted

$
$

3.28
3.26

$
$

2.45
2.43

$
$

1.54
1.52

Cash Dividends per Share

$

0.44

$

0.44

$

0.40

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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METHODE ELECTRONICS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(in millions)
Fiscal Year Ended
April 27,
2019
(52 Weeks)

May 2,
2020
(53 Weeks)

Net Income
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), Net of Tax:
Foreign Currency Translation Adjustments
Derivative Financial Instruments
Total Comprehensive Income

$

123.4

$

(12.3)
(1.0)
110.1

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$

91.6

$

(27.5)
—
64.1

April 28,
2018
(52 Weeks)

$

57.2

$

39.6
—
96.8
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METHODE ELECTRONICS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(in millions, except share data)
Common
Stock
Shares

Balance as of April 29, 2017
Earned Portion of Restricted Stock, Net of Tax
Withholding
Stock-based Compensation Expense
Exercise of Stock Options
Adoption of ASU 2016-09
Other Comprehensive Income
Net Income
Dividends on Common Stock
Balance as of April 28, 2018
Earned Portion of Restricted Stock, Net of Tax
Withholding
Stock-based Compensation Expense
Adoption of ASU 2014-09
Other Comprehensive Loss
Net Income
Dividends on Common Stock
Balance as of April 27, 2019
Earned Portion of Restricted Stock, Net of Tax
Withholding
Stock-based Compensation Expense
Other Comprehensive Loss
Net Income
Dividends on Common Stock
Balance as of May 2, 2020

38,133,925

Common
Stock

$

19.1

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

$

132.2

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

$

(25.7) $

Treasury
Stock

Retained
Earnings

(11.5) $

427.0

Total
Shareholders
Equity

$

541.1

51,095
—
13,333
—
—
—
—
38,198,353

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
19.1

—
4.0
0.3
—
—
—
—
136.5

—
—
—
—
39.6
—
—
13.9

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(11.5)

(0.2)
—
—
2.7
—
57.2
(14.7)
472.0

(0.2)
4.0
0.3
2.7
39.6
57.2
(14.7)
630.0

135,223
—
—
—
—
—
38,333,576

0.1
—
—
—
—
—
19.2

(0.1)
14.0
—
—
—
—
150.4

—
—
—
(27.5)
—
—
(13.6)

—
—
—
—
—
—
(11.5)

(1.7)
—
0.1
—
91.6
(16.8)
545.2

(1.7)
14.0
0.1
(27.5)
91.6
(16.8)
689.7

104,535
—
—
—
—
38,438,111

—
—
—
—
—
19.2

—
0.3
—
—
—
150.7

—
—
(13.3)
—
—
(26.9) $

—
—
—
—
—
(11.5) $

(0.4)
—
—
123.4
(16.3)
651.9 $

(0.4)
0.3
(13.3)
123.4
(16.3)
783.4

$

$

$

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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METHODE ELECTRONICS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in millions)
Fiscal Year Ended
April 27,
2019
(52 Weeks)

May 2,
2020
(53 Weeks)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net Income
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities:
Depreciation and Amortization
Stock-based Compensation Expense
Change in Cash Surrender Value of Life Insurance
Amortization of Debt Issuance Costs
Gain on Sale of Business/Investment/Property
Change in Deferred Income Taxes
Other
Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities:
Accounts Receivable
Inventories
Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets
Accounts Payable and Other Liabilities
NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

$

123.4

$

91.6

April 28,
2018
(52 Weeks)

$

57.2

48.3
0.3
—
0.7
(0.4)
8.0
(0.2)

43.3
14.0
(0.6)
0.5
(0.4)
(4.4)
0.2

28.1
4.0
(0.8)
—
(1.6)
(12.7)
—

27.4
(15.8)
(3.6)
(47.5)
140.6

1.5
(3.9)
(16.7)
(23.1)
102.0

2.8
(7.2)
8.2
39.8
117.8

INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of Property, Plant and Equipment
Acquisition of Businesses, Net of Cash Acquired
Acquisition of Technology Licenses
Sale of Business/Investment/Property
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

(45.1)
—
—
0.6
(44.5)

(49.8)
(422.1)
—
1.1
(470.8)

(47.7)
(130.9)
(0.7)
0.3
(179.0)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Taxes Paid Related to Net Share Settlement of Equity Awards
Repayments of Finance Leases
Debt Issuance Costs
Proceeds from Exercise of Stock Options
Cash Dividends
Proceeds from Borrowings
Repayment of Borrowings
NET CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Effect of Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and Cash Equivalents
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR

$

(0.4)
(0.7)
—
—
(16.3)
157.5
(98.4)
41.7
(3.7)
134.1
83.2
217.3

$

(1.7)
—
(3.1)
—
(16.3)
359.0
(120.5)
217.4
(11.5)
(162.9)
246.1
83.2

$

(0.3)
—
—
0.3
(14.7)
81.4
(79.4)
(12.7)
26.0
(47.9)
294.0
246.1

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION:
Cash paid during the year for:
Interest
Income Taxes, Net of Refunds

$
$

9.9
21.1

$
$

8.8
27.8

$
$

2.4
20.2

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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METHODE ELECTRONICS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1. Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Methode Electronics, Inc. (the "Company" or "Methode") is a global developer of custom engineered and application specific products and solutions
with manufacturing, design and testing facilities in Belgium, Canada, China, Egypt, Germany, India, Italy, Lebanon, Malta, Mexico, the Netherlands, Singapore,
Switzerland, the United Kingdom and the United States. The Company's primary manufacturing facilities are located in Dongguan and Shanghai, China; Cairo,
Egypt; Mriehel, Malta; and Monterrey and Fresnillo, Mexico. The Company designs, manufactures and markets devices employing electrical, radio remote control,
electronic, LED lighting, wireless and sensing technologies.
Impact of COVID-19. The COVID-19 pandemic has negatively affected the global economy, disrupted global supply chains, and created extreme
volatility and disruptions to capital and credit markets in the global financial markets. The Company began to see the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic at the
beginning of its fourth quarter of fiscal 2020 at its China manufacturing facilities, which were initially closed for a few weeks after the Chinese New Year. The
Company’s manufacturing facilities in China resumed operations later in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2020, but at lower capacity utilization. However, the major
impact to the Company’s business from the COVID-19 pandemic began in mid-March 2020, as the Company’s operations in North America and Europe were
adversely impacted by many customers suspending their manufacturing operations due to the COVID-19 pandemic. As a result, productions levels at the
Company’s major North American and European manufacturing facilities were significantly reduced to well below capacity, thus impacting the Company’s results
of operations during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2020. Some of our international locations received government assistance with respect to wages and other expenses.
The amounts received were not material and have been reported as other income.
The Company assessed certain accounting matters that require consideration of forecasted financial information, including, but not limited to, its
allowance for credit losses, the carrying value of the Company's goodwill, intangible assets, and other long-lived assets, and valuation allowances in context with
the information reasonably available to the Company and the unknown future impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic as of May 2, 2020 and through the date of this
report. As a result of these assessments, there were no impairments or material increases in credit allowances or valuation allowances that impacted the Company's
consolidated financial statements as of and for year ended May 2, 2020. However, the Company's future assessment of the magnitude and duration of the COVID19 pandemic, as well as other factors, could result in material impacts to the consolidated financial statements in future reporting periods.
Basis of Presentation. The Company's consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States ("GAAP").
Principles of Consolidation. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts and operations of the Company and its subsidiaries. All
significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
Financial Reporting Periods. The Company maintains its financial records on the basis of a 52- or 53-week fiscal year ending on the Saturday closest to
April 30. Fiscal 2020 represented 53 weeks and ended on May 2, 2020. Fiscal 2019 and 2018 represented 52 weeks and ended on April 27, 2019 and April 28,
2018, respectively. The following discussions of comparative results among periods should be reviewed in that context.
Use of Estimates. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Cash and Cash Equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents include all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less.
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Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. Accounts receivable are customer obligations due under normal trade terms and are
presented net of an allowance for doubtful accounts. The allowance for doubtful accounts is based upon past transaction history with customers, customer payment
practices and economic conditions. A change to the allowance for doubtful accounts may be required if a future event or other change in circumstances results in a
change in the estimate of the ultimate collectability of a specific account balance. The Company does not require collateral for its accounts receivable. When a
receivable balance is determined to be no longer collectible, it is written off against the allowance for doubtful accounts. Accounts receivable are generally due
within 30 days to 45 days. Credit losses relating to all customers have not been material.
Sales to General Motors Company ("GM") and Ford Motor Company ("Ford") in the Automotive segment, either directly or through their tiered
suppliers, represented a significant portion of the Company's business. As of May 2, 2020 and April 27, 2019, combined accounts receivable from GM and Ford
(including tiered suppliers) were approximately $32.4 million and $65.2 million, respectively.
Inventories: Inventories are stated at the lower-of-cost or net realizable value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out method. Finished products
and work-in-process inventories include direct material costs and direct and indirect manufacturing costs. The Company records reserves for inventory that may be
obsolete or in excess of current and future market demand. See Note 5, “Inventory” for additional information.
Property, Plant and Equipment: Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation, with the exception of assets acquired
through acquisitions, which are initially recorded at fair value. Equipment acquired under finance lease is recorded at the present value of the future minimum lease
payments. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of 5 to 40 years for buildings and building improvements and 3
to 15 years for machinery and equipment. Costs of additions and major improvements are capitalized, whereas maintenance and repairs that do not improve or
extend the life of the asset are charged to expense as incurred. See Note 6, “Property, Plant and Equipment” for additional information.
Business Combinations. The Company accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method. The purchase price of an acquired business is
allocated to its identifiable assets and liabilities based on estimated fair values. Determining the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed requires
management’s judgment, the utilization of independent appraisal firms and often involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions with respect to the
timing and amount of future cash flows, market rate assumptions, actuarial assumptions, and appropriate discount rates, among other items. Goodwill represents the
excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired, including the amount assigned to identifiable intangible assets. Identifiable intangible assets
with finite lives are amortized over their useful lives. Acquisition-related costs are expensed in the periods in which the costs are incurred. The results of operations
of acquired businesses are included in our consolidated financial statements from the acquisition date. See Note 4, “Acquisitions” for additional information.
Goodwill. Goodwill is not amortized but is tested for impairment on at least an annual basis. Goodwill is evaluated at the reporting unit level by
comparing the fair value of the reporting unit with its carrying amount including goodwill. An impairment of goodwill exists if the carrying amount of the reporting
unit exceeds its fair value. The impairment loss is the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value, limited to the total amount of
goodwill allocated to that reporting unit.
In performing the goodwill impairment test, the Company has the option to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether the existence of events
or circumstances leads to a determination that it is more likely than not that the estimated fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If it is more
likely than not that a reporting unit’s fair value is less than its carrying amount, or if the Company elects not to perform a qualitative assessment of a reporting unit,
the Company then compares the fair value of the reporting unit to the related net book value. See Note 7, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets” for additional
information regarding the Company’s goodwill impairment assessment for fiscal 2020.
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Amortizable Intangible Assets. Amortizable intangible assets consist primarily of fair values assigned to customer relationships and trade names.
Amortization is recognized over the useful lives of the intangible assets, generally up to 20 years, using the straight-line method. See Note 7, “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets” for additional information.
Impairment Long-Lived Assets. The Company continually evaluates whether events and circumstances have occurred which indicate that the remaining
estimated useful lives of its intangible assets, excluding goodwill, and other long-lived assets, may warrant revision or that the remaining balance of such assets
may not be recoverable. If impairment indicators exist, the Company performs an impairment analysis by comparing the undiscounted cash flows resulting from
the use of the asset group to the carrying amount. If the carrying amount exceeds the undiscounted cash flows, an impairment loss is recognized based on the excess
of the asset’s carrying amount over its fair value.
Pre-production Costs Related to Long-term Supply Arrangements. The Company incurs pre-production tooling costs related to products produced for its
customers under long-term supply agreements. At May 2, 2020 and April 27, 2019, the Company had $37.1 million and $32.8 million, respectively, of preproduction tooling costs related to customer-owned tools for which reimbursement is contractually guaranteed by the customer or for which the customer has
provided a non-cancelable right to use the tooling. Engineering, testing and other costs incurred in the design and development of production parts are expensed as
incurred, unless the costs are reimbursable, as specified in a customer contract. At May 2, 2020 and April 27, 2019, the Company had $19.0 million and $15.0
million, respectively, of Company owned pre-production tooling, which is capitalized within property, plant and equipment.
Derivative Financial Instruments. The Company recognizes derivative financial instruments on its consolidated balance sheet at fair value. The only
derivative financial instruments used by the Company are cross-currency swaps which are treated as a net investment hedge. For net investment hedges, the
effective portions of changes in the fair value of the derivative are included in other comprehensive income or loss in the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income, and the cumulative effect is included in the stockholders’ equity section of the consolidated balance sheets. The cumulative changes in fair value are
reclassified to the same line as the hedged item in the consolidated statements of income when the hedged item affects earnings. See Note 8, “Derivative
Instruments” for additional information.
Income Taxes. Income taxes are calculated using the asset and liability method, under which deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on
temporary differences between the financial statement amounts and the tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect in the years in which the
differences are expected to reverse. In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, the Company considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion
or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is primarily dependent upon the generation of future taxable
income. In determining whether an uncertain tax position exists, the Company determines, based solely on its technical merits, whether the tax position is more
likely than not to be sustained upon examination, and if so, a tax benefit is measured on a cumulative probability basis that is more likely than not to be realized
upon the ultimate settlement. In determining the provision for income taxes for financial statement purposes, the Company makes certain estimates and judgments
which affect its evaluation of the carrying value of its deferred tax assets, as well as its calculation of certain tax liabilities. See Note 11, “Income Taxes” for
additional information.
Revenue Recognition. The majority of the Company's revenue is recognized at a point in time. The Company has determined that the most definitive
demonstration that control has transferred to a customer is physical shipment or delivery, depending on the contractual shipping terms, with the exception of
consignment transactions. Consignment transactions are arrangements where the Company transfers product to a customer location but retains ownership and
control of such product until it is used by the customer. Revenue for consignment arrangements is recognized upon the customer’s usage.
Revenues associated with products which the Company believes have no alternative use, and where the Company has an enforceable right to payment,
are recognized on an over time basis. In transition to Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 606, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers,” the Company
noted some customers ordered highly customized parts in which the Company was entitled to payment throughout the manufacturing process. In accordance with
ASC 606, the Company has begun recognizing revenue over time for these customers as the performance obligation is satisfied. The Company believes the most
faithful depiction of the transfer of goods to the customer is based on progress to date, which is
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typically smooth throughout the production process. As such, the Company recognizes revenue evenly over the production process through transfer of control to the
customer.
In addition, customers typically negotiate annual price downs. Management has evaluated these price downs and determined that in some instances,
these price downs give rise to a material right. In instances that a material right exists, a portion of the transaction price is allocated to the material right and
recognized over the life of the contract.
Across all products, the amount of revenue recognized corresponds to the related purchase order and is adjusted for variable consideration (such as
discounts). Sales and other taxes collected concurrent with revenue-producing activities are excluded from revenue.
The Company’s performance obligations are typically short-term in nature. As a result, the Company has elected the practical expedient that provides an
exemption from the disclosure requirements regarding information about remaining performance obligations on contracts that have original expected durations of
one year or less.
Shipping and Handling Fees and Costs. Shipping and handling fees billed to customers are included in net sales, and the related costs are included in
cost of products sold.
Foreign Currency Translation. The functional currencies of the majority of the Company's foreign subsidiaries are their local currencies. The results of
operations of these foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars using average monthly rates, while the assets and liabilities are translated using period-end
exchange rates. The resulting translation adjustments are recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss. Exchange gains and losses arising from transactions
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the foreign subsidiary are included in the consolidated statements of income in other income, net.
Government Grants. The Company recognizes grant income in other income, net in the consolidated statements of income when it is considered that
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and the necessary qualifying conditions, as stated in the grant agreement, are met. The international
government grants are generally paid over a period of years and are recorded at amortized cost on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. As of May 2, 2020
and April 27, 2019, grant receivables outstanding (both current and long-term) were $18.7 million and $10.6 million, respectively. Additionally, as of May 2, 2020
and April 27, 2019, the Company has no deferred grant income.
Research and Development Costs. Costs associated with the enhancement of existing products and the development of new products are charged to
expense when incurred. Research and development expenses primarily relate to product engineering and design and development expenses and are classified as a
component of cost of goods sold on the consolidated statements of income. Research and development costs were $34.9 million, $41.2 million and $37.9 million
for fiscal 2020, fiscal 2019 and fiscal 2018, respectively.
Stock-Based Compensation. The Company recognizes compensation expense for the cost of awards of equity compensation using a fair value method in
accordance with ASC 718, "Stock-based Compensation." See Note 13, "Shareholders’ Equity," for additional information.
Product Warranty. The Company’s warranties are standard, assurance-type warranties only. The Company does not offer any additional service or
extended term warranties to its customers. As such, warranty obligations are accrued when its probable that a liability has been incurred and the related amounts are
reasonably estimable.
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Fair Value. ASC 820, "Fair Value Measurement," provides a framework for measuring fair value, which is defined as the price that would be received
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value hierarchy under ASC 820
requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs. The Company groups assets and liabilities at fair value in three levels as follows:
•
•
•

Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2 – Observable inputs other than quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 3 - Unobservable inputs in which little or no market activity exists, requiring the Company to develop its own assumptions that market
participants would use to value the asset or liability.

Assets and liabilities are classified based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurements. The Company reviews the fair
value hierarchy classification on a quarterly basis. Changes to the observability of valuation inputs may result in a reclassification of levels for certain securities
within the fair value hierarchy.
The carrying values of the Company's short-term financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable,
approximate their fair values because of the short maturity of these instruments.
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU")
2016-02, “Leases,” which amended authoritative guidance on leases and is codified in ASC 842. The amended guidance requires entities to record most leased
assets and liabilities on the balance sheet, and also retains a dual model approach for assessing lease classification and recognizing expense. The FASB
subsequently issued updates to provide clarification on specific topics, including adoption guidance, practical expedients and interim transition disclosure
requirements.
The Company adopted the standard on April 28, 2019, by applying the modified retrospective method without
restatement of comparative periods' financial information, as permitted by the transition guidance. Accordingly, the Company
has provided disclosures required by prior lease guidance for comparative periods. The adoption of this standard resulted in the
recognition of right-of-use assets of $27.6 million and related lease obligations of $28.1 million as of April 28, 2019. The
standard did not have a significant impact on the Company's operating results or cash flows.
The Company elected certain practical expedients, including the election not to reassess its prior conclusions about
lease identification, lease classification and initial direct costs, as well as the election not to separate lease and non-lease
components for arrangements where the Company is a lessee. Lastly, the Company elected to recognize a right-of-use asset and
related lease liability for leases with a lease term of 12 months or less for all classes of underlying assets. The Company
determines if an arrangement contains a lease at inception. Operating lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
For purposes of calculating operating lease obligations under the standard, the Company's lease terms may include
options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise such option. The
Company's leases do not contain material residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants. The discount rate used to
measure a lease obligation should be the rate implicit in the lease; however, the Company’s operating leases generally do not
provide an implicit rate. Accordingly, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate at lease commencement to determine
the present value of lease payments. The incremental borrowing rate is an entity-specific rate which represents the rate of
interest a lessee would pay to borrow on a collateralized basis over a similar term with similar payments. See Note 3,
"Leases," for additional information.
In August 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-12, “Targeted Improvements to Accounting for Hedging Activities,” which is intended to better align risk
management activities and financial reporting for hedging relationships. The standard eliminates the requirement to separately measure and report hedge
ineffectiveness and generally requires the entire change in the fair value of a hedging instrument to be presented in the same income statement line as the hedged
item. It also eases certain
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documentation and assessment requirements. The Company adopted ASU 2017-12 as of April 28, 2019 and the adoption had no impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.
In February 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-02, "Income Statement-Reporting Comprehensive Income (Topic
220): Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income." The amendments in this update
allow a reclassification from accumulated other comprehensive income to retained earnings for stranded tax effects resulting
from U.S. Tax Reform’s reduction of the U.S. federal corporate income tax rate. The Company adopted ASU 2018-02 as of April 28, 2019 and the adoption had no
impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
New Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, “Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 326) - Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial
Instruments.” The new standard requires the measurement and recognition of expected credit losses for financial assets held at amortized cost. It replaces the
existing incurred loss impairment model with an expected loss methodology, which will result in more timely recognition of credit losses. The standard will be
effective for the Company in the first quarter of fiscal 2021. The Company does not expect that the adoption of the standard will have a material impact on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements.
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-15, "Intangibles—Goodwill and Other—Internal-Use Software (Subtopic
350-40): Customer’s Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That Is a Service
Contract." The guidance in ASU 2018-15 clarifies the accounting for implementation costs in cloud computing arrangements. The standard will be effective for the
Company in the first quarter of fiscal 2021. The Company does not expect that the adoption of the standard will have a material impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, “Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820) – Disclosure
Framework – Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurement." The guidance in ASU 2018-13 changes
disclosure requirements related to fair value measurements as part of the disclosure framework project. The disclosure
framework project aims to improve the effectiveness of disclosures in the notes to the financial statements by focusing on
requirements that clearly communicate the most important information to users of the financial statements. The standard will be effective for the Company in the
first quarter of fiscal 2021. The Company does not expect that the adoption of the standard will have a material impact on the disclosures to the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.
In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, "Income Taxes - Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes
(Topic 740)," which simplifies the accounting for income taxes. The new guidance removes certain exceptions to the general
principles in ASC 740, such as recognizing deferred taxes for equity investments, the incremental approach to performing intraperiod tax allocation and calculating
income taxes in interim periods. The standard also simplifies accounting for income taxes under GAAP by clarifying and amending existing guidance, including
the recognition of deferred taxes for goodwill, the
allocation of taxes to members of a consolidated group and requiring that an entity reflect the effect of enacted changes in tax
laws or rates in the annual effective tax rate computation in the interim period that includes the enactment date. This guidance is
effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2020, and interim periods thereafter; however, early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently
assessing the potential impact of standard on its consolidated financial statements.
In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04, “Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial
Reporting.” ASU 2020-04 provides optional expedients and exceptions for applying GAAP to contract modifications and hedging relationships, subject to meeting
certain criteria, that reference LIBOR or another rate that is expected to be discontinued. ASU 2020-04 will be in effect through December 31, 2022. The Company
is currently assessing the potential impact of standard on its consolidated financial statements.
Note 2. Revenue
The Company is a global manufacturer of component and subsystem devices whose components are found in the primary end-markets of the aerospace,
appliance, automotive, commercial vehicle, construction, consumer and industrial
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equipment, communications (including information processing and storage, networking equipment and wireless and terrestrial voice/data systems), medical, rail
and other transportation industries.
The majority of the Company's revenue is recognized at a point in time. The Company has determined that the most definitive demonstration that
control has transferred to a customer is physical shipment or delivery, depending on the contractual shipping terms, except for consignment transactions.
Consignment transactions are arrangements where the Company transfers product to a customer location but retains ownership and control of such product until it
is used by the customer. Revenue for consignment arrangements is recognized upon the customer’s usage.
Revenues associated with products which the Company believes have no alternative use, and where the Company has an enforceable right to payment,
are recognized on an over time basis. The Company believes the most faithful depiction of the transfer of goods to the customer is based on progress to date, which
is typically smooth throughout the production process. As such, the Company recognizes revenue evenly over the production process through transfer of control to
the customer.
Customers typically negotiate annual price downs. Management has evaluated these price downs and determined that in some instances, these price
downs give rise to a material right. In instances that a material right exists, a portion of the transaction price is allocated to the material right and recognized over
the life of the contract.
Across all products, the amount of revenue recognized corresponds to the related purchase order. Revenue is adjusted for variable consideration (such as
discounts) as described further below. Sales and other taxes collected concurrent with revenue-producing activities are excluded from revenue.
Estimating total contract revenue may require judgment as certain contracts contain pricing discount structures, early payment discounts or other
provisions that can impact the transaction price. The Company generally estimates variable consideration utilizing the most likely amount to which we expect to be
entitled. When the contract provides the customer with the right to return eligible products, the Company reduces revenue at the point of sale using current facts
and historical experience by using an estimate for expected product returns. The Company adjusts these estimates at the earlier of when the most likely amount of
consideration that is expected to be received changes or when the consideration becomes fixed. Accordingly, an increase or decrease to revenue is recognized at
that time. The Company has elected the practical expedient for significant financing components, allowing the Company to not adjust the promised amount of
consideration for the effects of a financing component when payment terms are within one year from the time a performance obligation is satisfied. The Company's
customers' payment terms are typically 30-45 days from the time control transfers.
Costs to Fulfill/Obtain a Contract
The Company incurs pre-production tooling costs related to products produced for customers under long-term supply agreements. These costs are
capitalized and recognized into income upon acceptance. The Company concluded that pre-production tooling and engineering costs do not represent a promised
good or service under ASC 606, and as such, reimbursements received are accounted for as a reimbursement of the expense, not revenue. Prior to the adoption of
ASC 606, such reimbursements were accounted for as revenue.
The Company has not historically incurred material costs to obtain a contract. In the instances that costs to obtain contracts are incurred, the Company
will capitalize and amortize those over the life of the contract.
Contract Assets and Liabilities
The Company receives payment from customers based on the contractual billing schedule and specific performance requirements established in the
contract. Billings are recorded as accounts receivable when an unconditional right to the contractual consideration exists. A contract asset is an entity’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that the entity has transferred to a customer. A contract liability exists when the Company has received
consideration or the amount is due from the customer in advance of revenue recognition. Contract assets and contract liabilities are recognized in other current
assets and other liabilities, respectively, in the Company's consolidated balance sheets.
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Unbilled Receivables (Contract Assets) - Pursuant to the over-time revenue recognition model, revenue may be recognized prior to the customer being
invoiced. An unbilled receivable is recorded to reflect revenue that is recognized over time. Unbilled receivables were $0.5 million and $0.8 million as of May 2,
2020 and April 27, 2019, respectively. During fiscal 2020, $0.8 million of previously unbilled receivables were recorded into accounts receivable. There were no
impairments of contract assets as of May 2, 2020.
Deferred Revenue (Contract Liabilities) - For certain of the price reductions offered by the Company, the amount of the reduction cannot be attributed
entirely to production efficiencies gained. In these cases, the annual price-downs are considered to be material rights as the customer, as part of their current
contract, are purchasing an option that they would not have received without the contract to purchase future product. When a contract contains a material right, a
portion of the transaction price is allocated to the material right for which revenue recognition is deferred until the customer exercises its option. Deferred revenue
was $0.3 million as of both May 2, 2020 and April 27, 2019. Previously deferred revenue of $0.1 million was recorded into revenue during fiscal 2020.
Disaggregated Revenue Information
The following table represents a disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by segment and geographical location. Net sales are attributed
to regions based on the location of production. Though revenue recognition patterns and contracts are generally consistent, the amount, timing and uncertainty of
revenue and cash flows may vary in each reportable segment due to geographic and economic factors.

(Dollars in Millions)

Geographic Net Sales:
U.S.
Malta
China
Mexico
Other
Total Net Sales
Timing of Revenue Recognition:
Goods Transferred at a Point in Time
Goods Transferred Over Time
Total Net Sales

$

$
$
$

(Dollars in Millions)

Geographic Net Sales:
U.S.
Malta
China
Canada
Other
Total Net Sales
Timing of Revenue Recognition:
Goods Transferred at a Point in Time
Goods Transferred Over Time
Total Net Sales

Fiscal Year Ended May 2, 2020 (53 Weeks)
Industrial
Interface
Medical

Auto

330.9
113.2
74.4
104.7
88.9
712.1

$

675.4
36.7
712.1

$

$

$

$
$
$

373.0
116.4
78.2
87.8
79.3
734.7

$

704.4
30.3
734.7

$
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$

251.4
—
251.4

$

$

$

57.9
0.3
0.1
—
0.5
58.8

$

58.8
—
58.8

$

$

$

1.6
—
—
—
—
1.6

$

1.6
—
1.6

$

$

$

Fiscal Year Ended April 27, 2019 (52 Weeks)
Industrial
Interface
Medical

Auto

$

141.1
30.4
42.4
—
37.5
251.4

Total

$

$

110.3
31.8
35.3
13.8
15.6
206.8

$

206.8
—
206.8

$

$

$

56.1
0.3
0.2
—
1.1
57.7

$

57.7
—
57.7

$

$

$

531.5
143.9
116.9
104.7
126.9
1,023.9
987.2
36.7
1,023.9

Total

1.1
—
—
—
—
1.1

$

1.1
—
1.1

$

$

$

540.5
148.5
113.7
101.6
96.0
1,000.3
970.0
30.3
1,000.3
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Customer Concentration
Sales to GM and Ford in the Automotive segment, either directly or through their tiered suppliers, are shown below.
Fiscal Year Ended
April 27,
2019

May 2,
2020

Percentage of Net Sales:
GM
Ford

26.8%
10.7%

April 28,
2018

35.5%
11.6%

43.3%
12.3%

Note 3. Leases
The Company leases real estate, automobiles and certain equipment under both operating and finance leases. The Company does not have any
significant arrangements where it is the lessor. The majority of the Company's global lease portfolio represents leases of real estate, such as manufacturing
facilities, warehouses and buildings. As of May 2, 2020, the Company's leases have remaining lease terms of up to 11.3 years, some of which include optional
renewals or terminations, which are considered in the Company’s assessments when such options are reasonably certain to be exercised. Any variable payments
related to the lease will be recorded as lease expense when and as incurred. The Company’s lease payments are largely fixed. As of May 2, 2020, the operating
leases that the Company has signed but have not yet commenced are immaterial.
In addition to the operating lease assets presented on the consolidated balance sheets, assets under finance leases of $1.0 million are included in
property, plant and equipment, net on the consolidated balance sheets as of May 2, 2020. Finance lease obligations were $1.4 million as of May 2, 2020 and is split
between other accrued expenses for the short-term portion and other long-term liabilities for the long-term portion on the consolidated balance sheets. The
Company had an immaterial amount of finance lease expense in the year ended May 2, 2020.
The components of lease expense were as follows:
Fiscal Year Ended
May 2, 2020

(Dollars in Millions)

Lease Cost:
Operating Lease Cost
Variable Lease Cost
Total Lease Cost

$

9.0
1.3
10.3

$

Supplemental cash flow and other information related to operating leases was as follows:
Fiscal Year Ended
May 2, 2020

(Dollars in Millions)

Operating Cash Flows:
Cash Paid Related to Operating Lease Obligations
Non-cash Activity:
Right-of-use Assets Obtained in Exchange for Lease Obligations
Weighted-average Remaining Lease Term
Weighted-average Discount Rate

$
$
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Maturities of operating lease liabilities as of May 2, 2020, are shown below:
(Dollars in Millions)

Operating Leases

Fiscal Year:
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter
Total Lease Payments
Less: Imputed Interest
Present Value of Lease Liabilities

$

6.6
5.9
5.2
4.0
2.3
5.7
29.7
(3.8)
25.9

$

Disclosures related to periods prior to the adoption of ASC 842
Total rent expense was $7.6 million and $5.9 million in the years ended April 27, 2019 and April 28, 2018, respectively. Future minimum lease
payments for assets under operating leases as of April 27, 2019 were as follows:
(Dollars in Millions)

Operating Leases

Fiscal Years:
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter
Net Minimum Lease Payments

$

$

7.8
5.6
4.9
4.2
3.3
8.4
34.2

Note 4. Acquisitions
Acquisition of Grakon
On September 12, 2018, the Company acquired 100% of the stock of Grakon Parent, Inc. (“Grakon) for $422.1 million in cash, net of cash acquired.
The business, headquartered in Seattle, Washington, is a manufacturer of custom designed lighting solutions and highly styled engineered components. Grakon’s
manufacturing capabilities and products help diversify the Company's product offerings and expand the Industrial segment, which is a key component of the
Company's strategic direction. The accounts and transactions of Grakon have been included in the Automotive and Industrial segments in the consolidated financial
statements from the effective date of the acquisition. For goodwill impairment testing purposes, Grakon has been included in the Company's North American
Automotive and Grakon Industrial reporting units.
F-19

Table of Contents
During the second quarter of fiscal 2020, the Company completed the allocation of the purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
Based on the final allocation, goodwill decreased by $0.2 million from the preliminary amount reported in the Company's consolidated financial statements as of
April 27, 2019. The final allocation of the purchase price to the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed were:
(Dollars in Millions)

Cash
Accounts Receivable
Inventory
Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets
Intangible Assets
Goodwill
Pre-production Costs
Property, Plant and Equipment
Accounts Payable
Accrued Employee Liabilities
Other Accrued Expenses
Income Tax Payable
Deferred Income Tax Liability
Total Purchase Price

$

$

6.9
36.1
30.8
1.6
221.9
175.1
1.5
16.2
(19.4)
(4.4)
(7.6)
(0.3)
(29.4)
429.0

The following table presents details of the intangible assets acquired:
Fair Value at Date
of Acquisition

(Dollars in Millions)

Customer Relationships and Agreements - Significant Customer
Customer Relationships and Agreements - All Other Customers
Technology Licenses
Trade Names
Total

$

$
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125.0
17.7
22.2
221.9

Amortization
Period

19.5 years
19.5 years
11.7 years
8.5 years
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In fiscal 2019, acquisition-related costs of $15.4 million were incurred in relation to the acquisition of Grakon, of which $9.8 million was reported in
selling and administrative expenses and $5.6 million was reported in costs of products sold on the consolidated statements of income.
Fiscal 2018 Acquisitions
On July 27, 2017, the Company acquired 100% of the stock of Procoplast S.A. ("Procoplast") for $22.2 million in cash, net of cash acquired. The
business, located near the Belgian-German border, is an independent manufacturer of automotive assemblies.
On October 3, 2017, the Company acquired 100% of the outstanding common shares of Pacific Insight Electronics Corp. ("Pacific Insight") for $108.7
million in cash, net of cash acquired. Headquartered in Canada, Pacific Insight is a global solutions provider offering design, development, manufacturing and
delivery of lighting and electronic products and full-service solutions to the automotive and commercial vehicle markets.
The purchase price was allocated to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values as of the
acquisition dates. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of Procoplast and Pacific Insight are not deductible for tax purposes. The purchase price allocations were
finalized at the end of fiscal 2018 and are summarized as follows:
(Dollars in Millions)

Procoplast

Cash
Accounts Receivable
Inventory
Intangible Assets
Goodwill
Other Assets
Property, Plant and Equipment
Accounts Payable
Other Accrued Expenses
Short-term Debt
Other Long-term Liabilities
Long-term Debt
Deferred Income Tax Liability
Total Purchase Price

$

$

1.3
7.4
3.5
19.2
6.8
2.3
23.8
(4.9)
(2.1)
(3.2)
(2.1)
(20.6)
(7.9)
23.5

Pacific Insight

$

$

4.9
18.3
13.0
40.1
50.4
2.3
13.2
(7.9)
(3.7)
(0.8)
—
(3.4)
(12.8)
113.6

Total

$

$

6.2
25.7
16.5
59.3
57.2
4.6
37.0
(12.8)
(5.8)
(4.0)
(2.1)
(24.0)
(20.7)
137.1

Intangible assets acquired consisted of customer relationships, technology licenses and trademarks. The weighted average amortization period for the
acquired Procoplast and Pacific Insight intangible assets were 14.4 years and 10.7 years, respectively.
For goodwill impairment testing purposes, Procoplast is included in the Company's European Automotive reporting unit and Pacific Insight is included
in the Company’s North American Automotive reporting unit. The accounts and transactions of Procoplast and Pacific Insight have been included in the
Automotive segment in the consolidated financial statements from the effective date of each acquisition.
For both acquisitions, combined transaction costs of $6.8 million were incurred in fiscal 2018, of which $6.0 million was reported in selling and
administrative expenses and $0.8 million was reported in costs of products sold on the consolidated statements of income.
The following table presents unaudited supplemental pro forma results for fiscal 2019 and 2018 as if both the Grakon acquisition had occurred as of the
beginning of fiscal 2018 and the Pacific Insight acquisition had occurred as of the beginning of fiscal 2017. The unaudited pro forma information is presented for
information purposes only and is not indicative of the results of operations that would have been achieved if the acquisitions had taken place at such times. The
unaudited pro forma
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results presented below primarily include amortization charges for acquired intangible assets, depreciation adjustments for property, plant and equipment that has
been revalued, interest expense adjustments due to an increased debt level, adjustments for certain acquisition-related charges and related tax effects.
Fiscal Year Ended
April 27, 2019
April 28, 2018

(Dollars in Millions)

Revenues
Net Income

$
$

1,073.3
106.4

$
$

1,095.0
70.5

Note 5. Inventory
A summary of inventories is shown below:
May 2,
2020

(Dollars in Millions)

Finished Products
Work in Process
Raw Materials
Total Inventories

$

April 27,
2019

45.7
10.8
74.5
131.0

$

$

40.2
9.4
67.1
116.7

$

Note 6. Property, Plant and Equipment
A summary of property, plant and equipment is shown below:
May 2,
2020

(Dollars in Millions)

Land
Buildings and Building Improvements
Machinery and Equipment
Total Property, Plant and Equipment, Gross
Less: Accumulated Depreciation
Property, Plant and Equipment, Net

$

$

April 27,
2019

3.3
87.3
412.3
502.9
(301.0)
201.9

$

$

3.7
81.2
390.7
475.6
(283.7)
191.9

Depreciation expense was $29.3 million, $27.2 million and $22.5 million in fiscal 2020, fiscal 2019 and fiscal 2018, respectively. As of May 2, 2020
and April 27, 2019, capital expenditures recorded in accounts payable totaled $5.8 million and $6.4 million, respectively.
Note 7. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
Goodwill
The Company tests goodwill for impairment on an annual basis as of the beginning of the fourth quarter each year, or more frequently if indicators of
potential impairment exist. Goodwill impairment testing is conducted at the reporting unit level, which is generally defined as an operating segment or one level
below an operating segment (also known as a component), for which discrete financial information is available and segment management regularly reviews the
operating results of that reporting unit.
At the beginning of the fourth quarter of fiscal 2020, the Company performed a quantitative goodwill impairment test on its reporting units. The
Company utilizes a combination of the income approach and market value approach to estimate the fair value of a reporting unit. Cash flow projections are based
on management’s estimates of revenue growth rates and earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization ("EBITDA") margins, taking into
consideration business and market conditions for the countries and markets in which the reporting unit operates. The Company calculates the discount rate based on
a market-participant, risk-adjusted weighted average cost of capital, which considers industry specific rates of return on debt and equity capital for a target industry
capital structure, adjusted for risks associated with business size, geography and other factors specific to the reporting unit. The market value approach is based on
appropriate valuation multiples observed for the reporting unit’s guideline public companies.
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The goodwill impairment assessment indicated that it was more likely than not that the fair value of each of the reporting units exceeded its respective
carrying value. The Company does not believe that any of its reporting units are at risk for impairment. While the Company considered the impact from the
COVID-19 pandemic may have on its future cash flows when preparing its annual goodwill impairment test, the full extent of the impact that the COVID-19
pandemic will have on the Company's business, operations and financial condition is currently unknown. The Company will continue to assess its goodwill for
impairment as events and circumstances change. Any deterioration in the Company's forecasted revenue and EBITDA margins, could result in an impairment of a
portion or all of its goodwill. The amount of such impairment would be recognized as an expense in the period the goodwill is impaired.
A summary of the changes in goodwill by reportable segment is as follows:
(Dollars in Millions)

Automotive

Balance as of April 29, 2017
Acquisitions
Foreign Currency Translation
Balance as of April 28, 2018
Acquisitions
Foreign Currency Translation
Balance as of April 27, 2019
Acquisitions
Foreign Currency Translation
Balance as of May 2, 2020

$

Industrial

—
57.2
0.3
57.5
49.4
(0.6)
106.3
—
(0.1)
106.2

$

$

Total

1.6
—
0.1
1.7
125.9
(0.6)
127.0
(0.2)
(1.4)
125.4

$

$

1.6
57.2
0.4
59.2
175.3
(1.2)
233.3
(0.2)
(1.5)
231.6

$

A summary of goodwill by reporting unit is as follows:
May 2,
2020

(Dollars in Millions)

Grakon Industrial
North American Automotive
European Automotive
Other
Total

$

April 27,
2019

123.8
99.8
6.4
1.6
231.6

$

$

$

125.4
99.8
6.5
1.6
233.3

Other Intangible Assets, Net
The following tables present details of the Company's identifiable intangible assets:
As of May 2, 2020

(Dollars in Millions)

Definite-lived Intangible Assets:
Customer Relationships and Agreements
Trade Names, Patents and Technology Licenses
Total Definite-lived Intangible Assets
Indefinite-lived Intangible Assets:
Trade Names, Patents and Technology Licenses
Total Indefinite-lived Intangible Assets
Total Other Intangible Assets

Accumulated
Amortization

Gross

$

$
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243.5
75.3
318.8
1.8
1.8
320.6

$

$

(40.8)
(35.0)
(75.8)
—
—
(75.8)

Wtd. Avg.
Remaining
Amortization
Periods
(Years)

Net

$

$

202.7
40.3
243.0
1.8
1.8
244.8

16.5
7.8
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As of April 27, 2019

(Dollars in Millions)

Accumulated
Amortization

Gross

Definite-lived Intangible Assets:
Customer Relationships and Agreements
Trade Names, Patents and Technology Licenses
Total Definite-lived Intangible Assets
Indefinite-lived Intangible Assets:
Trade Names, Patents and Technology Licenses
Total Indefinite-lived Intangible Assets
Total Other Intangible Assets

$

$

244.5
75.5
320.0
1.8
1.8
321.8

$

$

(27.7)
(29.2)
(56.9)
—
—
(56.9)

Wtd. Avg.
Remaining
Amortization
Periods
(Years)

Net

$

$

216.8
46.3
263.1

17.4
8.4

1.8
1.8
264.9

The Company performed an impairment test for its indefinite-lived intangible asset and determined that no impairment existed at May 2, 2020. Based
on the current amount of intangible assets subject to amortization, the estimated aggregate amortization expense for each of the five succeeding fiscal years and
thereafter is as follows:
(Dollars in Millions)

Fiscal Year:
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter
Total

$

$

18.9
18.9
18.9
18.5
17.9
149.9
243.0

Note 8. Derivative Instruments
The Company is exposed to foreign currency risks that arise from normal business operations. The Company strives to control its exposure to these
risks through our normal operating activities and, where appropriate, through derivative instruments.
On April 14, 2020, the Company entered into a variable-rate, cross-currency swap, maturing on August 31, 2023, with a notional value of $60.0 million
(€54.8 million). The cross-currency swap is designated as a hedge of the Company's net investment in a euro-based subsidiary. The Company entered into the
cross-currency swap to mitigate changes in net assets due to changes in U.S. dollar-Euro spot exchange rates. As of May 2, 2020, the cross-currency swap was in a
net liability position with an aggregate fair value of $1.3 million and is recorded within other long-term liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.
The fair value of the cross-currency swap is classified within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. Hedge effectiveness is assessed at the inception of the
hedging relationship and quarterly thereafter, under the spot-to-spot method. The Company records changes in fair value attributable to the translation of foreign
currencies through accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). The Company amortizes the impact of all other changes in fair value of the derivative through
interest expense, which was not material in fiscal 2020.
Note 9. Retirement Benefits
Defined Contribution Plans
The Company has an employee 401(k) Savings Plan covering substantially all U.S. employees to which it makes contributions equal to 3% of eligible
compensation. In addition, certain of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries also have defined contribution savings plans. Company contributions to these plans were
$1.7 million, $1.5 million and $1.4 million fiscal 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
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Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation Plan
The Company maintains a non-qualified deferred compensation plan (“the NQDC Plan”) for certain eligible employees and members of the Board of
Directors. Under the NQDC Plan, participants may elect to defer up to 75% of their annual base salary and 100% of their annual cash incentive compensation, with
an aggregate minimum deferral of $3,000. The minimum period of deferral is three years. Participants are immediately 100% vested. The Company does not make
any contributions to the NQDC Plan.
The deferred compensation liability for the NDQC Plan was $5.4 million and $6.1 million as of May 2, 2020 and April 27, 2019, respectively. The
Company has purchased life insurance policies on certain employees, which are held in a Rabbi trust, on certain employees to potentially offset these unsecured
obligations. These life insurance policies are recorded at their cash surrender value of $6.6 million and $6.9 million as of May 2, 2020 and April 27, 2019,
respectively, and are included in other long-term assets in the consolidated balance sheets.
The Company also owns and is the beneficiary of a number of life insurance policies on the lives of former key executives that are unrestricted as to
use. These life insurance policies are recorded at their cash surrender value of $9.0 million and $8.6 million as of May 2, 2020 and April 27, 2019, respectively, and
are included in other long-term assets in the consolidated balance sheets.
The cash surrender value of the life insurance policies approximates its fair value and are classified within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.
Note 10. Debt
A summary of debt is shown below:
(Dollars in Millions)

May 2, 2020

Revolving Credit Facility
Term Loan
Other Debt
Unamortized Debt Issuance Costs
Total Debt
Less: Current Maturities
Total Long-term Debt

$

$

April 27, 2019

108.5
231.2
14.6
(2.2)
352.1
(15.3)
336.8

$

$

35.0
243.7
16.8
(2.9)
292.6
(15.7)
276.9

Revolving Credit Facility/Term Loan
In September 2018, the Company entered into five-year Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (“Credit Agreement”) with Bank of America, N.A.,
as Administrative Agent, and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. The Credit Agreement consists of a senior unsecured revolving credit facility (“Revolving Credit Facility”)
of $200.0 million and a senior unsecured term loan (“Term Loan”) of $250.0 million. In addition, the Company has an option to increase the size of the Revolving
Credit Facility and Term Loan by up to an additional $200.0 million, subject to customary conditions and approval of the lenders providing new commitments. The
Credit Agreement is guaranteed by the Company’s wholly-owned U.S. subsidiaries. For the Term Loan, the Company is required to make quarterly principal
payments of 1.25% of the original Term Loan ($3.1 million) through maturity, with the remaining balance due on September 12, 2023.
On March 23, 2020, the Company borrowed $100.0 million under its Revolving Credit Facility as a precautionary measure in order to increase its cash
position and preserve financial flexibility in light of the current uncertainty in the global markets resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic. As of May 2, 2020, the
Company has $91.4 million of availability under the Revolving Credit Facility.
Outstanding borrowings under the Credit Agreement bear interest at variable rates based on the type of borrowing and the Company’s debt to EBITDA
financial ratio, as defined. The weighted-average interest rate on outstanding borrowings under
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the Credit Agreement was approximately 1.7% at May 2, 2020. The Credit Agreement contains customary representations and warranties, financial covenants,
restrictive covenants and events of default. As of May 2, 2020, the Company was in compliance with all the covenants in the Credit Agreement. The fair value of
borrowings under the Credit Agreement approximates book value because the interest rate is variable.
Other Debt
One of the Company’s European subsidiaries has debt that consists of 15 notes with maturities ranging from 2020 to 2031. The weighted-average
interest rate was approximately 1.5% at May 2, 2020 and $2.8 million of the debt was classified as short-term. The fair value of other debt was $14.2 million at
May 2, 2020 and was based on Level 2 inputs on a non-recurring basis.
Scheduled Maturities
As of May 2, 2020, scheduled principal payments of debt are as follows:
(Dollars in Millions)

Amount

Fiscal Years:
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter
Total

$

15.3
14.6
13.7
307.5
0.4
2.8
354.3

$

Note 11. Income Taxes
Income Tax Provision
Details of the Company’s income tax provision are as follows:
Fiscal Year Ended
April 27,
2019
(52 Weeks)

May 2,
2020
(53 Weeks)

(Dollars in Millions)

Income (Loss) before Income Taxes:
Domestic Source
Foreign Source
Income before Income Taxes

$
$

Current Tax Provision (Benefit):
U.S. (Federal and State)
Foreign
Subtotal
Deferred Tax Provision (Benefit):
U.S. (Federal and State)
Foreign
Subtotal
Total Income Tax Expense

$

$

F-26

47.3
101.4
148.7

$

5.1
12.8
17.9

$

6.1
1.3
7.4
25.3

$

$

April 28,
2018
(52 Weeks)

(0.6)
104.2
103.6

$

(5.7)
21.5
15.8

$

2.5
(6.3)
(3.8)
12.0

$

$

11.4
112.4
123.8
46.8
18.8
65.6
11.6
(10.6)
1.0
66.6
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A reconciliation of the income tax expense to the prevailing statutory federal income tax rate (21.0% for 2020, 21.0% for 2019 and 30.5% for 2018) to
pre-tax earnings is as follows:
Fiscal Year Ended
April 27,
2019

May 2,
2020

(Dollars in Millions)

Income Tax at Statutory Rate
Effect of:
State Income Taxes, Net of Federal Benefit
Withholding Taxes
U.S. Tax Reform Transition Tax
Foreign Tax Differential
U.S. Tax on Foreign Income
Foreign Investment Tax Credit
Change in Tax Reserve
Change in Valuation Allowance
Tax Rate Change, Foreign
U.S. Tax Reform Re-measurements
Other, Net
Income Tax Expense
Effective Income Tax Rate

$

31.2

$

1.5
2.3
—
(8.3)
(1.0)
(0.8)
2.2
0.8
(0.1)
—
(2.5)
25.3
17.0%

$

21.8

$

(0.8)
1.8
(4.8)
(9.6)
3.4
(2.0)
(0.1)
—
—
—
2.3
12.0
11.6%

April 28,
2018

$

37.7

$

0.1
—
48.5
(15.3)
—
(9.8)
0.1
0.4
(1.5)
5.2
1.2
66.6
53.8%

The Company’s fiscal 2020 effective tax rate is primarily affected by the amount of income earned in the jurisdictions in which the Company operates,
the amount of tax credits earned, withholding taxes, tax reserves, and the current taxation of foreign earnings. The Company had a favorable impact from
operations in foreign countries with tax rates lower than the U.S. statutory tax rate. The Company earned $0.8 million in investment tax credits primarily related to
an investment in qualified expenditures. This was offset by a change in tax reserves of $2.2 million and foreign withholding taxes of $2.3 million.
On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”) was enacted in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. The
CARES Act, among other things, includes various income and payroll tax provisions, modifications to federal net operating loss rules, business interest deduction
limitations, and bonus depreciation eligibility for qualified improvement property. The Company does not expect there to be a significant tax impact on its
consolidated financial statements at this time and will continue to assess the implications of the CARES Act and its continuing developments and
interpretations.
In fiscal 2019, the effective tax rate was favorably impacted by the amount of income earned in foreign jurisdictions with lower tax rates and a
beneficial adjustment related to the finalization of U.S. Tax Reform of $4.8 million. This adjustment under SAB 118 primarily consists of changes in interpretations
and assumptions the Company made, additional regulatory guidance that was issued, and actions the Company took as a result of U.S. Tax Reform.
U.S. Tax Reform includes a new global intangible low-taxed income (“GILTI”) provision which requires the Company to include foreign subsidiary
earnings in its U.S. tax return starting in fiscal 2019. The Company has elected to recognize the tax on GILTI as a period expense in the period the tax is incurred.
In fiscal 2018, the U.S. enacted The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“U.S. Tax Reform”) making significant changes to U.S. corporate income tax laws. This
included a reduction in the statutory federal corporate income tax rate from 35.0% to 21.0%, an exemption for dividends received from certain foreign subsidiaries,
a one-time repatriation tax on deemed repatriated earnings from foreign subsidiaries, immediate expensing of certain depreciable tangible assets, and limiting the
deductibility of certain executive compensation.
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In fiscal 2018, the Company had a favorable impact from earnings in lower taxes jurisdictions. In addition, the Company recorded an unfavorable
provisional estimate on the effects of tax law changes in the U.S. due to U.S. Tax Reform of $53.7 million. This was partially offset by a tax law change and
recognition of additional foreign investment tax credits.
Deferred Income Taxes and Valuation Allowances
Significant components of the Company's deferred income tax assets and liabilities were as follows:
May 2,
2020

(Dollars in Millions)

Deferred Tax Liabilities:
Depreciation
Amortization
Foreign Tax
Lease Liabilities
Other Liabilities
Deferred Tax Liabilities, Gross
Deferred Tax Assets:
Deferred Compensation and Stock Award Amortization
Inventory Valuation Differences
Property Valuation Differences
Environmental Reserves
Lease Assets
Vacation Accruals
Foreign Investment Tax Credit
Net Operating Loss Carryovers
Foreign Tax Credits
Other
Deferred Tax Assets, Gross
Less Valuation Allowance
Deferred Tax Assets, Net of Valuation Allowance
Net Deferred Tax Liabilities

$

Balance Sheet Classification:
Long-term Asset
Long-term Liability
Net Deferred Tax Liabilities

April 27,
2019

(4.5)
(47.8)
(1.8)
(5.2)
(1.0)
(60.3)

$

7.0
2.7
0.8
0.2
5.7
—
25.9
12.9
—
1.9
57.1
(7.0)
50.1
(10.2)

$

31.4
(41.6)
(10.2)

$

(9.0)
(43.9)
(2.0)
—
(0.1)
(55.0)

$

8.6
1.9
1.6
0.3
—
0.4
28.2
13.8
1.1
3.3
59.2
(6.3)
52.9
(2.1)

$

34.3
(36.4)
(2.1)

The Company recorded a net deferred tax liability for U.S. and foreign income taxes of $10.2 million for fiscal 2020 and $2.1 million for fiscal 2019. In
assessing the realizability of the deferred tax assets, the Company considers whether it is more likely than not that some portion or the entire deferred tax asset will
be realized. Ultimately, the realization of the deferred tax asset is dependent upon the generation of sufficient earnings in future periods in which these temporary
items can be utilized. In that regard, the Company has a valuation allowance of $7.0 million related to certain state, federal, and foreign net operating loss
carryovers and other credits and determined that these deferred tax assets did not reach the more likely than not realizable standard.
At May 2, 2020, the Company had available $7.9 million of federal, $4.7 million of state, and $0.3 million of foreign net operating loss carryforwards
with a valuation allowance of $5.3 million of federal and $1.7 million of state. If unused, the U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards will expire in the years
2021 through 2034. The state net operating loss carryforwards will expire in the years 2021 through 2037.
The Company earns investment tax credits of 30.0% for certain qualified expenditures in foreign jurisdictions. Total unused credits are $25.9 million as
of May 2, 2020, all of which can be carried forward indefinitely.
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Indefinite Reinvestment
The Company has not provided for deferred income taxes on the undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries except for certain identified amounts.
The amount the Company expects to repatriate is based on a variety of factors including current year earnings of the foreign subsidiaries, foreign investment needs,
and U.S. cash flow considerations. The Company considers the remaining undistributed foreign earnings that are not specifically identified to be indefinitely
reinvested. It is not practicable to determine the amount of deferred tax liability on such foreign earnings as the actual tax liability is dependent on circumstances
that exist when the remittance occurs.
Unrecognized Tax Benefits
The Company operates in multiple jurisdictions throughout the world and the income tax returns of its subsidiaries in various jurisdictions are subject to
periodic examination by the tax authorities. The Company regularly assesses the status of these examinations and the various outcomes to determine the adequacy
of its provision for income taxes. The amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits totaled $5.2 million and $3.1 million at May 2, 2020 and April 27, 2019,
respectively. These amounts represent the amount of unrecognized benefits that, if recognized, would favorably impact the effective tax rate if resolved in the
Company’s favor. The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to income tax uncertainties in income tax expense. Accrued interest and penalties at May
2, 2020 and April 27, 2019 were not significant.
The following table presents a reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts of unrecognized tax benefits:
May 2,
2020

(Dollars in Millions)

Balance at Beginning of Fiscal Year
Increases for Positions Related to the Prior Years
Increases for Positions Related to the Current Year
Lapsing of Statutes of Limitations
Balance at End of Fiscal Year

$

$

April 27,
2019

3.1
1.9
0.3
(0.1)
5.2

$

$

1.4
1.8
0.9
(1.0)
3.1

At May 2, 2020, it is not possible to reasonably estimate the expected change to the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits in the next twelve
months.
The U.S. federal statute of limitations remains open for fiscal years ended on or after 2017 and for state tax purposes on or after fiscal year 2013. Tax
authorities may have the ability to review and adjust net operating losses or tax credits that were generated prior to these fiscal years. In the major foreign
jurisdictions, fiscal 2013 and subsequent periods remain open and subject to examination by taxing authorities.
Note 12. Commitments and Contingencies
Environmental Matters
The Company is not aware of any potential unasserted environmental claims that may be brought against us. The Company is involved in environmental
investigations and/or remediation at two of our plant sites no longer used for operations. The Company uses environmental consultants to assist us in evaluating our
environmental liabilities in order to establish appropriate accruals in our financial statements. Accruals are recorded when environmental remediation is probable
and the costs can be reasonably estimated. A number of factors affect the cost of environmental remediation, including the determination of the extent of
contamination, the length of time remediation may require, the complexity of environmental regulations and the advancement of remediation technology.
Considering these factors, the Company has estimated (without discounting) the costs of remediation, which will be incurred over a period of several years.
Recovery from insurance or other third parties is not anticipated. The Company is not yet able to determine when such remediation activity will be complete, but
estimates for certain remediation efforts are projected through fiscal 2021.
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At May 2, 2020 and April 27, 2019, the Company had accruals, primarily based upon independent engineering studies, for environmental matters of
$0.9 million and $1.1 million, respectively. The accrual at May 2, 2020 consists of $0.6 million classified in other accrued expenses and the remainder was
included in other long-term liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet. The accrual at April 27, 2019 consists of $0.8 million classified in other accrued expenses
and the remainder was included in other long-term liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet. The Company believes the provisions made for environmental
matters are adequate to satisfy liabilities relating to such matters, however it is reasonably possible that costs could exceed accrued amounts if the selected methods
of remediation do not reduce the contaminates at the sites to levels acceptable to federal and state regulatory agencies.
In fiscal 2020, the Company spent $0.5 million on remediation cleanups and related studies, compared with $0.1 million in fiscal 2019 and $0.3 million
in fiscal 2018. The costs associated with environmental matters as they relate to day-to-day activities were not material in fiscal 2020, fiscal 2019 or fiscal 2018.
Litigation
The Company, from time to time, is subject to various legal actions and claims incidental to our business, including those arising out of alleged defects,
breach of contracts, patent infringement claims, employment-related matters and environmental matters. The Company considers insurance coverage and third
party indemnification when determining required accruals for pending litigation and claims. Although the outcome of potential legal actions and claims cannot be
determined, it is the opinion of the Company's management, based on the information available, that the Company has adequate reserves for these liabilities and
that the ultimate resolution of these matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company's consolidated financial statements.
Hetronic Germany-GmbH Matters
For several years, Hetronic Germany-GmbH and Hydronic-Steuersysteme-GmbH (the “Fuchs companies”) served as our distributors for Germany,
Austria and other central and eastern European countries pursuant to their respective intellectual property licenses and distribution and assembly agreements. The
Company became aware that the Fuchs companies and their managing director, Albert Fuchs, had materially violated those agreements. As a result, the Company
terminated all of its agreements with the Fuchs companies. On June 20, 2014, the Company filed a lawsuit against the Fuchs companies in the Federal District
Court for the Western District of Oklahoma alleging material breaches of the distribution and assembly agreements and seeking damages, as well as various forms
of injunctive relief. The defendants filed counterclaims alleging breach of contract, interference with business relations and business slander. On April 2, 2015, the
Company amended its complaint against the Fuchs companies to add additional unfair competition and Lanham Act claims and to add additional affiliated parties.
A trial with respect to the matter began in February 2020. During the trial, the defendants dismissed their one remaining counterclaim with prejudice. On March 2,
2020, the jury returned a verdict in favor of the Company. The verdict included approximately $102 million in compensatory damages and $11 million in punitive
damages. On April 22, 2020, the Court entered a permanent injunction barring defendants from selling infringing products and ordering them to return Hetronic’s
confidential information. Defendants appealed entry of the permanent injunction. On May 29, 2020, the Court held defendants in contempt for violating the
permanent injunction and entered the final judgment. The final judgment is subject to post-trial motions and possible appeal. Once the automatic stay has expired
and assuming that defendants are not granted a further stay pending appeal, the Company will work with counsel to collect on the judgment. Like any judgment,
particularly any judgment involving defendants outside of the United States, there is no guarantee that the Company will be able to collect the judgment.
Note 13. Shareholders’ Equity
Dividends
The Company paid dividends totaling $16.3 million in both fiscal 2020 and 2019, and $14.7 million in fiscal 2018.
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
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Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as the change in equity of a business enterprise during a period from transactions and other events and
circumstances from non-owner sources. A summary of changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax is shown below:

(Dollars in Millions)

Fiscal Year Ended
April 27, 2019

May 2, 2020

Currency Translation Adjustments:
Balance at Beginning of Year
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) Recognized During the Period, Net of Tax
Balance at End of Year

$

(13.6)
(12.3)
(25.9)

Derivative Instruments:
Balance at Beginning of Year
Other Comprehensive Loss Recognized During the Period, Net of Tax
Balance at End of Year

$

13.9
(27.5)
(13.6)

—
(1.0)
(1.0)

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), End of Period

$

(26.9)

April 28, 2018

$

(25.7)
39.6
13.9

—
—
—
$

(13.6)

—
—
—
$

13.9

Stock-Based Compensation
The Company has granted stock options, restricted stock awards (“RSAs”), restricted stock units (“RSUs”) and stock awards to employees and nonemployee directors under the Methode Electronics, Inc. 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan (“2014 Plan”), the Methode Electronics, Inc. 2010 Stock Plan (“2010 Plan”),
the Methode Electronics, Inc. 2007 Stock Plan (“2007 Plan”) and the Methode Electronics, Inc. 2004 Stock Plan (“2004 Plan”). The Company’s stockholders
approved the 2014 Plan in September 2014. The Company can no longer make grants under the 2010 Plan, 2007 Plan and 2004 Plan. The number of shares of
common stock originally authorized under the 2014 Plan is 3,000,000, less one share for every one share of common stock issued or issuable pursuant to awards
made after May 3, 2014 under the 2007 Plan or 2010 Plan. As of May 2, 2020, there were 1,897,442 shares available for award under the 2014 Plan.
Stock-Based Compensation Expense
All stock-based payments to employees and directors are recognized in selling and administrative expenses on the consolidated statements of income.
Awards subject to graded vesting are recognized using the accelerated recognition method over the requisite service period. The table below summarizes the stockbased compensation expense (benefit) related to the equity awards:

May 2, 2020
(53 Weeks)

(Dollars in Millions)

RSAs
RSUs
Director Awards
Total Stock-based Compensation Expense

$

$

(2.1)
1.5
0.9
0.3

Unrecognized
Compensation
Expense at

Fiscal Year Ended
April 27, 2019
(52 Weeks)

$

$

10.9
2.2
0.9
14.0

April 28, 2018
(52 Weeks)

$

$

(2.0)
5.0
1.0
4.0

May 2, 2020

$

$

2014 Plan
The 2014 Plan provides for discretionary grants of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock units and
performance units to key employees and directors. The 2014 Plan is intended to promote the success of the Company and to increase stockholder value by
providing an additional means to attract, motivate, retain and reward selected employees and eligible directors through the grant of equity awards.
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Restricted Stock Awards
The grant of RSAs under the 2014 Incentive Plan were performance-based awards that vested at the end of fiscal 2020 based on the achievement of an
EBITDA hurdle. The fair value of the RSAs granted was based on the closing stock price on the date of grant. All RSAs accrued dividend equivalents based on the
awards vested.
Per ASC 718, “Compensation - Stock Compensation” stock-based compensation expense is recognized for these performance awards over the vesting
period based on the projected probability (70% confidence) of achievement of the EBITDA hurdle in fiscal 2020. In each period, the stock-based compensation
expense was subject to adjustment, as necessary, in response to any changes in the Company’s forecast with respect to achieving the fiscal 2020 EBITDA hurdle.
In fiscal 2018, the Company determined that only a threshold performance level would be achieved and adjusted its stock-based compensation expense
for these awards. The result was a reversal of previously recognized stock-based compensation expense of $6.0 million. Stock-based compensation expense for
these awards in fiscal 2018 was a credit of $2.0 million.
In fiscal 2019, the Company determined that the target hurdle would be achieved based on the recent acquisition of Grakon and adjusted its stock-based
compensation expense for these awards. The result was an additional expense of $7.4 million. Stock-based compensation expense for these awards in fiscal 2019
was $10.9 million.
The actual EBITDA hurdle achieved was approximately 69% of target, which was determined in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2020. The target hurdle was
not achieved because of among other factors, the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. The result was a reversal of previously recognized stock-based compensation
expense related to prior years of $5.2 million. Stock-based compensation expense for these awards in fiscal 2020 was a credit of $2.1 million.
The following table summarizes the RSA activity under the 2014 Incentive Plan:
Wtd. Avg. Grant
Date Fair Value

RSA Shares

Non-vested at April 29, 2017
Awarded
Vested
Forfeited
Non-vested at April 28, 2018
Awarded
Vested
Forfeited
Non-vested at April 27, 2019
Awarded
Vested
Forfeited
Non-vested at May 2, 2020

1,168,500
128,738
—
(126,000)
1,171,238
11,625
—
(151,455)
1,031,408
—
(455,750)
(575,658)
—

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

33.42
40.92
—
34.42
34.13
38.75
—
34.79
34.09
—
33.89
34.25
—

As of May 2, 2020, there were 444,500 RSAs that were vested for which shares were issued in the first quarter of fiscal 2021.
Restricted Stock Units
RSUs granted under the 2014 Plan vest over a pre-determined period of time, generally three to five years from the date of grant. The fair value of the
RSUs granted was based on the closing stock price on the date of grant.
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The following table summarizes RSU activity granted under the 2014 Plan:
Wtd. Avg. Grant
Date Fair Value

RSU Shares

Non-vested at April 29, 2017
Awarded
Vested
Forfeited
Non-vested at April 28, 2018
Awarded
Vested
Forfeited
Non-vested at April 27, 2019
Awarded
Vested
Forfeited
Non-vested at May 2, 2020

568,000
30,925
(160,553)
(56,000)
382,372
7,750
(152,328)
(49,950)
187,844
—
(176,994)
(7,750)
3,100

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

33.45
41.82
33.72
34.42
33.87
38.75
33.75
32.42
34.55
—
34.25
38.75
41.20

As of May 2, 2020, there were 91,694 RSUs that were vested for which shares were issued in the first quarter of fiscal 2021. In addition, 80,800 shares
that vested were deferred for issuance.
Director Awards
During fiscal 2020, fiscal 2019 and fiscal 2018, the Company issued 30,000 shares, 24,000 shares and 24,000 shares, respectively, of common stock to
our independent directors, all of which vested immediately upon grant.
2010 Plan and 2007 Plan
The following table summarizes combined stock option activity under the 2010 Plan and 2007 Plan:

Wtd. Avg.
Exercise Price

Shares

Outstanding and Exercisable at April 29, 2017
Exercised
Forfeited
Outstanding and Exercisable at April 28, 2018
Exercised
Forfeited
Outstanding and Exercisable at April 27, 2019
Exercised
Forfeited
Outstanding and Exercisable at May 2, 2020

129,169
(13,333)
(1,668)
114,168
—
(7,500)
106,668
—
—
106,668

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

34.71
24.67
37.01
35.85
—
37.01
35.76
—
—
35.76

WeightedAverage Life
(years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value
(in millions)

6.1

$

0.6

5.0

$

0.1

4.0

$

0.1

The aggregate intrinsic value represents the total pre-tax intrinsic value (the difference between the Company's closing stock price on the last trading
day of the fiscal year and the exercise price, multiplied by the number of in-the-money options) that would have been received by the option holders had all option
holders exercised their options on that date.
Shares

101,668
5,000

Options Outstanding and Exercisable at May 2, 2020
Exercise Price

$
$

37.01
10.55
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Deferred RSUs
Under the 2014 Plan and 2010 Plan, RSUs that have vested for certain executives, including the Company’s CEO, will not be delivered in common
stock until after the executive terminates employment from the Company or upon a change of control. As of May 2, 2020, shares to be delivered to these executives
were 121,200 shares under the 2014 Plan and 180,000 shares under the 2010 Plan.
Under the 2004 Plan, 225,000 shares of common stock subject to performance based RSAs granted to the Company’s CEO in fiscal 2006 and 2007
were converted to RSUs. The shares of common stock underlying the RSUs will not be issued and delivered until the earlier of: (1) thirty days after the CEO’s date
of termination of employment with the Company and all of its subsidiaries and affiliates; or (2) the last day of the Company’s fiscal year in which the payment of
common stock in satisfaction of the RSUs becomes deductible to the Company under Section 162(m) of the Code. As of May 2, 2020, 29,945 shares have been
delivered in connection with these RSUs with a remaining balance to be delivered of 195,055 shares.
The RSUs are not entitled to voting rights or dividends, however a bonus in lieu of dividends are paid. The vested deferred RSUs are considered
outstanding for earnings per share calculations.
Note 14. Income Per Share
Basic income per share is calculated by dividing net income by the number of weighted average common shares outstanding for the applicable
period. The weighted average number of common shares used in the diluted income per share calculation is determined using the treasury stock method which
includes the effect of all potential dilutive common shares outstanding during the period.
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted income per share:
Fiscal Year Ended
April 27, 2019
(52 Weeks)

May 2, 2020
(53 Weeks)

Numerator:
Net Income (in millions)

$

Denominator:
Denominator for Basic Income Per Share-Weighted Average Shares Outstanding and
Vested/Unissued Restricted Stock Units
Dilutive Potential Common Shares-Employee Stock Options, Restricted Stock Awards and
Restricted Stock Units
Denominator for Diluted Income Per Share
Basic and Diluted Income Per Share:
Basic Income Per Share
Diluted Income Per Share

$
$

Number of Anti-dilutive Potentially Issuable Shares Excluded from Diluted Common Shares
Outstanding

123.4

$

91.6

April 28, 2018
(52 Weeks)

$

57.2

37,574,671

37,405,298

37,281,630

269,799
37,844,470

264,262
37,669,560

260,269
37,541,899

3.28
3.26

566,620

$
$

2.45
2.43

678,321

$
$

1.54
1.52

363,413

Note 15. Segment Information and Geographic Area Information
An operating segment is defined as a component of an enterprise that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur
expenses, and about which separate financial information is regularly evaluated by the Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) in deciding how to allocate
resources. The CODM is the Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”).
Effective October 27, 2018, the Company reorganized its reportable segments upon the acquisition of Grakon. Prior to the acquisition, the Company's
reportable segments were Automotive, Power, Interface and Other. As a result of this change, the
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Company's reportable segments are now Automotive, Industrial, Interface and Medical. Historical information has been revised to reflect the new reportable
segments.
A summary of the significant reportable segment changes is as follows:
•
•
•
•

Grakon's automotive business has been included in the Automotive segment, while Grakon's non-automotive business has been included in the
Industrial segment.
The busbar business, previously included in the Power segment, is now part of the Industrial segment.
The radio-remote control business, previously included in the Interface segment, is now part of the Industrial segment.
The medical devices business, previously included in the Other segment, now makes up the Medical segment.

The Automotive segment supplies electronic and electro-mechanical devices and related products to automobile OEMs, either directly or through their
tiered suppliers. Products include integrated center consoles, hidden switches, ergonomic switches, transmission lead-frames, LED-based lighting and sensors,
which incorporate magneto-elastic sensing and other technologies that monitor the operation or status of a component or system.
The Industrial segment manufactures external lighting solutions, industrial safety radio remote controls, braided flexible cables, current-carrying
laminated busbars and devices, custom power-product assemblies, such as our PowerRail® solution, high-current low-voltage flexible power cabling systems and
powder-coated busbars that are used in various markets and applications, including aerospace, commercial vehicles, computers, industrial, power conversion,
military, telecommunications and transportation.
The Interface segment provides a variety of copper and fiber-optic interface and interface solutions for the appliance, commercial food service,
construction, consumer, material handling, point-of-sale and telecommunications markets. Solutions include copper transceivers and solid-state field-effect
consumer touch panels.
The Medical segment is made up of the Company's medical device business, Dabir Surfaces, with its surface support technology aimed at pressure
injury prevention. Dabir Surfaces has developed the technology for use by patients who are immobilized or otherwise at risk for pressure injuries, including patients
undergoing long-duration surgical procedures.
The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies in Note 1, "Description of
Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies." The CODM allocates resources to and evaluates the performance of each operating segments based on
operating income. Transfers between segments are recorded using internal transfer prices set by the Company.
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The tables below present information about the Company’s reportable segments.
Fiscal Year Ended May 2, 2020 (53 Weeks)
(Dollars in Millions)

Automotive

Industrial

Interface

Net Sales
Transfers between Segments
Net Sales to Unaffiliated Customers

$
$

716.8 $
(4.7)
712.1 $

Income/(Loss) from Operations
Interest Expense, Net
Other Income, Net
Income before Income Taxes

$

124.4

Purchases of Property, Plant and Equipment

$

37.5

$

5.7

$

0.3

$

0.7

$

Depreciation and Amortization

$

31.0

$

13.7

$

0.9

$

1.1

Identifiable Assets

$

670.9

$

421.8

$

71.0

$

8.8

$

253.9 $
(2.5)
251.4 $

Eliminations/
Corporate

Medical

59.4

58.9 $
(0.1)
58.8 $

$

5.6

1.6
—
1.6

$

$

Consolidated

$

(7.3) $
7.3
— $

(6.0) $

(36.3) $

1,023.9
—
1,023.9

$

147.1
10.1
(11.7)
148.7

0.9

$

45.1

$

1.6

$

48.3

$

198.1

$

1,370.6

Fiscal Year Ended April 27, 2019 (52 Weeks)
(Dollars in Millions)

Automotive

Industrial

Interface

Net Sales
Transfers between Segments
Net Sales to Unaffiliated Customers

$
$

741.6 $
(6.9)
734.7 $

Income/(Loss) from Operations
Interest Expense, Net
Other Income, Net
Income before Income Taxes

$

126.3

Purchases of Property, Plant and Equipment

$

38.9

$

2.6

$

0.5

$

1.9

$

Depreciation and Amortization

$

25.2

$

11.7

$

3.2

$

1.0

Identifiable Assets

$

677.4

$

404.3

$

88.6

$

9.4

$

210.0 $
(3.2)
206.8 $

Eliminations/
Corporate

Medical

37.4
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$

57.9 $
(0.2)
57.7 $
(0.3) $

1.1
—
1.1

$

Consolidated

$

(10.3) $
10.3
— $

(8.6) $

(48.0) $

1,000.3
—
1,000.3

$

106.8
8.3
(5.1)
103.6

5.9

$

49.8

$

2.2

$

43.3

$

52.0

$

1,231.7
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Fiscal Year Ended April 28, 2018 (52 Weeks)
(Dollars in Millions)

Automotive

Industrial

Interface

Net Sales
Transfers between Segments
Net Sales to Unaffiliated Customers

$
$

738.4 $
(9.7)
728.7 $

Income/(Loss) from Operations
Interest Expense, Net
Other Income, Net
Income before Income Taxes

$

156.3

Purchases of Property, Plant and Equipment

$

31.7

$

1.5

$

0.4

$

3.8

$

Depreciation and Amortization

$

21.3

$

2.0

$

3.1

$

0.8

$

Identifiable Assets

$

632.7

$

93.1

$

206.8

$

8.1

$

$

105.6
0.2
105.8

$

13.0

$

Eliminations/
Corporate

Medical

73.9 $
(0.7)
73.2 $

$

6.0

0.3
—
0.3

$

$

Consolidated

$

(9.9) $
10.2
0.3 $

908.3
—
908.3

(11.4) $

(45.6) $

$

118.3
0.9
(6.4)
123.8

10.3

$

47.7

0.9

$

28.1

(24.8) $

915.9

Geographic information
The following tables sets forth net sales and tangible long-lived assets for each geographic area where the Company operates. Tangible long-lived assets
include property, plant and equipment and operating lease assets.
Fiscal Year Ended
April 27,
2019
(52 Weeks)

May 2,
2020
(53 Weeks)

(Dollars in Millions)

Net Sales:
U.S.
Malta
China
Mexico
Canada
Other
Total Net Sales

$

$

531.5
143.9
116.9
104.7
19.5
107.4
1,023.9

$

$

May 2,
2020

Tangible Long-lived Assets, Net:
U.S.
Malta
China
Mexico
Belgium
Other
Total Tangible Long-lived Assets, Net
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540.5
148.5
113.7
—
101.6
96.0
1,000.3
April 27,
2019

$

89.8
40.1
24.1
24.0
21.4
26.0

$

83.9
33.0
18.6
9.2
22.1
25.1

$

225.4

$

191.9

April 28,
2018
(52 Weeks)

$

$

487.5
184.0
117.3
—
54.4
65.1
908.3
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METHODE ELECTRONICS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 16. Summary of Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)
The following is a summary of unaudited quarterly results of operations for fiscal 2020 and fiscal 2019:
Fiscal 2020
Quarter Ended
October 26, 2019
February 1, 2020
(13 Weeks)
(14 Weeks)

July 27, 2019
(13 Weeks)

(Dollars in Millions, except per share data)

Net Sales
Gross Profit
Net Income
Net Income per Basic Common Share
Net Income per Diluted Common Share

$
$
$
$
$

270.2
75.8
28.3
0.75
0.75

$
$
$
$
$

Net Sales
Gross Profit
Net Income
Net Income per Basic Common Share
Net Income per Diluted Common Share

$
$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$
$

285.9
79.3
41.2
1.10
1.09

$
$
$
$
$

Fiscal 2019
Quarter Ended
October 27, 2018
January 26, 2019
(13 Weeks)
(13 Weeks)

July 28, 2018
(13 Weeks)

(Dollars in Millions, except per share data)

257.2
68.6
23.8
0.63
0.63

May 2, 2020
(13 Weeks)

223.4
60.1
23.7
0.63
0.63

$
$
$
$
$

264.0
70.8
14.6
0.39
0.39

$
$
$
$
$

246.9
64.3
30.7
0.82
0.82

210.6
59.2
30.1
0.80
0.79

April 27, 2019
(13 Weeks)

$
$
$
$
$

266.0
70.6
22.6
0.61
0.60

Significant Items for Fiscal 2020
The table below contains items included in fiscal 2020:

July 27, 2019
(13 Weeks)

(Dollars in Millions)

Legal Fees Related to the Hetronic lawsuit
Grant Income from Foreign Government for Maintaining Certain Employment
Levels
RSA Compensation Expense Adjustment
Expense for Initiatives to Reduce Overall Costs and Improve Operational
Profitability

Fiscal 2020
Quarter Ended
October 26, 2019
February 1, 2020
(13 Weeks)
(14 Weeks)

$

0.8

$

1.4

$

$
$

—
—

$
$

—
—

$
$

$

—

$

0.5

$

May 2, 2020
(13 Weeks)

1.1

$

(5.5) $
— $
1.1

$

2.1
(4.4)
(6.5)
0.2

Significant Items for Fiscal 2019

July 28, 2018
(13 Weeks)

(Dollars in Millions, except per share data)

Legal Fees Related to the Hetronic lawsuit
Acquisition-related Expenses
Grant Income from Foreign Government for Maintaining Certain Employment
Levels
RSA Compensation Expense Adjustment
Expense for Initiatives to Reduce Overall Costs and Improve Operational
Profitability

Fiscal 2019
Quarter Ended
October 27, 2018
January 26, 2019
(13 Weeks)
(13 Weeks)

$
$
$
$
$
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0.9
0.6

$
$

(1.1) $
— $
0.8

$

1.0
10.9

$
$

(1.4) $
7.4 $
2.5

$

0.8
3.8

April 27, 2019
(13 Weeks)

$
$

(1.9) $
— $
2.6

$

0.8
0.1
(1.4)
—
1.0
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SCHEDULE II—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
METHODE ELECTRONICS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
(in millions)
Balance at
Beginning
of Period

Description

Charged to
Costs and
Expenses

Year Ended May 2, 2020:
Allowance for uncollectible accounts
Deferred tax valuation allowance

$
$

0.9
6.3

$
$

Year Ended April 27, 2019:
Allowance for uncollectible accounts
Deferred tax valuation allowance

$
$

0.5
2.5

$
$

0.2
—

Year Ended April 28, 2018:
Allowance for uncollectible accounts
Deferred tax valuation allowance

$
$

0.6
1.9

$
$

—
0.6

(1)
(2)
(3)

Represents business acquisitions.
Uncollectible accounts written off, net of recoveries.
Represents change in temporary items.
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Deductions

(0.2)
$
0.7 (3) $

Balance at
End of
Period

Other

—
—

$
$

—
—

$
$

0.7
7.0

$
$

—
$
(1.0) (3) $

0.2
4.8

(1) $
(1) $

0.9
6.3

$
(3) $

(0.1) (2) $
—
$

—
—

$
$

0.5
2.5
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CHANGE IN CONTROL AGREEMENT
This Change in Control Agreement is dated as of June 26, 2020, between Methode Electronics, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the
“Company”), and Joseph E. Khoury (the “Executive”).
WITNESSETH:
WHEREAS, Executive is employed by the Company and the Company desires to provide certain security to Executive in
connection with any potential change in control of the Company.
NOW, THEREFORE, it is hereby agreed by and between the parties, for good and valuable consideration the receipt and
sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, as follows:
1. Payments and Benefits Upon a Change in Control. If within twenty-four (24) months after a Change in Control (as defined
below) or during the Period Pending a Change in Control (as defined below): (i) the Company shall terminate Executive’s employment with
the Company without Good Cause (as defined below), or (ii) Executive shall voluntarily terminate such employment with Good Reason (as
defined below), the Company shall, within 30 days of Executive’s Employment Termination (as defined below), make the payments and
provide the benefits described below.
(a)
Salary Payment. The Company shall make a lump sum cash payment to Executive equal to two times the
Executive’s Annual Salary (as defined below).
(b)
Bonus. The Company shall make a lump sum cash payment to Executive equal to two times the lesser of:
(i) the Executive’s target bonus amount for the fiscal year in which Executive’s Employment Termination occurs, or (ii) the bonus
the Executive earned in the prior fiscal year; provided, however, that if the target bonus amount for the fiscal year has not yet been
determined as of the date of the Executive’s Employment Termination, then the bonus amount payable hereunder shall be
calculated based on the Executive’s target bonus amount for the previous fiscal year, regardless of whether such bonus was
actually earned.
(c)
Welfare Benefit Plans. With respect to each Welfare Benefit Plan (as defined below), for the period
beginning on Executive’s Employment Termination and ending on the earlier of: (i) twenty-four (24) months following
Executive’s Employment Termination, or (ii) the date Executive becomes covered by a welfare benefit plan or program maintained
by an entity other than the Company which provides coverage or benefits substantially equivalent to such Welfare Benefit Plan,
Executive shall continue to participate in such Welfare Benefit Plan on the same basis and at the same cost to Executive as was the
case immediately prior to the Change in Control (or, if more favorable to Executive, as was the case at any time hereafter), or, if
any benefit or coverage cannot be provided under a Welfare Benefit Plan because of applicable law or contractual provisions,
Executive shall be provided with substantially similar benefits and coverage for such period. Immediately following the expiration
of the continuation period required by the preceding sentence, Executive shall be entitled to continued group health benefit plan
coverage (so‑called “COBRA coverage”) in accordance with Section 4980B of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended
(the “Code”), it being intended that COBRA coverage shall be consecutive to the benefit and coverage provided for in the
preceding sentence.

(d)
Employment. This Agreement shall not be construed as creating an express or implied contract of
employment and, except as otherwise agreed in writing between the Executive and the Company, the Executive shall not have any
right to be retained in the employ of the Company.
(e)
Section 409A. To the extent applicable, any payments to Executive called for under this Agreement or under
the terms of any other plan, agreement or award, that are determined to be payments of deferred compensation to which Section
409A is applicable and that are paid by reason of Executive’s “separation from service,” as described in Section 409A, shall be
delayed, to the extent necessary, to avoid a violation of Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i). In general, this Section 1(e) may require that
payments of deferred compensation to Executive that would otherwise be made within six (6) months following Executive’s
separation from service shall be delayed until the earlier of (i) first day of the seventh (7th) month beginning after the Executive’s
separation from service, or (ii) the Executive’s death, if Executive is determined to be a “specified employee” as that term is
defined in Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i). As used in this Agreement, Section 409A shall mean Section 409A of the Code, including
any regulations or written guidance issued pursuant thereto.
2. Definitions. For purposes of this Agreement:
(a)
“Annual Salary” shall mean Executive’s salary at the greater of (i) Executive’s annualized base salary
(including Executive’s monthly car allowance, if any) in effect on the date of the Change in Control, or (ii) Executive’s annualized
base salary in effect on Executive’s Employment Termination.
(b)

“Change in Control” shall be deemed to have occurred on the first to occur of any of the following:
(i)

any one “person” or more than one person acting as a “group” becomes the “beneficial owner” (as
such terms are used in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) of more than fifty percent (50%) of
the total voting power of common stock then outstanding; provided, however, that any acquisition
by the Company, any entity controlled by the Company or any employee benefit plan (or related
trust) sponsored or maintained by the Company or any entity controlled by the Company shall not
constitute a Change in Control of the Company; or

(ii)

a majority of the members of the Company’s Board of Directors is replaced during any twelve
(12) month period by directors whose appointment or election is not endorsed by a majority of the
Company’s Board of Directors before the date of the appointment or election; or

(iii)

the consummation of a merger, consolidation or similar transaction involving the Company where,
immediately after the consummation of such transaction, the stockholders of the Company
immediately prior thereto do not own, directly or indirectly, either of the following, in each case,
in substantially the same proportion as the ownership of the Company’s stockholders prior to such
transaction: (A) outstanding voting securities representing more than 50% of the combined
outstanding voting power of the surviving entity in such transaction or
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(B) more than 50% of the combined outstanding voting power of the parent of the surviving entity
in such transaction; or
(iv)

the consummation of a sale, transfer or liquidation of all or substantially all of the assets of the
Company and its subsidiaries.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, however, in any circumstance or transaction in which
compensation resulting from or in respect of this Agreement would result in the imposition of an
additional tax under Section 409A of the Code if the foregoing definition of “Change in Control”
were to apply, but would not result in the imposition of any additional tax if the term “Change in
Control” were defined herein to mean a “change in control event” within the meaning of Treasury
Regulation Section 1.409A-3(i)(5), then “Change in Control” shall mean a “change in control
event” within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-3(i)(5), but only to the extent
necessary to prevent such compensation from becoming subject to an additional tax under Section
409A of the Code.

(c)
“Employment Termination” shall mean the effective date of: (i) Executive’s voluntary termination of
employment with the Company with Good Reason, or (ii) the termination of Executive’s employment by the Company without
Good Cause.
(d)
“Good Cause” shall mean: (i) Executive’s conviction of a felony; (ii) Executive’s commission of any act or
acts of personal dishonesty intended to result in substantial personal enrichment to Executive to the detriment of the Company; or
(iii) repeated violations of Executive’s responsibilities which are demonstrably willful and deliberate, provided that such violations
have continued more than ten days after the Board of Directors of the Company has given written notice of such violations and of
its intention to terminate Executive’s employment because of such violations.
(e)
“Good Reason” shall exist if, without Executive’s express written consent any of the following events or
actions occurs, provided that no finding of Good Reason shall be effective unless and until the Executive has provided the
Company, within sixty (60) calendar days of becoming aware of the facts and circumstances underlying the finding of Good
Reason, with written notice thereof stating with specificity the facts and circumstances underlying the finding of Good Reason and,
if the basis for such finding of Good Reason is capable of being cured by the Company, providing the Company with an
opportunity to cure the same within thirty (30) calendar days after receipt of such notice:
(i)

The Company shall materially reduce the nature, scope or level of Executive’s responsibilities
from the nature, scope or level of such responsibilities prior to the Change in Control (or prior to
the Period Pending a Change in Control), or shall fail to provide Executive with adequate office
facilities and support services to perform such responsibilities.

(ii)

The Company shall require Executive to move Executive’s principal business office more than 25
miles from Executive’s principal business office at the time of this Agreement, or assign to
Executive duties that would reasonably require such move; provided, however, that if
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Executive’s principal business office is not located at the Company’s then current corporate
headquarters, and the Company requires Executive to move Executive’s principal business office
to such corporate headquarters, or assigns to Executive duties that would reasonably require such
move, such actions shall not constitute “Good Reason” under this subsection (ii).
(iii)

The Company shall require Executive, or assign duties to Executive which would reasonably
require Executive, to increase, by more than twenty-four, the number of normal working days
(determined at the time of this Agreement) that Executive spends away from Executive’s
principal business office during any consecutive twelve-month period.

(iv)

The Company shall reduce Executive’s Annual Salary below that in effect as of the date of this
Agreement (or as of the Change in Control, if greater),

(v)

The Company shall materially reduce or fail to continue in effect any cash or stock-based
incentive or bonus plan, retirement plan, welfare benefit plan, or other benefit plan, program or
arrangement, unless the aggregate value (as computed by an independent employee benefits
consultant selected by the Company) of all such incentive, bonus, retirement and benefit plans,
programs and arrangements provided to Executive is not materially less than their aggregate value
as of the date of this Agreement (or as of the Change in Control, if greater).

(vi)

If the Board of Directors fails to act in good faith with respect to the Company’s obligations
hereunder, or the Company breaches its obligations hereunder.

(f)
“Period Pending a Change in Control” shall mean the period between the time an agreement is entered into by
the Company with respect to a merger or other business combination or transaction of the Company, which would constitute a
Change in Control, and the effective time of such merger or other business combination or transaction of the Company.
(g)
“Welfare Benefit Plan” shall mean each welfare benefit plan maintained or contributed to by the Company,
including, but not limited to a plan that provides health (including medical and dental), life, accident or disability benefits or
insurance, or similar coverage, in which Executive was participating at the time of the Change in Control.
3. Salary to Date of Employment Termination. The Company shall pay to Executive any unpaid salary or other compensation of
any kind earned with respect to any period prior to Executive’s Employment Termination, including, but not limited to a lump sum cash
payment for accumulated but unused vacation earned through such Employment Termination.
4. Other Incentive Plans. Except as otherwise provided herein, nothing in this Agreement shall impair or impact the vesting of any
restricted stock, stock options, cash incentives or other form of compensation or benefits provided under any other plan, program or
arrangement.
5. Code Section 4999.
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(a)
In the event it shall be determined that as a result, directly or indirectly, of any payment or distribution by the
Company to or for the benefit of the Executive, whether paid or payable or distributed or distributable pursuant to the terms of this
Agreement or otherwise (a “Payment”), the Executive would be subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code or
any interest or penalties are incurred by the Executive with respect to such excise tax (such excise tax, together with any such
interest and penalties, are hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Excise Tax”), then the Executive shall be entitled to have the
Payment either (A) paid or delivered in full, or (B) capped at the amount that is $1 less than three times the Executive’s “base
amount,” whichever of the foregoing results in the receipt by the Executive of the greatest benefit on an after-tax basis (taking into
account applicable taxes, including federal, state and local income taxes and the Excise Tax). Any reduction of the Payment
required by this subsection shall be carried out by applying the following principles, in order: (1) the payment or benefit with the
higher ratio of the parachute payment value to present economic value (determined using reasonable actuarial assumptions) shall
be reduced or eliminated before a payment or benefit with a lower ratio; (2) the payment or benefit with the later possible payment
date shall be reduced or eliminated before a payment or benefit with an earlier payment date; and (3) cash payments shall be
reduced prior to non-cash benefits; provided that if the foregoing order of reduction or elimination would violate Code Section
409A, then the reduction shall be made pro rata among the payments or benefits included in the Payment (on the basis of the
relative present value of the parachute payments).
(b)
All determinations required to be made under this Section 5, shall be made by the Company’s Independent
Public Accounting Firm (the “Accounting Firm”) which shall provide detailed supporting calculations both to the Company and
the Executive within 15 business days of receipt of notice from the Executive that there has been a Payment or such earlier time as
is requested by the Company. In the event that the Accounting Firm is serving as accountant or auditor for the individual, entity or
group effecting the Change in Control, the Executive shall appoint another nationally recognized accounting firm to make the
determinations required hereunder (which accounting firm shall then be referred to as the Accounting Firm hereunder). All fees
and expenses of the Accounting Firm shall be borne solely by the Company. If the Accounting Firm determines that no Excise Tax
is payable by the Executive, it shall furnish the Executive with a written opinion that failure to report the Excise Tax on the
Executive’s applicable federal income tax return would not result in the imposition of a negligence or similar penalty. Any
determination by the Accounting Firm shall be binding upon the Company and the Executive.
6. Mitigation and Set-Off. Executive shall not be required to mitigate Executive’s damages by seeking other employment or
otherwise. The Company’s obligations under this Agreement shall not be reduced in any way by reason of any compensation or benefits
received (or foregone) by Executive from sources other than the Company after Executive’s Employment Termination, or any amounts that
might have been received by Executive in other employment had Executive sought other employment, except for the termination of benefits
under a Welfare Benefit Plan pursuant to Section 1(c)(ii) hereof. Except as expressly provided in Section 1(c) of this Agreement, Executive’s
entitlement to benefits and coverage under this Agreement shall continue after, and shall not be affected by, Executive’s obtaining other
employment after his Employment Termination, provided that any such benefit or coverage shall not be furnished if Executive expressly
waives the specific benefit or coverage by giving written notice of waiver to the Company.
7. Litigation Expenses. The Company shall pay to Executive all out-of-pocket expenses, including attorneys’ fees, incurred by
Executive in the event Executive successfully enforces any provision of this Agreement in any action, arbitration or lawsuit.
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8. Assignment, Successors. This Agreement may not be assigned by the Company without the written consent of Executive but the
obligations of the Company under this Agreement shall be the binding legal obligations of any successor to the Company by merger or other
business combination, and in the event of any business combination or transaction that results in the transfer of substantially all of the assets
or business of the Company, the Company will cause the transferee to assume the obligations of the Company under this Agreement. This
Agreement may not be assigned by Executive during Executive’s life, and upon Executive’s death will inure to the benefit of Executive’s
heirs, legatees and legal representatives of Executive’s estate.
9. Interpretation. The validity, interpretation, construction and performance of this Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the
State of Illinois, without regard to the conflict of law principles thereof. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision of this Agreement
shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any other provision of this Agreement.
10. Withholding. The Company may withhold from any payment that it is required to make under this Agreement amounts
sufficient to satisfy applicable withholding requirements under any federal, state or local law.
11. Amendment or Termination. This Agreement may be amended at any time by written agreement between the Company and
Executive. The Company may terminate this Agreement by written notice given to Executive at least two years prior to the effective date of
such termination, provided that, if a Change in Control occurs prior to the effective date of such termination, the termination of this
Agreement shall not be effective and Executive shall be entitled to the full benefits of this Agreement. Any such amendment or termination
shall be made pursuant to a resolution of the Company’s Board of Directors or Compensation Committee.
12. Financing. Cash and benefit payments under this Agreement shall constitute general obligations of the Company. Executive
shall have only an unsecured right to payment thereof out of the general assets of the Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company
may, by agreement with one or more trustees to be selected by the Company, create a trust on such terms, as the Company shall determine, to
make payments to Executive in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.
13. Severability. In the event that any provision or portion of this Agreement shall be determined to be invalid or unenforceable
for any reason, the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall be unaffected thereby and shall remain in full force and effect.
14. Arbitration. The parties initially shall attempt to resolve by direct negotiation any dispute, controversy or claim arising out of
or relating to this Agreement or its breach or interpretation (each, a “Dispute”). For purposes of this negotiation, the Company shall be
represented by one or more of its directors appointed by the Board of Directors. If the parties are unable to resolve the Dispute by direct
negotiation within 30 days after written notice by one party to the other of the Dispute, either party may initiate a confidential, binding
arbitration to resolve the Dispute. All such Disputes shall be arbitrated in Chicago, Illinois pursuant to the arbitration rules of J.A.M.S.
Endispute before a single arbitrator. If, at the time of any Dispute, J.A.M.S. Endispute has ceased to exist, all such Disputes shall be arbitrated
in Chicago, Illinois pursuant to the arbitration rules of the American Arbitration Association before a single arbitrator.) Judgment upon any
award rendered by the arbitrator may be entered in any court having jurisdiction, and both parties consent and submit to the jurisdiction of
such court for purposes of such action. Nothing in this Agreement shall preclude either party from seeking equitable relief from a court of
competent jurisdiction. The statute of limitations, estoppel, waiver, laches and similar doctrines, which would otherwise be applicable in any
action brought by a party shall be applicable in any arbitration proceeding, and the commencement of an arbitration proceeding shall be
deemed the commencement of
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an action for those purposes. The Federal Arbitration Act shall apply to the construction, interpretation and enforcement of this arbitration
provision.
15. Other Agreements. This Agreement supersedes and cancels all prior written or oral agreements and understandings relating to
the terms of this Agreement. Without limiting the foregoing, the parties acknowledge and agree that any previous employment agreements
between the parties, including the Change of Contents of the Employment Contract of 01.Feb.2003, are no longer in effect.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement on the day and year first written above.
METHODE ELECTRONICS, INC.
By:
Its:

/s/ Darren M. Dawson
Darren M. Dawson
Chair, Compensation Committee

EXECUTIVE:
/s/ Joseph E. Khoury
Name: Joseph E. Khoury
-8-

Exhibit 10.23
FORM TRANSITION AWARD AGREEMENT 
This Transition Award Agreement (the “Agreement”), effective as of June 26, 2020, is entered into by and between Methode
Electronics, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”) and [_____________] (the “Employee”).
WHEREAS, the Company desires to incentivize Employee to remain employed by the Company through April 29, 2023 and
maintain satisfactory job performance through that date and to continue to work for the benefit of the Company and its stockholders.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants and obligations set forth herein, the Company
agrees to provide Employee the opportunity to earn an award on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein.
1.Defined Terms. Capitalized terms shall have the meanings set forth in this Agreement or in Appendix A attached hereto.
2.Transition Award. If Employee remains employed by the Company through April 29, 2023 and maintains satisfactory job
performance through that date, Employee will earn a cash award in the aggregate gross amount of $[
] (the “Transition Award”).
3.
Payment. Except as otherwise provided herein, the Transition Award shall be paid in cash installments as follows: (i)
forty percent (40%) of the Transition Award shall be paid on the next regularly scheduled payroll date after April 30, 2022; and (ii) sixty
percent (60%) of the Transition Award shall be paid on the next regularly scheduled payroll date after April 29, 2023; subject in each case to
deduction of customary withholding taxes and other payroll deductions. Except as otherwise provided herein, Employee must remain
employed by the Company and maintain satisfactory job performance in order to be entitled to any Transition Award installment payment
hereunder. 
4.Effect of Termination of Employment in Connection with Death or Disability or Termination Without Cause. Notwithstanding
Sections 2 and 3 above, if Employee’s employment with the Company is terminated due to total and permanent disability (as determined by
the Company) or death, or if Employee experiences an involuntary termination of employment for reasons other than Cause, then any unpaid
portion of the Transition Award shall be paid on the next regularly scheduled payroll date after the date of termination of employment.
5.Effect of Termination of Employment for Cause or Resignation by Employee. If, prior to April 29, 2023, Employee resigns [his]
[her] employment (including retirement) or the Company terminates [his][her] employment for Cause, then, in that instance, Employee must
repay to the Company any portion of the Transition Award previously paid to Employee under Section 3 within 30 days of the date of
Employee’s termination of employment.  In the event that the Company determines that any portion of the Transition Award is repayable to
the Company hereunder, the Company shall have the right to withhold and offset such amounts from any other payments due Employee from
the Company, to the maximum extent permitted by applicable law.
6.Change of Control. Notwithstanding Sections 2 and 3 above, if within twenty four months after a Change of Control the
Employee experiences an involuntary termination of employment or other

service for reasons other than Cause or Employee shall terminate employment with Good Reason, then any unpaid portion of the Transition
Award will become immediately payable as of the date of termination of employment. Further, if, during the period beginning on the date an
agreement is entered into by the Company with respect to a merger, consolidation or similar transaction of the Company, which would
constitute a Change of Control, and ending on the effective time of such merger, consolidation or similar transaction of the Company,
Employee experiences (a) an involuntary termination of employment or other service for reasons other than Cause or (b) Employee shall
terminate employment with Good Reason, then any unpaid portion of the Transition Award will become immediately payable as of the date
of the Change of Control.
7.Applicable Law. The validity, construction, interpretation and enforceability of this Agreement shall be determined and
governed by the laws of the State of Illinois without regard to any conflicts or choice of law rules or principles that might otherwise refer
construction or interpretation of this Agreement to the substantive law of another jurisdiction, and any litigation arising out of this Agreement
shall be brought in the Circuit Court of Cook County in the State of Illinois or the United States District Court for the Northern District of
Illinois, and the Employee consents to the jurisdiction and venue of those courts.
8.Severability. The provisions of this Agreement are severable, and if any one or more provisions may be determined to be illegal
or otherwise unenforceable, in whole or in part, the remaining provisions, and any partially unenforceable provision to the extent enforceable
in any jurisdiction, shall nevertheless be binding and enforceable.
9.Waiver. The waiver by the Company of a breach of any provision of this Agreement by Employee shall not operate or be
construed as a waiver of any subsequent breach by Employee.
10.Binding Effect. The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon the parties hereto, their successors and assigns,
including, without limitation, the Company, its successors or assigns, the estate of the Employee and the executors, administrators or trustees
of such estate and any receiver, trustee in bankruptcy or representative of the creditors of the Employee.
11.Withholding. Employee agrees, as a condition of payment of the Transition Award, to make acceptable arrangements to pay or
provide for any withholding or other taxes or other deductions that may be due or may arise as a result of the payment of the Transition
Award. In the event that the Company determines that any federal, state, local or foreign tax or withholding payment or other deduction is
required relating to or arises by reason of the payment of the Transition Award, the Company shall have the right to require such payments
from Employee, or withhold such amounts or deductions from payments due Employee from the Company.
12.Dispute Resolution. The parties initially shall attempt to resolve by direct negotiation any dispute, controversy or claim arising
out of or relating to this Agreement or its breach or interpretation (each, a “Dispute”). For purposes of this negotiation, the Company shall be
represented by one or more of its independent directors appointed by the Board of Directors. If the parties are unable to resolve the Dispute by
direct negotiation within 30 days after written notice by one party to the other of the Dispute, the Dispute shall be settled by submission by
either party of the Dispute to binding arbitration in Chicago, Illinois (unless the parties agree in writing to a different location), before a single
arbitrator in accordance with the American Arbitration Association's Employment Arbitration Rules then in effect. The arbitrator will be an
attorney licensed to practice law in the State of Illinois.
The decision and award made by the arbitrator shall be final, binding and
conclusive on all parties hereto for all purposes, and judgment may be entered thereon in any court having jurisdiction thereof. Except as set
forth below, each party shall pay: the fees of [his][her] or its attorneys; the expenses of [his][her] or its witnesses; and all other expenses
connected with presenting [his][her] or its case. Except as set forth below, the costs of the arbitration, including the cost of any record or
transcripts of the arbitration hearing, administrative fees, the fees of the arbitrator, and
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all other fees and costs shall be borne equally by the parties. In the event of a Dispute following or in connection with a Change of Control,
the Company shall pay the fees of the arbitrator as well as the cost of any record or transcripts of the arbitration hearing and other
administrative fees and costs. In all Disputes, the arbitrator will have discretion to make an award of fees, costs and expenses to the
prevailing party.
13.Section 409A Compliance. It is the intention of the Company and the Employee that the Transition Award and other benefits
awarded under this Agreement shall comply with Section 409A of the Code and its implementing regulations (“Section 409A”) and shall be
interpreted in a manner consistent with this intent. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, a termination of Employee’s
employment shall not be deemed to have occurred for purposes of making any payments under this Agreement unless such termination gives
rise to a “Separation from Service” (within the meaning of Section 409A, a “Separation from Service”) and references to “termination of
employment” shall mean Separation from Service. In the event that the Company or the Employee reasonably determines that the Transition
Award under this Agreement fails to comply with Section 409A, the Company and Employee shall work together to adopt such amendments
to this Agreement or adopt other policies or procedures (including amendments, policies and procedures with retroactive effective to the
extent allowable by applicable laws), or take any other commercially reasonable actions necessary or appropriate to comply with the
requirements of Section 409A.
Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, in the event that Employee is a “specified employee” within the
meaning of Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Code and the Transition Award is considered to be a payment of “deferred compensation” to
which Section 409A of the Code is applicable, then to the extent such amount is paid by reason of Employee’s Separation from Service, such
payment shall be delayed, to the extent necessary to avoid a violation of Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i). In general, the preceding sentence may
require that a payment of the Transition Award to Employee that would otherwise be made within six (6) months following Employee’s
separation from service shall be delayed until the earlier of (i) first day of the seventh (7th) month beginning after the Employee’s separation
from service, or (ii) the Employee’s death, if Employee is determined to be a “specified employee” as that term is defined in Section 409A(a)
(2)(B)(i) of the Code.
14.No Retention Rights. Nothing herein contained shall confer on the Employee any right with respect to continuation of
employment or services by the Company, or interfere with the right of the Company to terminate at any time the employment or service of the
Employee.
15.Entire Agreement. This Agreement supersedes and cancels all prior written or oral agreements and understandings relating to
the terms of this Agreement.
[Signature Page to Follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company by one of its duly authorized officers has executed this Agreement as of the day and year first above
written.
METHODE ELECTRONICS, INC.
By:
Darren M. Dawson
Its:

Chair, Compensation Committee

The undersigned hereby accepts, and agrees to, all terms and provisions of this Agreement.
EMPLOYEE
____________________________________
[___________________]
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Appendix A
DEFINITIONS
For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall have the respective meanings specified below:
“Cause” means:
(i)
than a traffic violation;

Employee’s conviction of a felony other

(ii)
Employee’s commission of any act or acts
of personal dishonesty intended to result in personal enrichment to Employee to the material detriment of the Company;
(iii)
a failure to perform assigned duties,
provided that such failure has continued for more than ten (10) days after the Board of Directors or the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company has given written notice of such failure and of the Company’s intention to terminate Employee’s employment because of such
failure;
(iv)
which materially affects the business reputation of the Company;

any willful misconduct by the Employee

(v)
breach in any material respect by the
Employee of any provision of any employment, consulting, advisory, nondisclosure, non-competition, proprietary information, or other
similar agreement between the Employee and the Company; or
(vi)
Company’s code of conduct.

Employee’s material violation of the

The Employee shall be considered to have been discharged for “Cause” if the Company determines, within thirty (30) days after the
Employee’s resignation, that discharge for Cause was warranted.
“Change of Control” shall be deemed to have occurred on the first to occur of any of the following:
(i)
any one “person” or more than one person
acting as a “group” becomes the “beneficial owner” (as such terms are used in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) of more
than fifty percent (50%) of the total voting power of common stock then outstanding; provided, however, that any acquisition by the
Company, any entity controlled by the Company or any employee benefit plan (or related trust) sponsored or maintained by the Company or
any entity controlled by the Company shall not constitute a Change of Control of the Company; or
(ii)
a majority of the members of the
Company’s Board of Directors is replaced during any twelve (12) month period by directors whose appointment or election is not endorsed
by a majority of the Company’s Board of Directors before the date of the appointment or election; or
(iii)
the consummation of a merger,
consolidation or similar transaction involving the Company where, immediately after the consummation of such transaction, the stockholders
of the Company immediately prior thereto do not own, directly or indirectly, either of the following, in each case, in substantially the same
proportion as the ownership of the Company’s stockholders prior to such transaction: (A) outstanding voting securities representing more than
50% of the combined outstanding voting power of the surviving entity in such transaction or (B) more than 50% of the combined outstanding
voting power of the parent of the surviving entity in such transaction; or

(iv)
liquidation of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company.

the consummation of a sale, transfer or

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time or any successor thereto.
“Company” means Methode Electronics, Inc., a Delaware corporation, together with its subsidiaries, and any successor thereto.
“Good Reason” shall exist hereunder if, without Employee’s express written consent any of the following events or actions occurs, provided
that no finding of Good Reason shall be effective unless and until the  Employee has provided the Company, within sixty (60) calendar days
of becoming aware of the facts and circumstances underlying the finding of Good Reason, with written notice thereof stating with specificity
the facts and circumstances underlying the finding of Good Reason and, if the basis for such finding of Good Reason is capable of being
cured by the Company, providing the Company with an opportunity to cure the same within thirty (30) calendar days after receipt of such
notice: (i) the Company shall materially reduce the nature, scope or level of Employee’s responsibilities from the nature, scope or level of
such responsibilities prior to the Change of Control, or shall fail to provide Employee with adequate office facilities and support services to
perform such responsibilities; (ii) the Company shall require  Employee to move Employee’s principal business office more than 25 miles
from Employee’s principal business office at the time of this Agreement, or assign to Employee duties that would reasonably require such
move; provided, however, that if Employee’s principal business office is not located at the Company’s then current corporate headquarters,
and the Company requires Employee to move Employee’s principal business office to such corporate headquarters, or assigns to Employee
duties that would reasonably require such move, such actions shall not constitute “Good Reason” under this Agreement; (iii) the Company
shall require Employee, or assign duties to Employee which would reasonably require  Employee, to increase, by more than twenty-four, the
number of normal working days (determined at the time of this Agreement) that Employee spends away from Employee’s principal business
office during any consecutive twelve-month period; (iv) the Company shall reduce Employee’s annual salary below that in effect as of the
date of this Agreement (or as of the Change of Control, if greater); (v) the Company shall materially reduce or fail to continue in effect any
cash or stock-based incentive or bonus plan, retirement plan, welfare benefit plan, or other benefit plan, program or arrangement, unless the
aggregate value (as computed by an independent employee benefits consultant selected by the Company) of all such incentive, bonus,
retirement and benefit plans, programs and arrangements provided to Employee is not materially less than their aggregate value as of the date
of this Agreement (or as of the Change of Control, if greater); or (vi) if the Board of Directors fails to act in good faith with respect to the
Company’s obligations hereunder, or the Company breaches its obligations hereunder.

Exhibit 21
SUBSIDIARIES OF METHODE ELECTRONICS, INC.
Subsidiary (1)
ABAS, Inc.
Active Energy Solutions, Inc.
Advanced Molding and Decoration S.A. de C.V.
Alsentis LLC
BMAC Limited
Dabir Surfaces, Inc.
Floduval S.A.
Grakon Parent, Inc.
Grakon Intermediate Holdings, LLC
Grakon, LLC
Grakon Holdings, LLC
Grakon Europe B.V.
Grakon International (Hong Kong), Ltd.
Grakon Hamsar Holdings, Ltd.
Grakon Vehicle Components (Donggaun) Co., Ltd.
Grakon Components Design (Shenzen) Co., Ltd.
Grakon BMAC Holdings, Limited
Hetronic International, Inc.
Hetronic Italy S.R.L.
Hetronic Midwest, LLC
Hetronic Swiss AG
Hetronic USA, Inc.
IRU Resources S.A. De C.V.
KBA, Inc.
Magna-Lastic Devices, Inc.
Methode Development Company
Methode Data Solutions Group Europe, Ltd
Methode Electronics Asia Pte, Ltd.
Methode Electronics Far East Pte., Ltd.
Methode Electronics India, Private Ltd.
Methode Electronics International GmbH
Methode Electronics Malta Holdings Ltd.
Methode Electronics Malta Ltd.
Methode Electronics Malta Mriehel Limited
Methode Electronics Mediterranean Company Ltd.
Methode Electronics Middle East, S.A.L.
Methode Electronics (Shanghai) Co. Ltd.
Methode Electronics U.K. Ltd.
Methode Mexico, S.A. de C.V.
Methode Surface Treatment (Zhenjiang), Co., Ltd.
Pacific Insight Electronics Corp.
Pacific Insight Electronics USA Corp.
Pacific Insight Mexico S.A. de C.V.
Procoplast S.A.
Proco-Immo S.A.
Samaya Electronics Egypt, Ltd.
TouchSensor Technologies, L.L.C.
Translec Limited
Universal Resources de Mexico, S.A. de C.V.

Jurisdiction of Incorporation
Delaware
Delaware
Mexico
Michigan
United Kingdom
Delaware
Belgium
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Netherlands
Hong Kong
Canada
China
China
United Kingdom
Delaware
Italy
Delaware
Switzerland
Delaware
Mexico
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Malta
Singapore
Singapore
India
Germany
Malta
Malta
Malta
Malta
Lebanon
China
United Kingdom
Mexico
China
Canada
Michigan
Mexico
Belgium
Belgium
Egypt
Delaware
United Kingdom
Mexico

(1)

All subsidiaries are 100% owned, except Hetronic Midwest which is 40% owned and Alsentis LLC which is 11.5% owned.
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Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-200846) pertaining to the Methode Electronics, Inc. 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan,
Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-170959) pertaining to the Methode Electronics, Inc. 2010 Stock Plan,
Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-146709) pertaining to the Methode Electronics, Inc. 2007 Stock Plan,
Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-121090) pertaining to the Methode Electronics, Inc. 2004 Stock Plan,
Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-48356) pertaining to the Methode Electronics, Inc. 401(k) Savings Plan,

of our reports dated June 30, 2020, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and schedule of Methode Electronics, Inc. and subsidiaries and the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Methode Electronics, Inc. and subsidiaries included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of Methode
Electronics, Inc. for the year ended May 2, 2020.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Chicago, Illinois
June 30, 2020

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Donald W. Duda, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Methode Electronics, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: June 30, 2020

By:

/s/ Donald W. Duda
Donald W. Duda
Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, Ronald L.G. Tsoumas, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Methode Electronics, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: June 30, 2020

By:

/s/ Ronald L.G. Tsoumas
Ronald L. G. Tsoumas
Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of Methode Electronics, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ending May 2, 2020 as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), each of the undersigned officers of the Company certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company.

Date:

June 30, 2020

By:

/s/ Donald W. Duda
Donald W. Duda
Chief Executive Officer

Date:

June 30, 2020

By:

/s/ Ronald L.G. Tsoumas
Ronald L. G. Tsoumas
Chief Financial Officer

